
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Community & Children's Services Committee 

 
Date: MONDAY, 10 NOVEMBER 2025 

Time: 1.45 pm 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOMS, WEST WING, GUILDHALL 

Members: Deputy Helen Fentimen OBE JP 
(Chair) 
Steve Goodman OBE (Deputy 
Chair) 
Joanna Tufuo Abeyie 
Munsur Ali 
Matthew Bell 
Leyla Boulton 
Simon Burrows 
Lesley Cole 
Deputy Anne Corbett 
Aaron Anthony Jose Hasan D'Sou
za 
Deputy John Fletcher 
Dawn Frampton 
Sarah Gillinson 
Deputy Christopher Hayward 
Amy Horscroft 
Sandra Jenner 
Shravan Joshi MBE 

Laura Jørgensen 
Helen Ladele 
Alderman Tim Levene 
Charles Edward Lord, OBE JP 
Alderman Christopher Makin 
Sophia Mooney 
Leyla Ostovar 
Jason Pritchard 
Deputy Nighat Qureishi 
Beverley Ryan 
Sushil Saluja 
Stuart Thompson 
Deputy James Thomson CBE 
Mark Wheatley 
Deputy Ceri Wilkins 
David Williams 
Philip Woodhouse 
 

 

Enquiries: Kate Doidge 
Kate.Doidge@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 

Accessing the virtual public meeting 
Members of the public can observe all virtual public meetings of the City of London 

Corporation by following the below link: 
https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams  

A recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of 
the public meeting for up to one civic year. Please note: Online meeting recordings do not 
constitute the formal minutes of the meeting; minutes are written and are available on the 
City of London Corporation’s website. Recordings may be edited, at the discretion of the 
proper officer, to remove any inappropriate material. 
Whilst we endeavour to livestream all of our public meetings, this is not always possible 
due to technical difficulties. In these instances, if possible, a recording will be uploaded 
following the end of the meeting. 

Ian Thomas CBE 
Town Clerk and Chief Executive 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams


2 
 

 



3 
 

AGENDA 
 

NB: Certain items presented for information have been marked * and will be taken without 
discussion, unless the Committee Clerk has been informed that a Member has questions 
or comments prior to the start of the meeting. These for information items have been 
collated into a supplementary agenda pack and have been circulated separately. 
 

Part 1 - Public Reports 
 
1. APOLOGIES 

 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 

 
 

3. MINUTES 
 

 To agree the public minutes and non-public summary of the previous meeting held on 
17th September 2025. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 7 - 16) 

 
4. PUBLIC OUTSTANDING ACTIONS 
 

 Members are asked to note the outstanding actions report.  
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 17 - 18) 

 
5. YORK WAY ESTATE LIFT, LIFT LOBBY AND STAIRWELL REFURBISHMENT 

AND UPGRADE WORKS 
 

 Report of the Executive Director of Community and Children’s Services. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 19 - 32) 

 
6. CORPORATE PARENTING STRATEGY 2025-2028 
 

 Report of the Executive Director of Community and Children’s Services.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 33 - 60) 

 
7. ALLOCATED MEMBERS TO THE VARIOUS HOUSING ESTATES 
 

 Report of the Town Clerk. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 61 - 64) 

 



4 
 

8. GOLDEN LANE LEISURE CENTRE - UPDATE 
 

 Report of the Executive Director of Community and Children’s Services.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 65 - 72) 

 
9. CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP (CHSCP) 

ANNUAL REPORT 2024-2025 
 

 Report of the City & Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership Board.  
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 73 - 234) 

 
10. *STRONGER COMMUNITIES FUND - ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 AND ANALYSIS 

OF FUND'S IMPACT OVER THE LAST FIVE YEARS 
 

 Report of the Interim Managing Director, City Bridge Foundation.  
 

 For Information 
  

 
11. UPDATES FROM SUB COMMITTEES, ALLOCATED MEMBERS AND PORTFOLIO 

HOLDERS 
For Information 

 
 

12. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 
 
 

13. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
 
 

14. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 MOTION - That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of 
Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 

 For Decision 
  

 
Part 2 - Non-Public Reports 

 
15. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
 

 To agree the non-public minutes of the previous meeting held on 17th September 
2025.  

 For Decision 
 (Pages 235 - 238) 

 



5 
 

16. NON-PUBLIC OUTSTANDING ACTIONS 
 

 Members are asked to note the outstanding actions report.  
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 239 - 242) 

 
17. GOLDEN LANE INVESTMENT PROGRAMME (PHASE 1: CRESCENT HOUSE) 
 

 Report of the Executive Director of Community and Children’s Services.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 243 - 300) 

 
18. GOLDEN LANE INVESTMENT PROGRAMME (PHASE 2: ALL BLOCKS 

EXCLUDING CRESCENT HOUSE AND GREAT ARTHUR HOUSE) 
 

 Report of the Executive Director of Community and Children’s Services.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 301 - 318) 

 
19. GREAT ARTHUR HOUSE FIRE SAFETY AND INVESTMENT WORKS 
 

 Report of the Executive Director of Community and Children’s Services.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 319 - 334) 

 
20. GEORGE ELLISTON AND ERIC WILKINS HOUSES REFURBISHMENT 
 

 Report of the Executive Director of Community and Children’s Services.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 335 - 340) 

 
21. INVESTMENT IN SOCIAL HOUSING STOCK 
 

 Joint report of the Chamberlain and Executive Director of Community and Children’s 
Services.  
 

 For Discussion 
 (To Follow) 

 
22. *REPORT OF ACTIONS TAKEN 
 

 Report of the Town Clerk.  
 

 For Information 
  

 
 
 



6 
 

23. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 
 
 

24. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 
 



COMMUNITY & CHILDREN'S SERVICES COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday, 17 September 2025  
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Community & Children's Services Committee held at 
Committee Rooms, West Wing, Guildhall on Wednesday, 17 September 2025 at 

2.00 pm 
 

Present 
 
Members: 
Deputy Helen Fentimen OBE JP (Chair) 
Matthew Bell 
Deputy John Fletcher 
Philip Woodhouse 
Deputy Ceri Wilkins 
Deputy Anne Corbett 
Alderman Christopher Makin 
Deputy Nighat Qureishi 
Beverley Ryan 
Dawn Frampton 
David Williams 
Jason Pritchard 
  
Observing Virtually:  
Joanna Abeyie 
Sophia Mooney 

Lesley Cole 
Leyla Ostovar 
Helen Ladele 
Leyla Boulton 
Sushil Saluja 
Stuart Thompson 
Sarah Gillinson 
Mark Wheatley 
Amy Horscroft 
Charles Edward Lord, OBE JP 
Simon Burrows 
 

 
Officers: 
Judith Finlay - Executive Director, Community and Children's 

Services 
Beverley Andrews 
Sam Bedford 
Peta Caine 
Helen Chantry 
Simon Cribbens 

- Community & Children’s Services Department 
- Community & Children’s Services Department 
- Community & Children’s Services Department 
- Community & Children’s Services Department 
- Community & Children's Services Department 

Hannah Dobbin 
Liam Gillespie 

- Community & Children’s Services Department 
- Community & Children's Services Department 

Will Norman - Community & Children's Services Department  

Chris Pelham - Community & Children's Services Department  

Rachel Talmage 
Gregory Wade 

- Community & Children’s Services Department 
- Community & Children's Services Department 

Mark Jarvis - Chamberlain's Department 

Frank Marchione - Comptroller & City Solicitor's Department 

Sheena Etches 
Jack Joslin 

- Central Funding and Charity Management 
Team 

- Central Funding and Charity Management 
Team 

Kate Doidge - Town Clerk's Department 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



1. APOLOGIES  
Apologies for absence were received from Joanna Abeyie, Munsur Ali, Steve 
Goodman, Deputy Christopher Hayward, Sandra Jenner, Alderman Tim 
Levene, Sophia Mooney, and Deputy James Thomson.  
 
Sophia Mooney and Joanna Abeyie observed the meeting online.  
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
There were no declarations. 
 

3. MINUTES  
The Committee received the public minutes and non-public summary of the 
previous meeting, held on 19th June 2025.  
 
It was noted that Deputy John Fletcher had declared an interest as a resident of 
Mansell Street, not Golden Lane Estate.  
 
A Member raised three suggestions to the accuracy of the minutes, as follows:  
 

• To amend “… During the discussion, Members raised concerns about 
the accuracy of the data (provided by the headteacher on 19/06/25) 
regarding the number of City children benefiting from the subsidy.” to:  

 
“During this discussion, it was necessary for figures cited by a Member 
to be corrected, and these were certified as accurate by the Director of 
Community and Children’s Services.”  

 

• To amend “…working collaboratively with TAS to secure its future” to: 
 
“…working collaboratively with TAS, with the aim of providing a 
sustainable funding model for childcare going forward.” 

 

• To amend “Approve that the £174,000…” to:  
 
“Approve that up to £174,000…” 

 
All the suggested amendments described above were agreed by the 
Committee.  
 
RESOLVED:- That the public minutes and non-public summary of the previous 
meeting be agreed, as amended.  
 

4. *PUBLIC OUTSTANDING ACTIONS  
The Committee received the public outstanding actions report.  
 
In relation to no. 4 (Golden Lane Leisure Centre Management Options), the 
Committee heard that officers were working towards an open market tender. 
They were working with specialists to refine the specifications, and would return 
to the Committee with design options report, and then a fully costed options 

Page 8



report, to future meetings. A communications consultation had been 
commissioned to lead on resident engagement – the estimated value of this 
contract was £561,300 over 10 years. The contract with Fusions Lifestyle had 
been extended to 31 March 2026 with provision – if needed and accepted by 
the provider – for a final extension until 31 December 2026. It would coincide 
with closure for works. The Leisure Centre would re-open with the successful 
operator.  
 
RESOLVED: - that the report be received, and its contents noted.  
 

5. RESIDENT INVOLVEMENT STRATEGY 2025-29  
The Committee received a report of the Executive Director of Community and 
Children’s Services, concerning the Resident Involvement Strategy 2025-29, 
that set out the approach to working with residents in the design, delivery, and 
scrutiny of housing services.  
 
Members raised that the Strategy should not only concern engagement with 
residents, but also learning and unlearning ways of working with residents. 
Officers accepted that there needed to be a cultural change with resident 
involvement, and it was expected by the regulator and residents. This was 
illustrated in the culture change objective of the Strategy, which included 
creating the Resident Voice group. The group had received ten applications, 
and whilst there was no specific quota of members per estate, officers assured 
that there was a good mix from across the estates.  
 
During the application process, the age of the respondents was not required to 
be provided, but officers were fully aware of need to involve those who were not 
digitally connected, such as the older population. Promotional material was 
posted through doors, and accommodations could be made for those without 
internet as part of the different ways of working with residents.   
 
It was queried whether the Strategy was for tenants and leaseholders of the 
City Corporation, or all residents living in the City. It was confirmed that the 
Strategy was for the former, and this would be made clear in communications.  
 
A Member requested clarification on the development of KPIs and a risk matrix. 
The response was that the current KPIs were limited and mostly related to 
activity in community centres. To demonstrate the outcomes of the Strategy, a 
comprehensive suite of KPIs would be developed and reported regularly to the 
relevant Committee. The housing performance dashboard already provided an 
overview of risks, which was reported to Members as and when required.  
 
RESOLVED: - That Members approve the draft Resident Involvement Strategy 
2025-29 for implementation by the Housing Service.  
 

6. BALTIC STREET WEST - DEVELOPMENT PROPOSAL  
The Committee received a report of the Executive Director of Community and 
Children’s Services, concerning a development proposal on Baltic Street West. 
 

Page 9



RESOLVED: - That the Community and Children's Services Committee 
formally reject the application to declare this parcel of land surplus for housing 
purposes.  
 

7. HOUSING SERVICES ASSET MANAGEMENT STRATEGY  
The Committee received a report of the Executive Director of Community and 
Children’s Services, concerning the City of London Corporation’s Housing 
Asset Management Strategy 2025 for approval. Following an introduction of the 
report, the Committee asked questions and made comments, as follows:  
 
The Committee heard that the stock condition survey would be undertaken by 
an external provider. There was a risk that investment priorities would shift 
once the stock condition survey data was available.  
 
Concerning the ambition for 700 new homes by 2026, the Committee heard 
that this included homes that were already under development, and there was 
an ambition for a further 500 by 2037. Most new homes would be located 
outside of the City of London on existing estates, and there were plans for 
additional homes in Southwark.  
 
Progress would be predominantly reported to the Housing Management and 
Almshouses Sub Committee and would include KPIs. Responding to a query 
on resources, officers said that the resource need had been identified, with 
some resource already in place for the preparatory work. It was likely that this 
would be scaled up for implementation, delivery, and management.  
 
A Member noted the figure on the Annual Repars & Maintenance Spend and 
queried whether this was based on previous spend and would be enough to 
meet needs. The response was that, comparatively, the spend was high for the 
organisation’s size and was indicative of a lack of investment and planned 
maintenance programmes and reflected a higher proportion of responsive 
repairs. There was a process of shifting to planned spend rather than 
responsive spend, and this figure was likely to not reduce until ways of working 
had been changed.  It was raised that a figure had been provided to Finance 
Committee for spend on maintenance across the City Corporation, and whether 
Annual Repairs & Maintenance Spend was reflected in that figure. Noting that 
the HRA was treated separately, it was agreed that this would be followed up 
with separately following the meeting.  
 
Following some questions, it was requested that officers provide a briefing on 
s106 for members of the Committee.  
 
RESOLVED: - That Members:  

• Approve the Housing Asset Management Strategy 2025 as the guiding 
framework for the management, maintenance and investment in the City of 
London’s housing stock.  

• Note the commitment to refresh the strategy in early 2026 following completion 
of the full stock condition survey programme.  

 

Page 10



8. NORTH EAST LONDON (NEL) ROUGH SLEEPING PREVENTION AND 
RECOVERY GRANT DELIVERY PROPOSAL  
The Committee received a report of the Executive Director of Community and 
Children’s Services, concerning approval for the City of London to act as the 
lead authority, commissioning body and administrator for the Rough Sleeping 
and Prevention and Recovery Grant on behalf of the North East London (NEL) 
sub-region.  
 
The Chairman drew the Committee’s attention to the total number of rough 
sleepers in the report, particular the increase in numbers, and the pressures 
this brought on the service, commenting that it was a growing issue.  
 
Following a query, it was clarified that the City Corporation would not be 
accountable for performance in other boroughs, as it was responsible for the 
administration rather than the delivery. The proposed governance 
arrangements were that the individual boroughs would report back to Central 
Government.  
 
RESOLVED: - That Members of the Community and Children’s Services 
Committee note the report and endorse the proposal for consideration and 
approval by the Policy & Resources Committee.  
 

9. *FAMILIES IN THE CITY UPDATE  
The Committee received a report of the Executive Director of Community and 
Children’s Services, concerning an update on the Families in the City 
programme.  
 
A Member questioned whether the location of the Best Start Family Hub had 
yet been identified. Officers confirmed that they had a preferred location to 
develop as a family hub site, which was the Artisan Street Library. Satellite 
delivery sites across the City of London would continue to be used to 
accommodate activities. 
 
It was raised that other methods of communications should be used for families 
providing information on the programme, other than WhatsApp messages, 
including receiving a physical information pack. The Committee heard that 
physical signs were used to signpost activities, information circulated via 
Members and newsletters, and flyers handed out in estates but were happy to 
receive feedback on ways to improve. Providing information packs would have 
to be reviewed in light of the cost of printing and posting and whether it was an 
affordable option.  
 
Families not receiving information on the programme highlighted a 
communications issue that linked to families not being able to access services, 
and this needed to be improved. A Member commented that the service 
needed more information for it to be useful, such as location, timings, and 
making the information accessible, for instance, for those who were colour 
blind.  
 

Page 11



Following a query, it was confirmed that traffic on the Best Start Family Hub 
webpage was being monitored and had seen an increase. The online offer 
would be reviewed, including refining the information provided and how 
services available would be communicated to families.  
 
RESOLVED: - That the report be received, and its contents noted.  
 

10. *COMMUNITY AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES (NON-HOUSING) REVENUE 
OUTTURN FORECAST AS AT QUARTER 1 2025-26  
The Committee received a joint report of the Executive Director of Community 
and Children’s Services Committee and the Chamberlain, concerning the 
Quarter 1 estimated outturn for the Committee budget (excluding the ring-
fenced Housing Revenue Account (HRA)) for the 2025/26 financial year.  
 
RESOLVED: - That the report be received and its contents noted.  
 

11. *BARBICAN AND COMMUNITY LIBRARIES BUILDING PROJECTS 
UPDATE  
The Committee received a report of the Executive Director of Community and 
Children’s Services Committee, concerning an update on the current Barbican 
and Community Libraries projects.  
 
RESOLVED: - That the report be received, and its contents noted.  
 

12. *RISK REGISTER  
The Committee received a report of the Executive Director of Community and 
Children’s Services, concerning the department’s current risk register and the 
actions taken in mitigation to reduce those risks. 
 
During the discussion, Members of the Committee made several 
recommendations in relation to the risk register. These included providing dates 
when the risks were first recorded; providing the relevant departmental leader 
against the risks; and risks grouped by theme rather than listed in order of 
rating. Officers noted these recommendations and advised that these would be 
taken away for further consideration. Members further commented that training 
on how to interpret the risk register would be appreciated. Officers would 
discuss this request with Governance and Member Services, but in the 
meantime it was agreed that a link to the Risk Management Policy would be 
linked in the minutes of the meeting: Risk Management at the City of London 
Corporation 
 
Members also heard that the department’s risk management had been 
reviewed and had been subject to an internal audit. This had resulted in new 
processes and protocols in relation to risk management, including training, and 
internal audit had indicated that the department had been fully compliant with 
their recommendations. The risk register was thus being reviewed and would 
take into consideration the recommendations made by Members, as described 
above.  
 

Page 12

https://corpoflondon.sharepoint.com/sites/Intranet/SitePages/internal-audit-risk-management.aspx?xsdata=MDV8MDJ8S2F0ZS5Eb2lkZ2VAY2l0eW9mbG9uZG9uLmdvdi51a3w1NTQxZmE4MjYyMWI0MWVmMGMyMzA4ZGRmNjk3ZDg5MXw5ZmU2NThjZGIzY2Q0MDU2ODUxOTMyMjJmZmE5NmJlOHwwfDB8NjM4OTM3ODU0MjA0OTM0NTc3fFVua25vd258VFdGcGJHWnNiM2Q4ZXlKRmJYQjBlVTFoY0draU9uUnlkV1VzSWxZaU9pSXdMakF1TURBd01DSXNJbEFpT2lKWGFXNHpNaUlzSWtGT0lqb2lUV0ZwYkNJc0lsZFVJam95ZlE9PXwwfHx8&sdata=bElMaTFKMWlNRzZoWk9lM05laWp6dzVsalFDTFZrVHJaRUpRWG8wRGp0RT0%3d#our-risk-management-policy
https://corpoflondon.sharepoint.com/sites/Intranet/SitePages/internal-audit-risk-management.aspx?xsdata=MDV8MDJ8S2F0ZS5Eb2lkZ2VAY2l0eW9mbG9uZG9uLmdvdi51a3w1NTQxZmE4MjYyMWI0MWVmMGMyMzA4ZGRmNjk3ZDg5MXw5ZmU2NThjZGIzY2Q0MDU2ODUxOTMyMjJmZmE5NmJlOHwwfDB8NjM4OTM3ODU0MjA0OTM0NTc3fFVua25vd258VFdGcGJHWnNiM2Q4ZXlKRmJYQjBlVTFoY0draU9uUnlkV1VzSWxZaU9pSXdMakF1TURBd01DSXNJbEFpT2lKWGFXNHpNaUlzSWtGT0lqb2lUV0ZwYkNJc0lsZFVJam95ZlE9PXwwfHx8&sdata=bElMaTFKMWlNRzZoWk9lM05laWp6dzVsalFDTFZrVHJaRUpRWG8wRGp0RT0%3d#our-risk-management-policy


A Member requested a current position statement in relation to Blake Tower. 
The Committee heard that an improvement notice had been issued by the City 
Corporation for Blake Tower. There were regular meetings to assist with 
achieving the aims of the improvement notice and respond to resident 
concerns. These reports were received at the Barbican Residential Committee.  
 
Following a query, the Committee heard that officers were working with the 
Housing Management Team to reflect the full range of risks in relation to the 
HRA.  
 
RESOLVED: - That the report be received, and its contents noted. 
 

13. UPDATES FROM SUB COMMITTEES, ALLOCATED MEMBERS AND 
PORTFOLIO HOLDERS  
The Committee received an update from the Allocated Member for Middlesex 
Street, which highlighted snagging issues that affected the perceived quality of 
the estate, following a walkabout of the estate with residents. This had been 
reported to officers and action had been taken. The Member suggested that a 
report be received to a meeting of the Housing Management and Almshouses 
Sub-Committee (HMASC) on actions taken on improving the performance of 
Property Services and providing an explanation on how it operated. They also 
encouraged Allocated Members to look at the photographs they had shared 
and partake in walkabouts on estates with residents. Following the update, the 
Chairman echoed Members frustrations with repairs and maintenance on the 
estates.  
 
Officers responded that they were working on identified outstanding repairs and 
maintenance in batches. An action list had been produced and was monitored 
by the resident services officer for the repairs and maintenance identified in 
Middlesex Street. It was agreed that a report on Property Services would be 
received at a meeting of HMASC, providing assurance that the issues that 
Members had raised were on the Department’s agenda.  
 
A Member queried who was responsible for reviewing and signing off repairs 
and maintenance. The response was that this was a combination of external 
and internal staff. It was acknowledged that contract management was below 
expectations, and specialists were being engaged who had experience, such 
as in compliance, with managing contracts to share, educate, and bring 
confidence to staff to better hold contractors to account. Members commented 
that whilst this was good progress, residents needed visibility of staff, as not 
having staff ‘on the ground’ combined with slow progress of repairs and 
maintenance sent an unintended message of a lack of care.  Following this, the 
Committee heard that a request had been made for frontline staff to bring in 
more resources to have the tools to work better and more efficiently.  
 
It was asked how the service worked with City Surveyors, especially with the 
sharing of how to work with contractors. Officers said that there were strong 
relations with City Surveyors, and this would continue for contract management 
and monitoring.  
 

Page 13



The Committee then heard an update from the Chairman of the Homelessness 
and Rough Sleeping Sub-Committee. As noted earlier in the meeting, the 
numbers of rough sleepers had increased and there were anecdotes of 
increases in anti-social behaviour, and a promise from the Chairman of Policy & 
Resources to host an event in Guildhall on homelessness. The Committee also 
discussed the recent resolution from the Committee to the Finance Committee 
on homelessness and also heard the response from Finance Committee.  
 

14. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE  
A Member asked a question on the current impact of the new Building Safety 
Regulations on the Housing Revenue Projects. The response heard was that 
this required the appointment of specialist architects and project team members 
with qualifications in building safety. It also could mean more difficulty in the 
tendering process, as they could be some resistance for projects with higher 
risk buildings. Lastly, it would also require some buildings being registered with 
the building safety regulator, which could add to the length of the project. 
Further information would be supplied separately.  
 

15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
The Chairman wished to acknowledge the enquiries received and frustrations 
expressed in relation to Black Raven Court. There was a likelihood of deferral 
due to sign-off from building control. Representations had been made, and 
were awaiting a response.   
 

16. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED: - That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on 
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 

17. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES  
RESOLVED: - That the non-public minutes of the previous meeting, held on 
19th June 2025, be approved as an accurate record.  
 

18. *NON-PUBLIC OUTSTANDING ACTIONS  
The Committee received the non-public outstanding actions report.  
 
RESOLVED: - That the report be received, and its contents noted.   
 

19. NON PUBLIC APPENDIX  
The Committee received the non-public appendix that was read in conjunction 
with Agenda Item 8.  
 

20. RISK REPORT FOR THE CITY OF LONDON CORPORATION COMBINED 
RELIEF OF POVERTY CHARITY (CHARITY REGISTRATION NUMBER 
1073660)  
The Committee received a report of the Acting Managing Director, City Bridge 
Foundation, concerning the risk report for the City of London Corporation 
Combined Relief of Poverty Charity (Charity Registration Number 1073660).  

Page 14



 
21. MANAGEMENT UPDATE FOR THE CITY OF LONDON COMBINED RELIEF 

OF POVERTY CHARITY (CHARITY NUMBER 1073660)  
The Committee received a report of the Acting Managing Director, City Bridge 
Foundation, concerning a management update in relation to The City of London 
Combined Relief of Poverty Charity (Charity Registration Number 1073660).  
 

22. *FINANCE UPDATE AND DRAFT ACCOUNTS FOR CITY OF LONDON 
COMBINED RELIEF OF POVERTY (CHARITY REGISTRATION NUMBER 
1073660)  
The Committee received a report of the City Bridge Foundation Finance 
Director (representing the Chamberlain), concerning a finance update and draft 
accounts for the City of London Corporation Combined Relief of Poverty Charity 
(Charity Registration Number 1073660).  
 

23. *REPORT OF ACTION TAKEN  
The Committee received a report of the Town Clerk, concerning details of 
decisions taken under urgency between Committee meetings.  
 

24. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE  
One non-public question was raised.  
 

25. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There were no non-public items of urgent business. 
 

 
 
The meeting ended at 3.48 pm 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Kate Doidge 
Kate.Doidge@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



PUBLIC OUTSTANDING ACTIONS – COMMUNITY AND CHILDREN’S SERVICES COMMITTEE (CCS) – October 2025 Update  

 
 

No  
 
 

 
 

Committee 
Date Raised 

 
 

Initial Request and Pending Actions 

 
 

Responsibility  

 
 

Due Date Progress Update  

1 25/01/2024 City and Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership 
(CHSCP) Annual report: The legislative change would be 
presented to members for decision. The chair requested 
a member briefing ahead of the committee meeting 
which takes decision in this matter.  

Director of 
People  

November 
2025 

The CHSCP Annual Report has been taken to 
Safeguarding Sub Committee in October and will 
be brought for information to November C&CS 
Committee.   
 

2 01/05/2024 Stronger Communities Annual Report The next report 
would provide more information in terms and conditions 
of grant approvals.  The Resource Allocation Sub 
Committee (RASC) received a report on CIL funding in 
other boroughs some years ago and the officer agreed 
that this work could be refreshed.   

Head of Central 
Funding and 
Charity 
Management  

November 
2025  

This will be brought to Novembers C&CS 
Committee.  
 

3 19/06/2025 Corporation Childcare Policy and Family Service 
Arrangements: Refer the remainder of the policy back to 
Officers to thoroughly reflect the requests from this 
committee as to alternatives - (for example meeting the 
broad policy objectives set out by a differential pricing 
model in affordable childcare at the Aldgate School) 
 
Seek the presentation at a future meeting of this 
committee of alternatives in the childcare policy which 
allow members to vote transparently on the future 
support for, or withdrawal of funding for affordable 
childcare to the Aldgate School. 
 

Strategic 
Education and 
Skills Director  

June 2026 Corporation Childcare Policy and Family Service 
Arrangements: Policy approved by Members on 
19/06/25.  City subsidy of 0-2 childcare extended 
to The Aldgate School until 31/08/27.  Meetings to 
discuss sustainable financial framework and 
impact of DfE extended childcare offer from 
01/09/25 in place between Head Teacher and 
Education Director.  Update on progress to DCCS 
committee in June 2026.   

4 19/06/2025 11. Golden Lane Leisure Centre Management Options: The 
Committee endorsed the proposed approach to 
outsourcing the management of the centre, including the 

Director of 
Commissioning 
and Partnerships  

November 
2025  

A report will be presented in Novembers DCCS 
Committee.  

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 4



PUBLIC OUTSTANDING ACTIONS – COMMUNITY AND CHILDREN’S SERVICES COMMITTEE (CCS) – October 2025 Update  

option for a hybrid or internal bid to be evaluated 
alongside external tenders. 
 

5 17/09/25 Housing Services Asset Management Strategy: To 
refresh the strategy in early 2026 following completion 
of the full stock condition survey programme.  

12.  

Director of 
Housing  

Quarter 1 
2026/2027  

Once the stock condition is complete (estimated 
completion is Qtr. 4 2025/2026) we will need to 
analyse the data received and consider what 
impact it will have on the asset management 
strategy. In addition, we will also need to assess 
the results of the EPC survey and changes 
indicated by the updated Decent Homes Standard. 

6 17/09/25 Risk Register: It was asked if the following could be 
included when reporting on the risk register:  
providing dates when the risks were first recorded; 
providing the relevant departmental leader against the 
risks; and risks grouped by theme rather than listed in 
order of rating. 

Business Support 
Managers  

December 
2025 

This has been noted for the next iteration of the 
risk register report which will be presented to 
committee in December 2025.  

 

P
age 18



 
 

v.April 2019 

 

Committees: 
Corporate Projects Board - for decision 
Community & Children’s Services Committee - for decision 
 
Projects and Procurement Sub-Committee - for information 

Dates: 

08 October 2025 
10 November 
2025 
18 November 
2025 

Subject: 
York Way Estate Lift, Lift Lobby and Stairwell Refurbishment 
and Upgrade Works 
 
Unique Project Identifier: 

PV ID confirmed post CPB via PMO. 

Gateway 2: 
Project Proposal 
Regular 

Report of: 
Director of Community & Children's Services 

For Decision 

Report Author:  
Neil Clutterbuck, Project Manager 

PUBLIC 
 
 
Recommendations 
 

1. Next steps and 
requested 
decisions   

Project Description: Refurbishment and upgrade of lifts, all lift 
lobbies and stairwells within Kinefold, Penfields and Lambfold 
Houses on the York Way Estate.  

Next Gateway: Gateway 3/4 - Options Appraisal (Regular)  

Next Steps: Undertake a procurement exercise to engage 
consultants to assist in the development of the project 
specification and overseeing CDM 2015(Construction Design & 
Management) and Principal Designer duties. 

Requested Decisions:  

1. That budget of £60,000 is approved for 
consultant fees to reach the next Gateway. 
2. Not the project budget of £60,000(excluding risk) 
3.Note the total estimated cost of the project at 
£3,000,000 (excluding risk);  
4.That a Costed Risk Provision of £0 is approved (to 
be drawn down via delegation to Chief Officer).  

2. Resource 
requirements to 
reach next 
Gateway 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



 
 

v.April 2019 

Item Reason Funds/ 
Source of 
Funding 

 Cost (£) 

Staff Costs Internal Project 
Management 

HRA 
Capital 

10,000 

Consultants 
Fees 

Specialist Lift 
Consultancy, 
CDM, HRB 
applications. 

HRA 
Capital 

50,000 

Total   60,000 

  
Costed Risk Provision requested for this Gateway: £0 (as 
detailed in the Risk Register – Appendix 2) 

3. Governance 
arrangements 

• Community and Children’s Services 

• Peta Caine, Assistant Director Housing Services  

• Housing Programme Board 

 
Project Summary 
 

4. Context 1.The six residential lifts that service Penfields, Kinefold and 
Lambfold Houses on the York Way Estate have exceeded their 
recommended life span and require upgrading and 
refurbishment. All lift lobbies within the three blocks are in a 
poor state of repair and require refurbishment and the 
stairwells require decorating to bring them up to the expected 
standard. 

2. The existing lifts suffer regular breakdowns and require 
refurbishment and upgrading and brought to a modern 
standard. The tiles in the lift lobbies are stained, broken and 
falling off and need replacing. All the recent heating upgrade 
works, and new development has left the stairwells looking 
tired and in urgent need of redecoration.  

3. A holistic approach to the refurbishment and upgrade work is 
required looked at bring the buildings to above the compliancy 
standard.  

5. Brief description 
of project  

1.Employ specialist lift consultant to assess and obtain a full list 
of costed options for carrying out all necessary, and desired 
refurbishment work and a consultant to undertake Principal 
Designer (Building Regulations) duties which include the 
submission of a High-Risk Building (HRB) application.  

2.Draw up works specifications, carry out procurement 
exercises and have the works undertaken.  

Page 20



 
 

v.April 2019 

6. Consequences if 
project not 
approved 

1.The identified areas of the buildings need stair and lighting 
repairs as matters of urgency and need to be undertaken as 
soon as possible. 

2.The City’s assets would continue to degrade over time and 
would require more extensive and expensive works to address 
this.  

7. SMART project 
objectives 

The complete refurbishment of the communal areas to achieve 
and surpass compliancy. 
All areas are refurbished to the high standards required, 
including new, modern lifts. 
Works are managed to minimise disruption to residents and 
impact on the general public and wider public realm. 
Resident satisfaction above City’s corporate targets. 

8. Key benefits Greatly improve the conditions for the existing residents, 
Leaseholders and Tenants bringing the areas in line with the 
new development and reduce the chance of any health and 
safety issues and reduce lift outages.  

Extend the life expectancy of our assets.  

Bring all lifts to a modern standard. 

9. Project category 7a. Asset enhancement/improvement (capital) 

10. Project priority A. Essential 

11. Notable 
exclusions 

Shepherd House ion the York Way Estate is not served by 
residential lifts and is excluded from the project.  

 
 
Options Appraisal 
 

12. Overview of 
options 

1.Total refurbishment of the lifts and lift lobbies, and 
redecoration of the stairwells. 
2.Essential repairs and re-tile the lift lobbies. 
3.Essential Repairs only.  

 
Project Planning 
 

13. Delivery period 
and key dates 

Overall project:  

Appoint Consultants: November 2025 
Options Appraisal:  April 2026 
Tender: Summer 2026 
Appoint Contactor: Autumn 2026 
Start works: Spring 2027 

Key dates: Gateway 3/4 April 2026  

Other works dates to coordinate: None 

14. Risk implications Overall project risk: Medium 

Page 21



 
 

v.April 2019 

A High-Risk Building application is required but cannot be 
submitted until the contractor and all sub-contractors are in 
place, due to in-depth information required. This will almost 
definitely cause a delay.  
Works may be more expensive than anticipated.  

15. Stakeholders and 
consultees 

1.Members (via committee)  
2.Estate staff and DCCS officers  
3.Residents  
4.Other City Staff (Corporate Energy Team, Chamberlains, 
Town Clerks, Building Control, City Procurement)  

 

Resource Implications 
 

16. Total estimated 
cost  

Likely cost range (excluding risk): £2,500,000 to £3,000,000 

Likely cost range (including risk): £2,500,000 to £3,200,000 

17. Funding strategy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Choose 1: 

All funding fully guaranteed 

Choose 1: 

Mixture - some internal and 
some external funding 

Funds/Sources of Funding 
Cost (£) 

HRA Capital 
2,360,000 

Long leaseholder contributions  
640,000 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Total 
3,000,000 

These works form part of the overall £205m HRA major works 
programme. The total funding of the programme (including 
optimism bias) is subject to agreement of the Court of 
Commom Council. However initial projects in the programme 
such as the York Way Lifts refurbishment are affordable within 
the projections of internal borrowing capacity of the HRA of up 
to £35m. 

18. Investment 
appraisal 

The condition of the blocks will continue to worsen if essential 
repairs are not done as a project, necessitating increased 
response repairs.  
Whist undertaking repairs it makes good business sense to 
assess what other works can be done at the same time and try 
to access external funding for these.  

19. Procurement 
strategy/route to 
market 

An open market tender to be undertaken by City of London 
Procurement department. 

 

Page 22



 
 

v.April 2019 

20. Legal 
implications 

Long leaseholders will need to be consulted about the costs of 
the works.  

21. Corporate 
property 
implications 

None 

22. Traffic 
implications 

When works are on site, the contractor will liaise with estate 
and market staff at a local level to ensure proper traffic 
management.  

23. Sustainability and 
energy 
implications 

Discussions with the Energy team are ongoing to determine if 
the limited energy saving elements of the project can have their 
costs funded by CAS. 

24. IS implications None 

25. Equality Impact 
Assessment 

A test of relevance will be carried out to assess if an equality 
impact assessment is necessary.  

26. Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment 

The risk to personal data is less than high or non-applicable 
and a data protection impact assessment will not be 
undertaken.  

 
 
Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 Project Briefing 

Appendix 2 Risk Register 

 
Contact 
 

Report Author Neil Clutterbuck 

Email Address Neil.clutterbuck1@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Telephone Number 07712234438  

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



APPENDIX 1 

v.09 

Project Briefing 

 

Project identifier 

[1a] Unique Project 
Identifier 

TBC [1b] Departmental 
Reference Number 

TBC 

[2] Core Project Name York Way Estate Lift, Lift Lobby and Staircase Refurbishment  

[3] Programme Affiliation 
(if applicable) 

N/A 

 

Ownership 

[4] Chief Officer has signed 
off on this document 

Judith Finlay, Executive Director of Community and Children’s 
Services 
Signed-off via an email: XXXXXX 

[5] Senior Responsible 
Officer 

Peta Caine: Assistant Director for Housing  

 

[6] Project Manager Neil Clutterbuck, Project Manager, Major Works, DCCS 
 
 

 

Description and purpose 

[7] Project Mission statement / Elevator pitch 

This project proposes a programme of works to refurbish all lifts, lift lobbies and communal staircases 
in Kinefold, Penfields and Lambfold Houses on the York Way Estate. There are six lifts in total, two 
serving each block. It is intended to procure a contractor that will deliver the project to the high 
standards required and ensure resident satisfaction. 

[8] Definition of Need: What is the problem we are trying to solve or opportunity we are trying to 
realise (i.e. the reasons why we should make a change)? 

All lifts require extensive refurbishment, with the replacement of all major components and extensive 
builders works to replace the entrances, to comply with the latest fire regulations. Each block has a 
designated firefighting lift which complied with the regulations at the time of installation. These 
firefighting features should be fully updated in compliance with the latest regulations and standards. 
Additionally, a new facility will be required for the provision of a secondary supply for the firefighting 
lifts located in each block. This would be swiftly followed by the refurbishment of the lift lobbies and 
communal staircases as part of a holistic package of works undertaken by a single principal contractor. 
 

(9) What is the link to the City of London Corporate plan outcomes? 

[4] Communities are cohesive and have suitable housing and facilities. 
[9] Our spaces are secure, resilient and well-maintained. 
 

[10] What is the link to the departmental business plan objectives? 

Tenants and leaseholders live in well maintained and managed homes and estates. 

[11] Note all which apply: 

Officer:  
Project developed from 
Officer initiation 

Y Member:  
Project developed from 
Member initiation 

N Corporate:  
Project developed as a 
large scale Corporate 
initiative 

N 

Mandatory:  Y Sustainability:  
Essential for business 
continuity 

N Improvement:  N 

Page 25



APPENDIX 1 

v.09 

Compliance with 
legislation, policy and 
audit 

New opportunity/ idea 
that leads to 
improvement 

 

 

Project Benchmarking: 

[12] What are the top 3 measures of success which will indicate that the project has achieved 
its aims? 
 

1) York Way Estate block lifts, lift lobbies and communal staircases are refurbished to the high 
standards required. 
 

2) Works are managed to minimise disruption to residents and impact on the general public and wider 
public realm. 
 

3) Resident satisfaction above City’s corporate targets. 
 

[13] Will this project have any measurable legacy benefits/outcome that we will need to track 
after the end of the ‘delivery’ phase? If so, what are they and how will you track them? (E.g. 
cost savings, quality etc.) 

N/A 
 
 

[14] What is the expected delivery cost of this project (range values) [£]? 

Lower Range estimate: £2,500,000 
Upper Range estimate: £3,000,000 
 

[15] Total anticipated on-going revenue commitment post-delivery (lifecycle costs) [£]: 

N/A 

 
[16] What are the expected sources of funding for this project? 

Housing Revenue Account, plus Leaseholder recovery in terms of apportioned rechargeable costs. 
 

[17] What is the expected delivery timeframe for this project (range values)? 
Are there any deadlines which must be met (e.g. statutory obligations)? 

 

 

Project Impact: 

[18] Will this project generate public or media impact and response which the City of London 
will need to manage? Will this be a high-profile activity with public and media momentum?  

No 
 

[19] Who has been actively consulted to develop this project to this stage?  
<(Add additional internal or external stakeholders where required) > 

Project Board Housing Programme Board 

Chamberlains:  
Finance 

Officer Name: Mark Jarvis 

Chamberlains: 
Procurement 

 

IT Officer Name: N/A 

HR Officer Name: N/A 

Communications Officer Name: N/A 

Page 26



APPENDIX 1 

v.09 

Corporate Property Officer Name: N/A 

Estate Management Officer Name:  

Property Services Officer Name:  

[20] Is this project being delivered internally on behalf of another department? If not ignore this 
question. If so:  
 Please note the Client supplier departments. 
 Who will be the Officer responsible for the designing of the project? 
 If the supplier department will take over the day-to-day responsibility for the project, 
 when will this occur in its design and delivery? 

Client Department: N/A 

Supplier Department: N/A 

Supplier Department: N/A 

Project Design Manager Department: N/A 

Design/Delivery handover 
to Supplier 

Gateway stage: N/A 
 

 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28



City of London: Projects Procedure Corporate Risks Register

  PV

PM's overall risk rating Minor impact Serious impact Major impact Extreme impact

4 8 16 32

3 6 12 24

Red risks (open) 2 4 8 16

Amber risks (open) 1 2 4 8

Green risks (open)

Costed risks identified (All) 0% Costed risk as % of total estimated cost of project

Costed risk pre-mitigation (open) 0% "  "

Costed risk post-mitigation (open) 0% "  "

Costed Risk Provision requested 0% CRP as % of total estimated cost of project

Number of Open 

Risks

Avg 

Score

Costed impact Red Amber Green

3 8.7 £0.00 1 1 1

2 7.5 £0.00 0 1 1

0 0.0 £0.00 0 0 0

1 6.0 £0.00 0 1 0

0 0.0 £0.00 0 0 0

0 0.0 £0.00 0 0 0

0 0.0 £0.00 0 0 0

0 0.0 £0.00 0 0 0

0 0.0 £0.00 0 0 0

0 0.0 £0.00 0 0 0

Extreme Major Serious Minor

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

Total CRP used to date £0.00
Cost to resolve all issues 

(on completion)

0 All Issues

£0.00

All Issues

(8) Technology

1

4

2

£0.00

£0.00

£0.00

Project name:

Unique project identifier:

Medium

  £3000000

  York Way Estate Lift, Lift Lobby and Stairwell Refurbishment and Upgrade Works

Total est cost (exc risk)

Corporate Risk Matrix score table

Possible

Unlikely

Rare

Avg risk pre-mitigation

Avg risk post-mitigation

Likely7.6

6.1

Open Issues

£0.00

Issues (open)

(1) Compliance/Regulatory

(2) Financial 

(3) Reputation 

(4) Contractual/Partnership

(5) H&S/Wellbeing

(6) Safeguarding

0

(9) Environmental

(10) Physical

(7) Innovation

Page 29



City of London: Projects Procedure Corporate Risks Register

PM's overall 

risk rating: 
CRP requested 

this gateway

Open Risks
7

PV
Total CRP used to 

date

Closed Risks
0

Risk 

ID

Gateway Category Description of the Risk Risk Impact Description Likelihood 

Classificatio

n pre-

mitigation

Impact 

Classificatio

n pre-

mitigation

Risk 

score

Costed impact pre-

mitigation (£)

Costed Risk Provision 

requested 

Y/N

Confidence in the 

estimation

Mitigating actions Mitigation 

cost (£)

Likelihood 

Classificati

on post-

mitigation

Impact 

Classificat

ion post-

mitigation

Costed 

impact post-

mitigation (£)

Post-

Mitiga

tion 

risk 

score

CRP used 

to date

Use of CRP Date 

raised

Named 

Departmental 

Risk 

Manager/ 

Coordinator 

Risk owner   

(Named 

Officer or 

External Party)

Date 

Closed 

OR/ 

Realised & 

moved to 

Issues

Comment(s)

R1 2 (2) Financial 
Lack of interest from 

contractors at tender stage.

Limited tender returns may 

not be value for money.
Possible Minor 3 £0.00 N

Pre-tender contractor 

engagement. 
£0.00 Unlikely Minor £0.00 2 £0.00 22/08/2025 Greg Wade Neil Clutterbuck

R2 2 (2) Financial 

Contractors financial viability 

at a greater risk during times 

of economic uncertainty

Price inflation above 

estimates should be 

anticipated during current 

economic outlook

Possible Serious 6 £0.00 N None at present £0.00 Possible Serious £0.00 6 £0.00 22/08/2025 Greg Wade Neil Clutterbuck

R3 2
(1) Compliance/Re

gulatory

Delays in securing Building 

Regulations approval

Programme delayed by 

Building Control issues
Likely Serious 8 £0.00 N

Involve Building Control in 

the design process to 

ensure early sign off

£0.00 Likely Serious £0.00 8 £0.00 22/08/2025 Greg Wade Neil Clutterbuck

R4 2
(1) Compliance/Re

gulatory

Challenge to tender 

awarding process

An unsuccessful contractor 

may challenge the tender 

process.

Unlikely Minor 2 £0.00 N

A robust tendering process 

will be put in place in 

conjunction with the CLPS. 

Should a challenge arise, 

advice will be sought from 

CLPS and legal services to 

ensure the dispute is 

resolved rapidly and 

successfully.

£0.00 Rare Minor £0.00 1 £0.00 22/08/2025 Greg Wade Neil Clutterbuck

R5 2 (2) Financial 
Price inflation caused by 

external factors

Increasing cost of materials 

and labour passed on by 

contractors.

Possible Major 12 £0.00 N

Uplift in SRO prices agreed 

before contract award 

should see us through the 

contract period with a fair 

degree of cost surety.

£0.00 Possible Major £0.00 12 £0.00 22/08/2025 Greg Wade Neil Clutterbuck

R6 2
(1) Compliance/Re

gulatory
Building Safety Act

recent changes in regulations 

have led to the classification 

of the three buildings 

included in this project as 

HRB's. An application to the 

Buiding Safety regulator is 

required to progress the 

works which will impact on 

the dleivery programme

Likely Major 16 £0.00 N D – Very Uncomfortable

Include sufficient time 

within the procured 

programme to 

accommodate potential 

lengthy delay without any 

increase in price

£0.00 Likely Serious £0.00 8 £0.00 22/08/2025 Greg Wade Neil Clutterbuck

R7 2
(4) Contractual/Part

nership
Access to site

Any delays woth the 

ongoling development at 

York Way could prevent 

access to this site and 

significant delay.

Possible Serious 6 £0.00 N
No mitigating actions at this 

time.
£0.00 Possible Serious £0.00 6 £0.00 22/08/2025 Greg Wade Neil Clutterbuck

R8 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R9 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R10 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R11 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R12 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R13 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R14 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R15 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R16 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R17 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R18 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R19 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R20 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R21 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R22 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R23 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R24 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R25 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R26 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R27 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R28 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R29 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R30 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R31 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R32 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R33 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R34 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R35 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R36 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R37 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R38 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R39 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R40 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R41 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R42 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R43 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R44 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R45 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R46 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R47 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R48 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R49 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R50 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R51 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R52 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R53 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R54 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

-£                 

Ownership & ActionMitigation actions

Average 

unmitigated risk 

scoreAverage mitigated 

risk score

7.6

6.1

York Way Estate Lift, Lift Lobby and Stairwell Refurbishment and Upgrade WorksMedium

General risk classification

3,000,000£                                    

Project Name: 

Unique project identifier: 
Total estimated cost 

(exc risk):

P
age 30



R55 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R56 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R57 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R58 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R59 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R60 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R61 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R62 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R63 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R64 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R65 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R66 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R67 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R68 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R69 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R70 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R71 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R72 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R73 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R74 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R75 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R76 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R77 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R78 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R79 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R80 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R81 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R82 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R83 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R84 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R85 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R86 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R87 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R88 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R89 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R90 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R91 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R92 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R93 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R94 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R95 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R96 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R97 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R98 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R99 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

R100 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 32



City of London Corporation Committee Report 

Committee(s): 
Safeguarding and SEND Sub-Committee – For 
endorsement 
Community and Children’s Services Committee – For 
Decision 

Dated: 
13/10/2025 
 
10/11/2025 

Subject:  
Corporate Parenting Strategy 2025-2028 

Public report:  
For Decision 

This proposal: 

• delivers Corporate Plan 2024-29 outcomes 

• provides statutory duties 

• delivers Corporate Plan 
2024-29 outcomes: 
Diverse Engaged 
Communities, Providing 
Excellent Services  

• provides statutory duties 
under the Children Act 
1989 and Children and 
Social Work Act 2017 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

No 

If so, how much? N/A 

What is the source of Funding? N/A 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

N/A 

Report of:  
 

Judith Finlay, Executive 
Director of Community and 
Children's Services 

Report author:  
 

Zoe Dhami, Strategy and 
Project Officer 

Summary 

The City of London Corporation has statutory duties to act as a corporate parent for 
children in care and care leavers. The draft Corporate Parenting Strategy 2025–2028 
outlines our refreshed vision, values, strategic priorities, and approach to embedding 
corporate parenting responsibilities across all departments and services. 

This draft strategy has been shaped by feedback from care-experienced young 
people, performance data, Ofsted inspection learning, and internal governance 
processes. It has been reviewed by senior leadership and shared with a City of 
London Corporation care leaver for further consultation. A young person-friendly 
version has also been developed to support accessibility.  

 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



Recommendation 

Members are asked to: 
 

• Sign off the draft Corporate Parenting Strategy 2025-2028. 
 

Main Report 
Background 
 
1. The Corporate Parenting Principles (Children and Social Work Act 2017) require 

local authorities to promote the best possible outcomes for children in care and 

care leavers. These duties apply not only to Children’s Social Care but to the 

entire local authority. The City of London Corporation’s current strategy expires 

this year. 

 

Current Position 
 

2. The new strategy aligns with the Corporate Plan 2024–29 and reflects: 

• Feedback from the Coram Voice Annual Survey 2025 

• Ofsted Inspection recommendations (2024) 

• Practice reviews and audit findings 

• Input from senior officers, Members, and care-experienced young people 
 
3. The draft strategy has undergone several stages of internal review and 

development. The draft strategy has been reviewed by the Achieving Excellence 
Board, the Children’s Senior Management Team, the Departmental Leadership 
Team and the Safeguarding and SEND Sub-Committee. 
 

4. Following Children’s Senior Management Team suggestion, the strategy and 
young-person friendly version have been shared with a City of London 
Corporation care leaver. The feedback was positive, commenting that the 
strategy ‘feels personal and caring’ as well as including that it shows ‘our voices 
have impact’. The care leaver noted that the real success of the strategy will be 
through its implementation. 
 

5. Engagement feedback and staff insights have shaped each priority and action 
area, with additional work underway between Housing and Children’s Services to 
strengthen tenancy support for care leavers. 

 
6. The draft strategy establishes five strategic priorities: 
 

I. Home Stability – ensuring safe, secure accommodation 

II. Health and Wellbeing – trauma-informed, culturally responsive support. 

III. Education, Employment, and Training – removing barriers to achievement. 

IV. Voice of Children and Young People – meaningful participation and influence. 

V. Transition to Independence – preparation and ongoing support into adulthood. 

 

Page 34



7. Each priority includes specific actions, performance measures, and lead 
responsibilities across departments. Ongoing oversight will be supported through 
quarterly monitoring reports to this Sub-Committee. A delivery plan and 
performance framework are being developed, with officer leads proposed for 
each indicator. 

 
Key Data 

 
8. Performance and engagement data from the Coram Voice Annual Survey 2025 

has been central to the development of this strategy. The survey included 
responses from 21 care leavers and 5 children in care, with questions covering 
relationships, housing, health, education, identity, and preparation for adulthood. 
 

9. Headline results include: 

• 100% of children in care were happy with their accommodation type and 
location. 

• 81% of care leavers felt they received all the help they needed from their 
social worker. 

• 76% of care leavers felt safe in their lives. 
 

10. Importantly, the strategy also responds to areas where young people shared 
concerns — for example, barriers to education and training, feelings of social 
isolation, and challenges with accommodation stability. These insights have been 
used in a "you said, we did" approach to directly inform the five strategic priorities 
and associated actions. Feedback from the City of London Corporation care 
leaver also noted the importance of strengthening these areas.  
 

11. The included Corporate Parenting Annual Report 2024 – 2025 provides an 
overview of developments and achievements that the draft strategy will build on. 
 
 

Corporate & Strategic Implications  
 
Strategic implications – This strategy directly delivers Corporate Plan 2024-29 outcomes 
for Diverse Engaged Communities by ensuring care-experienced young people feel they 
belong and can participate in co-creating services and Providing Excellent Services by 
supporting young people to live healthy, independent lives and achieve their ambitions. 

Financial implications – The strategy will be delivered within existing budgets. Any specific 
initiatives requiring additional resources will be subject to separate business case approval. 

Resource implications – Implementation will require coordinated effort across 
departments, supported by training and clear guidance on corporate parenting 
responsibilities. 

Legal implications – The strategy ensures compliance with statutory duties under the 
Children Act 1989, Children and Social Work Act 2017, and related guidance. 

Risk implications – Robust performance monitoring and quality assurance arrangements 
mitigate risks to service quality and outcomes for young people. 

Equalities implications – The strategy promotes inclusivity and addresses barriers faced 
by care-experienced young people, with particular attention to unaccompanied asylum-

Page 35



seeking children and those with disabilities. Anti-racist practice is embedded in quality 
assurance processes. 

Climate implications - None 

Security implications - None 

 
Conclusion 
 
12. The draft Corporate Parenting Strategy 2025-2028 provides a comprehensive 

framework for the Corporation to fulfil its statutory duties while building on 
recognised strengths in supporting children in care and care leavers. The 
strategy is firmly grounded in the voices and experiences of young people and 
establishes clear expectations for corporate parenting across all services and 
departments. 
 

13. The Community and Children’s Services Committee approval of the draft 
Corporate Parenting Strategy will enable implementation for the remaining 2025 
– 2026 financial year, with quarterly monitoring through established governance 
arrangements. 

 
Appendices 
 

• Appendix 1 – Draft Corporate Parenting Strategy 2025-2028 

• Appendix 2 – Young People’s Version Corporate Parenting Strategy 2025-2028 

• Appendix 3 – Corporate Parenting Annual Report 2024/25 
 
 
Zoe Dhami 
Strategy and Project Officer 
Department of Community and Children's Services 
T: 020 7332 3002 
E: zoe.dhami@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 

Page 36

mailto:zoe.dhami@cityoflondon.gov.uk


   
 

   

 

City of London Corporation Corporate 
Parenting Strategy 2025–2028 

1. Foreword  

 

2. Introduction 

Corporate Parenting is the statutory responsibility of local authorities to act as the "parent" to 

children in their care, as set out in the Children and Social Work Act 2017. It is not just a legal 

duty but a moral drive to nurture, advocate for, and stand by our children in care and care 

leavers. 

The City of London is home to just under 9,000 residents, with 1,975 children and young people 

aged 0–25 and 712 aged 0–18 (Census 2021). Most resident children attend one of over 66 

different schools outside the City of London. Our Children and Families Service supports a small 

but complex group, including a high proportion of unaccompanied asylum-seeking children 

(UASC). At the end of March 2025, this included 4 children in care and 49 care leavers, with all 

care leavers in suitable accommodation and 67% (33 out of 49) in education, employment, or 

training. 

In September 2024 Ofsted rated the City of London Corporations Children and Families Services 

‘Outstanding’. Children's Social Care in the City is delivered through a small, highly skilled, and 

consistent team that supports a systemic, relationship-based model. This is complemented by a 

deeply engaged and effective Virtual School. Our integrated approach across education, 

housing, early help, health, and quality assurance enables us to deliver exceptional outcomes in 

a highly personalised way. Consistency of social workers is a known strength, regularly 

highlighted by care leavers, one of whom described their worker as being "like a big sister" 

(2024-25 Practice Review Feedback). This continuity builds trust, emotional safety, and genuine 

partnerships with young people.  

 This strategy builds on that strong foundation. It is not just about improving services—it is 

about maintaining and protecting the strengths that care leavers and inspectors have praised, 

while continuing to evolve in response to emerging needs.                                               

The development of this strategy has been directly informed by feedback from children and 

young people. In 2025, care leavers and children in care shared their experiences through the 

Annual Survey with Coram Voice, providing both praise and constructive suggestions for 

improvement. In parallel, quality assurance has been strengthened through six senior leader 

Page 37



   
 

   

 

visits to care providers in 2024–25, which brought insight into the lived experiences of nearly 

40% of our care-experienced population (Quality Assurance of Care Providers Annual Report 

2024–25). These insights have been triangulated with social worker feedback, commissioning 

reviews, and independent practice reviews. 

The City of London Corporation is committed to listening and acting, as evidenced by the 

redesign of housing communication, clearer signposting of mental health support, and 

enhanced participation opportunities through the Children in Care Council. 

Our Pledge to Children in Care  

Our pledge is built on what children and young people have told us matters most. Co-produced 

with the Children in Care Council, it reflects their voices, hopes, and expectations. These 

promises represent our commitment to being respectful, honest, and reliable corporate 

parents who do what we say and support each child’s journey with integrity. 

• We will find you a safe and stable home where you feel secure and listened to. 

• You will be involved in decisions that affect you, and we will keep you informed 

throughout. 

• We will support you in your education, health and wellbeing, including registration with 

a GP and dentist, and help you pursue additional learning and enrichment opportunities. 

• We will guide you as you prepare for independence, including accessing housing, 

furniture, work experience, and voluntary opportunities. 

• We will respect your identity and background, never judge you, and support you in 

doing the things you love—including sport and safe travel. 

• We will only share your information with your consent and will always tell you who has 

access. 

• We will respond to you in the way you prefer and make sure we do what we say. 

• We will be open, honest, and consistent, and ensure you have regular contact with a 

social worker and opportunities to attend the Children in Care Council. 

The seven Corporate Parenting Principles from the Children and Social Work Act 2017 guide our 

actions: 

• Act in the best interests of children and young people. 

• Encourage their health and wellbeing. 

• Support relationships that are important to them. 

• Support their education and career success. 

• Provide safe and stable homes. 

Page 38



   
 

   

 

• Prepare them for adulthood and independence. 

• Listen to their views and help them be heard. 

This strategy sets out how we will deliver on these principles through coordinated action across 

all Corporation departments, partners, and communities. 

3. Vision and Values 

Our Vision: For every child in our care and leaving our care to feel safe, valued, and supported 

to reach their full potential. 

Values: 

• Respect and Belonging 

 Every young person is seen, heard and valued for who they are. We embrace each 

child’s identity, background, and beliefs, and work to create a sense of belonging in 

everything we do. 

 

• Stability and Care 

 We prioritise stable relationships, reliable adults, and places that can be called home. 

Our children deserve nothing less than enduring care and emotional security. 

 

• High Aspirations 

 We believe in our young people’s potential and will never place limits on what they can 

achieve. 

 

• Voice and Empowerment 

 Children and care leavers are not just involved — they are central. Their voices shape 

the decisions that affect them, and their experiences guide how we improve services. 

 

• Equity and Inclusion 

 We tackle inequality, champion fairness and recognise that care-experienced children 

may face additional barriers. We commit to actively addressing those barriers across all 

services. 

 

 

4. Corporate Parenting Responsibilities: What This Means for Members and Officers Across 

the Corporation 

Page 39



   
 

   

 

Corporate Parenting is everyone’s responsibility. While Children’s Social Care leads day-to-day 

support for children in care and care leavers, the whole City Corporation — across 

departments, services, and roles — shares the duty to promote their wellbeing, inclusion, and 

success. This includes both officers and elected Members, who have a collective and statutory 

obligation to act in the best interests of every child in our care. 

Being a child in care is now recognised as akin to a protected characteristic at the City of 

London Corporation, and our updated practice review templates include a focus on anti-racist 

practice and child voice evaluation. Members play a key role in this work — particularly through 

their responsibilities on the Community and Children’s Services Committee and its Safeguarding 

and SEND Sub-Committee. They are expected to champion the rights of care-experienced 

children and young people, scrutinise performance, and ensure their voices are heard at the 

highest levels. At the heart of this is a single guiding question: 

 “Would this be good enough for my child?” 

Officers in Housing, Education, HR, Procurement, Cultural Services, Finance, and beyond all 

have a role to play in removing barriers and championing opportunities for care-experienced 

young people. This could mean: 

• Priority housing allocations or resolving tenancy issues. 

• Ring-fenced apprenticeships or internships for care leavers. 

• Making cultural venues, sports programmes, or training more accessible. 

• Ensuring internal policies (e.g. data handling, communications, decision-making) reflect 

the needs and voices of young people in care. 

If there are any concerns about the welfare of a child in care, please see the City of London 

Corporation Safeguarding Policy (NOTE: to be hyperlinked).  

INSERT: “What Good Looks Like” Case-study 

5. Strategic Priorities 

5.1 Home Stability 

Children in care need to feel safe and secure in the homes where they live. Stable homes are 

the foundation of emotional wellbeing, educational success, and long-term resilience. 

Strengths and Evidence: 

Page 40



   
 

   

 

• In the 2025 Coram Voice Annual Survey, 100% of children in care (5 of 5 respondents) 

said they were happy with both the type and location of their home and felt supported 

where they live. 

• Quality Assurance visits reported that "the accommodation and support being provided 

to children and young people is of a high standard which meets their needs well."  

• Senior leaders conducted six visits in 2024–25, covering 39% of the children in care and 

care leavers, reinforcing strong oversight and quality assurance.  

Our focus for Improvement 

We’ve heard clearly that when homes are stable, young people feel safe, supported and able to 

focus on their future. Most children in care told us they’re happy with both the type and 

location of their home and feel well supported by those around them. However, some care 

leavers shared that housing can feel temporary, overcrowded or isolating. In response, we will 

keep striving for stability of homes and increase the availability of suitable, long-term 

accommodation that young people are proud to call home. 

Actions: 

Children in Care 

For children in care for more than 12 months we will maintain a care-arrangement stability 
rate of 85%, where this is in each child’s best interests. 

Prioritise  children living close to their existing communities and support networks whenever 
possible. 

Quality Assurance 

Continue six senior leader Quality Assurance visits per year and revisit the Young Inspectors 
Programme to embed young people in oversight processes. 

 

5.2 Health and Wellbeing 

Children and young people in care face distinct health inequalities and emotional challenges, 

especially those who have experienced trauma. City of London Corporation’s health and 

wellbeing support is trauma-informed and culturally responsive. One aspect of this is providing 

infectious disease screening on arrival depending on a child’s journey to the Square Mile. 

Page 41



   
 

   

 

Strengths and Evidence: 

• 81% (17 of 21) know how to access health services independently (12) or with an adult’s 

help (5). 

• 100 % (10 of 10) care leavers registered with a GP; 90 % with a dentist. 

• 76% (16 of 21) feel safe in their lives. 
 
(Source: Coram Annual Survey 2025) 

Our Focus for Improvement 

Young people told us they know how to access health services and feel their needs are usually 

met — but that emotional wellbeing and feeling safe in their surroundings remain priorities. 

Some care leavers spoke about challenges with depression, trauma, and adjusting to 

independent living. We’re committed to strengthening early access to mental health support, 

ensuring advocacy is available in the languages young people need, and continuing to listen to 

what helps them feel safe, both physically and emotionally. 

“I would like someone who checks in with me. There is no one who worries 

about me.”  

 

Care leaver, Annual Survey 2025 with Coram Voice 

Actions: 

Unaccompanied asylum-seeking children 

Ensure every unaccompanied asylum-seeking child is offered an interpreter-supported 
advocacy appointment within 72 hours of arriving in our care, followed by ongoing access to 

an advocate in their chosen language. 

Ensure access to culturally competent health and mental health services. 

Children in Care & Care Leavers 

Ensure that 95% of all initial and review health and dental assessments are completed on 
time. 

Page 42



   
 

   

 

Promote emotional wellbeing through access to trauma-informed care, physical activity 
programmes, and structured mental health support. 

Sustain initiatives such as free bus travel, dental access, and education celebrations through 
strategic use of available local partnerships and resources. 

Ensure all young people receive clear signposting to emotional wellbeing and access to 
systemic family therapy where appropriate. 

Care Leavers 

Issue all care leavers with their health history. 

 

5.3 Education, Employment, and Training 

We believe in the potential of every child and care leaver to thrive through education and 

meaningful employment. The Virtual School provides stability and ambition, tailoring plans for 

each young person’s strengths and interests. English for Speakers of Other Languages is also 

provided through our Adult Education Service. 

Strengths and Evidence: 

• 80% (8 of 10) of full-survey respondents know how to contact the Virtual School; four 

have already used it.  

• The Virtual School was praised for helping with job applications and tuition.  
 
(Source: Coram Annual Survey 2025) 

Our Focus for Improvement 

We know that education, employment, and training unlock opportunities. Young people praised 

the support they received from the Virtual School and professionals who believed in them. At 

the same time, many identified practical barriers to progression — from internet access and 

funding gaps to language difficulties or disability. We want to ensure no young person is held 

back by these factors and will work to remove systemic barriers while maintaining high 

expectations for what everyone can achieve. 

Page 43



   
 

   

 

“I have barriers when trying to get a job with disability and people judge me 

over this.” 

 

- Carer Leaver, Annual Survey 2025 with Coram Voice 

Actions: 

Children in Care 

Ensure 100% of Children in Care have high-quality, SMART Personal Education Plans. 

Deliver targeted one-to-one tuition and access to enrichment for those needing additional 
support. 

Care Leavers 

Reserve at least 10% of all internal apprenticeships for care leavers, with an ambition to grow 
internship pathways across sectors. 

Children in Care/ Care Leavers 

Promote awareness of the Virtual School and its role in supporting education and 
employment. 

 

5.4 Voice of Children and Young People 

We are committed to listening to and acting on the views of children and care leavers. They are 

experts in their own lives, and their experiences must shape the services we deliver. 

Strengths and Evidence: 

• 50% (5 of 10) have attended the Children in Care Council (Children in Care Council) at 

least once.   

• 6 of 10 young people felt their feedback had been “very much” or “somewhat” acted 

on. 

• 80% (8 of 10) know of the WhatsApp and email group and are using it. 

Page 44



   
 

   

 

 
(Source: Coram Annual Survey 2025) 
 

Our Focus for Improvement 

Children and care leavers told us they want more chances to be involved, feel heard, and see 

their feedback acted on. Many knew about the Children in Care Council and how to share their 

views, but participation in strategic meetings and decision-making remains limited. We’ll build 

on what’s working by offering more flexible, inclusive opportunities to engage — from 

WhatsApp groups to creative methods and targeted outreach. Most of all, we’ll continue 

working to ensure young people feel a genuine sense of belonging in the City of London and in 

shaping the services that affect them. 

Actions: 

Children in Care/ Care Leavers 

Support the Children in Care Council (Children in Care Council) to meet at least six times 
annually and ensure the voice of children in care and care leavers is formally presented to 

elected Members. 

Embed a "You Said, We Did" approach to demonstrate impact and build trust. 

Involve children and young people directly in the recruitment of staff, co-production of policy, 
and the design of training. 

Expand promotional efforts for Children in Care Council, the Pledge, and feedback platforms 
such as newsletters and WhatsApp to increase engagement and visibility. 

5.5 Transition to Independence 

Moving into adulthood is a critical period for care leavers, requiring thoughtful preparation and 

consistent support. We want every young person to leave care with the skills, resources, and 

confidence to succeed. 

“My social worker has been my social worker all the way through, that makes 

a real big difference.” 

Page 45



   
 

   

 

 

- Care Leaver, 2024–25 Practice Review Feedback 

Strengths and Evidence: 

• 81% (17 of 21) say they now get all the help they need from their Social Worker (Coram 

Annual Survey 2025). 

• The service was praised for managing social worker transitions well and maintaining 

consistent relationships (Ofsted inspection report, 2024).  

• We offer Staying Put arrangements beyond age 18, where needed, to provide continuity 

and stability — with support potentially extending up to age 25 in some cases. 

Our Focus for Improvement 

Care leavers told us their Social Workers often go above and beyond, and many feel well 

supported. But for some, the journey to independence feels overwhelming — particularly when 

facing housing uncertainty, limited finances, or navigating services alone. We are committed to 

preparing young people for adulthood early, practically, and consistently. This includes life 

skills, housing stability, and strong relationships that don’t end when they turn 18 or 21. Our 

ambition is that every young person leaving care enters adulthood feeling ready, supported, 

and hopeful. 

Actions: 

Care Leavers 

Care leavers over the age of 25 are warmly encouraged to maintain contact with the City of 
London Corporation. They are welcome to visit the Guildhall and can access support by phone 

or email via the duty line, which offers signposting and connections to adult education, 
charities, parenting resources, and other relevant services. 

Provide life skills training to all care leavers, including tenancy readiness, financial literacy, and 
digital skills. 

Joint tenancy support with social workers and housing. 

Guarantee care leavers priority access to appropriate housing and ensure wraparound support 
is available during the transition. 

Page 46



   
 

   

 

Implement senior management oversight for transition planning from age 23 to ensure 
stability into adulthood.  

Explore tailored transition support for care leavers with disabilities and embed disability-
inclusive planning in all Pathway Plans. 

In response to feedback from care leavers about housing quality and tenancy readiness, we 
will strengthen post-18 accommodation reviews to ensure all care leavers live in housing that 

is safe, appropriate, and aligned with their support needs. 

Sessions with The Youth Offending Service and attendance at the Children in Care Council are 
open to Care Leavers. 

 

6. Governance Framework  

Our governance includes: The Safeguarding and SEND Sub-Committee acts as our Corporate 

Parenting Board and meets quarterly to provide strategic oversight and ensure that the needs 

and voices of children in care and care leavers remain central to our planning and service 

delivery. This sub-committee includes elected Members, senior officers, whilst representatives 

from health, education, and housing are called upon for specific issues. 

The sub-committee will oversee an annual reporting cycle that includes updates to the 

Community and Children’s Services Committee and formal feedback from the Children in Care 

Council, ensuring transparency, accountability, and continuous improvement. 

 

 

 

 

7. Monitoring and Evaluation  

The City of London’s commitment to excellence is grounded in a strong framework of 

monitoring, evaluation, and improvement.  

Page 47



   
 

   

 

This includes: 

Performance Data and Dashboards: 

• Quarterly dashboards reviewed by the Safeguarding and SEND Sub-Committee, 

Achieving Excellence Board (AEB), and senior leadership.  

• KPIs include home stability, NEET rates, education attainment, and health assessment 

compliance (e.g., 100% of children in care health checks completed on time as of March 

2025). 

Qualitative Feedback: 

• Annual surveys with children in care, care leavers, and families. 

• For 2024-25, 34 of 39 practice reviews (87 %) were rated Good or Outstanding and 5 

(13 %) Required Improvement; none were Inadequate. Most practice reviews are 

conducted externally through Aidhour. 

Participation and Impact Evaluation: 

• The Children in Care Council held 25 events in 2024–25, informing policy, training, and 

pledges, with outputs tracked via a “You Said, We Did” mechanism. 

• Monthly NEET and attendance tracking by a multi-agency panel supported targeted 

interventions, including online tuition and enrichment programmes. 

External Assurance and Audit: 

• Ofsted rated the City of London Corporation’s Children and Families Service work as 

“Outstanding” in September 2024. 

Page 48



   
 

   

 

• Biannual Joint Safeguarding Scrutiny with City of London Police. 

• Include external auditors 

Continuous Learning: 

• A new quality assurance framework was launched in 2024 with monthly practice 

reviews and enhanced moderation. 

• An updated practice review template now includes anti-racist practice and child voice 

evaluation. 

This integrated approach ensures both accountability and a real-time response to emerging 

challenges and lived experiences. 

Engagement with Children and Young People 

• We actively involve the Children in Care Council in evaluating success. Their feedback is 

captured and acted upon through mechanisms like our "You Said, We Did" dashboards. 

• Participation in care planning and decision-making is monitored to ensure children and 

young people have meaningful influence on their care and future. 

Transition Outcomes 

• We monitor housing stability, employment, and access to education and training for 

care leavers. 

• Annual surveys gather care leavers' satisfaction with the support provided during their 

transition to adulthood, including key areas like housing, health, and financial 

independence. 

Governance and Accountability 

• Quarterly performance reports are submitted to the Safeguarding and SEND sub-

committee and Community and Children’s Services Committee. This provides Members 

with a regular opportunity to monitor progress, hold services to account, and advocate 

for continuous improvement. 

• These include updates on home stability, educational outcomes, health assessments, 

and feedback from young people. 

Continuous Improvement 

• The strategy is reviewed annually, informed by performance data and lived experience. 

Page 49



   
 

   

 

• New targets and actions are shaped by gaps identified in delivery and the emerging 

needs of children and care leavers. 

Together, these tools ensure that our Corporate Parenting Strategy remains responsive, 

inclusive, and focused on outcomes that matter most. An annual review will be published and 

co-produced with the Children in Care Council. 

8. Appendices 

• Appendix A: Performance Metrics and Targets Table 

• Appendix B: Corporate Parenting Legislation Summary 

• Appendix C: Introduction to the Children in Care Council 

• Appendix D: Care Leaver Local Offer 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A: Performance Metrics and Targets Table 

Lead Metric Area Indicator Target / Benchmark 

Home Panel Home Stability % of homes lasting more 
than 12 months 

85% by 2026 

Child in Care 
Health Services 

Health and Dental 
Checks 

Timely completion of 
health and dental 
assessments for children in 
care (based on specific 
practice requirements in 
guidance). 

95% compliance 

Child in Care 
Health Services, 
Care Providers & 
Commissioning 
Team 

Health Access # of children in care 
registered with a GP and 
dentist 

100%  

Virtual School Education 
(children in care) 

# SMART Personal 
Education Plans in place 

100% 

Virtual School Education (Care 
Leavers) 

% in Education, 
Employment or Training 
(EET) 

70% 

Page 50

https://corpoflondon-my.sharepoint.com/personal/laura_demetriades_cityoflondon_gov_uk/_layouts/15/guestaccess.aspx?share=EahzcsC4ATtJoY5hE8q4hVgBgCfZxW_cgEv4pmxEhDkRZg&e=LSjhrk


   
 

   

 

Corporation 
Apprenticeships 
Team 

Apprenticeships % of internal 
apprenticeships reserved 
for care leavers 

Minimum 10% 

Participation 
Officer 

Children in Care 
Council 
Participation 

# of Children in Care 
Council meetings per year 

Minimum 6, with co-
chairing of Board 
sessions 

Head of 
Safeguarding & 
Quality Assurance 

Feedback 
Implementation 

# of “You Said, We Did” 
responses tracked 

100% 

Head of 
Safeguarding & 
Quality Assurance 
and Head of 
Children's Social 
Care and Early 
Help 

Independent 
Reviews 

% of external reviews 
rated 
outstanding/excellent 

80% Outstanding or 
Good 

Commissioning, 
Housing Services 
and Head of 
Children's Social 
Care and Early 
Help 

Housing Stability % of care leavers in 
suitable accommodation 

100%  

Head of Children's 
Social Care and 
Early Help, Virtual 
School, 
Commissioned 
Care Providers and 
Housing 

Transition 
Preparation 

Access to life skills, 
tenancy, digital literacy 

Universal provision 

Head of Children's 
Social Care and 
Early Help, Head of 
Safeguarding & 
Quality Assurance, 
Head of Virtual 
School 

Governance 
Reporting 

Performance reporting to 
Corporate Parenting Board 
& Committee 

Quarterly 

Head of 
Safeguarding & 
Quality Assurance 

Safeguarding 
Scrutiny 

Joint safeguarding scrutiny 
with City of London Police 

Biannual events 

Head of 
Safeguarding & 
Quality Assurance 
and 
Commissioning 

QA Oversight # of senior leader QA visits 
to care providers 

6 visits annually 
(minimum) 

Page 51



   
 

   

 

Head of Children's 
Social Care and 
Early Help 

Transition 
Oversight 

# of senior management 
review of care leavers’ 
transition plans age 23+ 

Target dependent on 
# of care leavers per 
year. Embedded in 
Pathway Plan audit 
cycle 

Participation 
Officer 

Children in Care 
Council 
Engagement 
Reach 

# of children in care and 
care leavers aware of and 
in receipt of 
communications about 
Cicc and other events. 

100% 

 

Page 52



City of London Corporate Parenting
Strategy 
2025–2028

WHY DOES IT MATTERWHAT IS CORPORATE PARENTING

When you’re in care, the City of
London Corporation acts like your
parent.
 That means we:

Keep you safe and cared for.
Support your health, education &
wellbeing.
Help you stay connected to the
people who matter to you.
Prepare you for independence.
Listen to your voice and act on it.

It’s more than just a law – it’s a
promise to be there for you.

We’re a small community,
so you get personalised
support.
Ofsted rated our service
Outstanding (2024).
You’ve told us that
consistent, caring social
workers make the biggest
difference.

Our vision: for every young
person in care or leaving care
to feel safe, valued, and
supported.

HOW WE HEARD YOUR VIEWS

For Children in Care & Care Leavers
 

We asked you through the Annual Coram Voice Survey (2025) and
Children in Care Council.

Here’s what you said:
✅ Happy with your homes.
✅ Know how to get health support.
✅ The Virtual School is helpful.
      Housing can sometimes feel temporary.
      Emotional wellbeing needs more focus.
      Barriers like disability, money & internet access can get in the way.

WE’VE LISTENED – AND WE’RE ACTING.
Page 53



📧 PARTICIPATION TEAM EMAIL:
PARTICIPATION@CITYOFLONDON.GOV.UK

📱 JOIN THE CHILDREN IN CARE COUNCIL TO SHARE IDEAS AND MAKE
CHANGE HAPPEN.

WE WANT TO HEAR FROM YOU AS YOUR VOICE SHAPES OUR
SERVICES!

HOW YOU CAN GET INVOLVED

Homes
Safe, supportive, long-
term homes.
Housing for care
leavers that feels
stable and positive.

Health & Wellbeing
GP and dentist checks for all.
More mental health and
wellbeing support.
Interpreters and advocates
for new arrivals.

Education, Training &
Jobs

Strong education
plans for every child in
care.
10% of City
apprenticeships
saved for care
leavers.
More tuition,
enrichment & job
support.

Our Priorities (2025–2028)

Your Voice
Children in Care Council meets at
least 6 times a year.
“You Said, We Did” to show real
changes.
More ways to share your views
(WhatsApp, email, creative
projects).

Independence
Life skills training (budgeting, tenancy,
cooking, digital skills).
Priority housing for care leavers.
Support continues after 18 – and even
beyond 25 if needed.

Page 54



Corporate Parenting in the City of London 

Annual Report – April 2024 to September 2025 

 Safeguarding Sub-Committee, October 2025 

1. Introduction and context 

 

1.1. This annual report updates on the City of London Corporation’s (the City 

Corporation) role as a corporate parent and the outcomes achieved for children 

in our care between April 2024 and September 2025. It aligns with the Families in 

the City Self Evaluation Framework (SEF), follows the 2023/24 Annual Report 

and sits alongside the Corporate Parenting Strategy 2025–2028. 

 

1.2. The City Corporation continues to be a corporate parent to children in its care 

aged 0 to 18 who cannot safely remain with their families, including 

unaccompanied asylum-seeking children (UASC), children with disabilities, and 

those who have experienced abuse or neglect. Our responsibilities extend into 

adulthood, ensuring care leavers have the support they need to transition to 

independence. 

 

1.3. Children’s Social Care and Early Help Services were inspected by Ofsted in 

September 2024 under the ILACS framework and judged 'Outstanding' overall, 

including ‘Outstanding’ for Children in Care and Care Leavers. Inspectors praised 

the City Corporation’s personalised approach, manageable caseloads, and 

culture of ambition and care. This reflects the commitment embedded in our 

Corporate Parenting Strategy 2025–2028, which strengthens our focus on equity, 

lifelong support, and participation. 

 

2. The children in our care 

 

2.1. At the end of July 2025, the City Corporation was supporting: 

• 4 children in care 

• 47 care leavers 

 

2.2. Between September 2024 and August 2025, 22 children came into care, 

including 14 Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC). Not all these 

children remained in our care due to the National Transfer Scheme (NTS). At the 

Page 55



end of July 2025, for the first time in several years, all children in care were City 

of London residents rather than UASC, reflecting the impact of the NTS. 

 

2.3. There were no adoptions or private fostering cases in this period, and no children 

in contact with youth justice services. 

 

3. Corporate Parenting Board (Safeguarding Sub-Committee) 

 

3.1. The Safeguarding and SEND Sub-Committee continues to act as the City 

Corporation’s Corporate Parenting Board, meeting four times a year to oversee 

outcomes for children in care and care leavers. Between April 2024 and 

September 2025, the Sub-Committee received reports on: 

• The Care Leaver Offer (including lifelong offer) 

• Unregulated placement commissioning 

• Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Annual Report 

• Virtual School Annual Report 

 

3.2. Members have also received enhanced training in corporate parenting and 

scrutiny, strengthening their role as champions for children and young people. 

 

4. Achievements in 2024–25 

 

4.1. During this reporting period, a number of significant achievements were made: 

• Launch of the lifelong Care Leaver Offer, extending entitlements beyond age 

25, including access to ongoing advice, financial guidance, tenancy support, 

and community connections beyond statutory entitlement. 

• Virtual School restructure to expand support capacity from January 2025, 

increasing dedicated staff for post‑16 support, improving oversight of 

apprenticeships and training pathways, and strengthening early intervention 

to address attendance and attainment issues. 

 

5. Corporate Parenting Strategy 2025–2028 

 

5.1. The Corporate Parenting Strategy 2025–2028 sets out a renewed vision: that 

children in care and care leavers are safe, happy, healthy, ambitious, and feel a 

sense of belonging. It emphasises lifelong support, anti-racist practice, and 

tackling disproportionality. Key priorities include strengthening the Care Leaver 

Offer and expanding participation. 

 

Page 56



5.2. The strategy has been directly shaped by the voices of children in care and care 

leavers: 

• Feedback from the Coram Voice Annual Survey 2025 highlighted both 

strengths (100% of children in care were happy with their accommodation; 

81% of care leavers felt supported by their social worker) and challenges 

(such as barriers to education, feelings of social isolation, and concerns 

about accommodation stability). 

• A City care leaver reviewed the draft strategy and commented that it “feels 

personal and caring” and shows “our voices have impact.” 

• A young person-friendly version has been produced to ensure accessibility 

and transparency. 

 

5.3. The strategy sets five strategic priorities: 

i. Home Stability – ensuring safe, secure accommodation. 

ii. Health and Wellbeing – trauma-informed, culturally responsive support. 

iii. Education, Employment, and Training – removing barriers to 

achievement. 

iv. Voice of Children and Young People – ensuring meaningful 

participation and influence. 

v. Transition to Independence – preparing for and supporting 

independence into adulthood. 

5.4. These priorities reflect a "you said, we did" approach, ensuring that feedback from 

children and young people has directly informed planned actions. Implementation 

will be monitored quarterly by this Sub-Committee.  

 
6. Children in Care Council (CiCC) 

 

6.1. The CiCC continues to be central to participation. During 2024/25 and 2025/26, 

activity included: 

• A new monthly supper club, co-designed with young people, to reduce 

isolation and celebrate cultural and religious occasions such as Eid and 

Christmas. 

• 11 supper clubs held, alongside theatre trips, sports activities, and a football 

tournament involving Virtual Schools across London. 

Page 57



• Translation of materials into Arabic and production of explanatory videos, 

supporting inclusion for UASC and care leavers with English as a second 

language. 

• Attendance at pan-London events including the Shining Stars celebration, 

where City of London young people were recognised. 

Young people told us: 

“The CiCC is always there for us, from day one of coming into care. You help us 

and take us out to do fun things. We have nice memories with you.” (City care 

leaver, 2025 Coram survey). 

 

 

7. Health and wellbeing 

 

7.1. Children in care continue to receive timely health assessments. As of July 2025: 

• 100% of initial health checks completed 

• 86% of annual health checks up to date 

• 100% of dental checks completed 

 

7.2. All children in care had up-to-date immunisations or were in the process of 

completing booster programmes. No children were recorded with substance 

misuse concerns. 

 

7.3. The City continues to use the Healthy Smiles referral route to secure NHS dental 

care, with private provision funded where mental health was affected by dental 

needs. 

 

8. Safeguarding our children 

 

8.1. All children in care and care leavers are allocated a qualified social worker. At the 

end of Q1 2025/26, no children were missing from placements. 

Ofsted (Nov 2024) noted: 

“Children who are in the care of the City of London receive an outstanding 

service that significantly improves their life experiences.” 

8.2. The City Corporation continues to work closely with the Police through scrutiny of 

protection notices and the refreshed MACE forum to respond to risks of 

Page 58



exploitation and youth violence where these affect children in care and care 

leavers. 

 

9. Education and employment 

 

9.1. The Virtual School supported 47 care leavers and 9 children in care (EY–KS5) 

during 2024/25. Attendance for children in care was: Autumn 94%, Spring 79% 

(reflecting reduced attendance for one child), Summer 91%. Reception–Y11 

attendance for children in care was 99%. 

 

9.2. Enrichment included forest school, oracy projects, apprenticeships, and London 

Careers Festival sessions. Four apprentices joined the virtual school through a 

partnership with Partnership for Young London and Adult Education and Skills. 

One care leaver shared: 

“I enjoyed doing the business admin for the holiday programme. It was rewarding 

seeing the children enjoy themselves and all the parents were super positive.” 

(Virtual School apprentice, 2025) 

10. Case planning and permanency 

 

10.1. 100% of pathway plans for children in care and care leavers were completed 

within statutory timescales. Permanency planning remains strong, with oversight 

by senior management. 

 

11. Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) service 

 

11.1. The IRO conducted 24 reviews in 2024/25, with 100% held within statutory 

timescales. Children are supported to attend their reviews, and the hybrid model 

continues based on their preferences. The IRO service has contributed to 

improvements in statutory care plans and extra tuition access. 

 

12. Accommodation 

 

12.1. At July 2025, 47 care leavers were supported, all but one in suitable 

accommodation (one young person on remand in prison, with support 

continuing). 

 

12.2. The Sufficiency Strategy 2024–27 guides placement commissioning through the 

commissioning alliance CarePlace portal. The City Corporation places all 

Page 59



children out of borough (as there are no placements within the City of London 

boundaries), with the majority within 20 miles of the Square Mile. All reviews of 

commissioned placements include young people’s voices. 

 

12.3. A new non-payment of rent policy introduced in March 2025 supports care 

leavers to practice sustaining tenancies. This aligns with the Strategy priority on 

preparing young people for independence. 

 

13. Areas of development and priorities for the year ahead 

 

13.1. The Corporate Parenting Strategy 2025–2028 sets the direction for the next three 

years. Priorities include: 

• Strengthening the Care Leaver Offer, including tenancy readiness and lifelong 

support. 

• Tackling disproportionality in outcomes for children in care and care leavers, 

ensuring equity for young people with disabilities, UASC, and those from 

minoritised backgrounds. This priority is informed by the broader 

disproportionality audit across children’s services, with relevant findings 

applied to Children in Care and care leavers. 

• Expanding participation and ensuring the CiCC continues to grow. 

• Reducing NEET numbers through a trauma-informed approach. 

• Embedding the quality assurance framework and maintaining outstanding 

practice. 

 

13.2. This quote, taken from Ofsted’s 2024 ILACS inspection report, was included by 

inspectors to illustrate the strength of relationships and support offered to care 

leavers in the City of London. It reinforces the Outstanding judgment and the 

importance of sustaining this culture of care as we move forward. 

As Ofsted reported in 2024: 

“Care leavers experience consistent, secure and stable relationships with workers, 

who talk about them with affection and care, and help them to make progress and 

achieve their ambitions.” (Ofsted ILACS, 2024) 

 

 

Page 60



City of London Corporation Committee Report 

Committee(s): 
Community & Children’s Services Committee  

Dated: 
10th November 2025 

Subject:  
Allocated Members to the various Housing Estates  

Public report:  
For Decision 

This proposal: 

• provides statutory duties 

• provides business enabling functions 

N/A 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

No 

If so, how much? N/A 

What is the source of Funding? N/A 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

N/A 

Report of:  Town Clerk 

Report author:  Kate Doidge, Governance 
Officer 

Summary 

An Allocated Members Scheme has been in place since 2000, which aims to ensure 
that Members are aware of the issues on each estate and nominations are required. 
Following the meetings of the Housing Management & Almshouses Sub-Committee 
on 30th June 2025 and 21st October 2025, respectively, the appointments to the 
Scheme are recommended to the Community and Children’s Services Committee for 
endorsement.  

Recommendation(s) 

Members of the Community and Children’s Services Committee are asked to: 
 

• Endorse the appointments to the Allocated Members Scheme to the various 
housing estates, as set out in the report.  
 

Main Report 
Background 
 
1. The Allocated Members Scheme, which has been in operation since 2000, 

matches Members of the Community and Children’s Services Committee with 

one or more of the housing estates portfolios. The scheme is particularly valuable 

for estates outside the City of London, given that they do not have direct elected 

Member representation within the City Corporation in the same way as Golden 

Lane and Middlesex Street Estates. 

2. The scheme is intended to:  

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



 

• give residents and staff a named Member to ‘champion’ their estate;  

• allow Members to take an interest in the estate, its residents, and staff;  

• develop a group of Members with housing knowledge and experience to 
contribute to the Community and Children’s Services Committee. 
 

3. Therefore, at its meeting on 30th June 2025 and 21st October 2025, the Housing 

Management and Almshouses Sub-Committee appointed specific Members to 

various housing estates:  

• Tower Hamlets and Middlesex Street – Deputy John Fletcher  

• Hackney and Golden Lane Estate – Deputy Ceri Wilkins 

• Southwark – Charles Edward Lord  

• Lewisham – Sandra Jenner  

• Islington – Deputy Anne Corbett 

• Lambeth – Mark Wheatley  

 
Current Position 
 
4. Following the agreement of the Housing Management & Almshouses Sub-

Committee, the Community and Children’s Services Committee are asked to 
endorse the appointments to the Allocated Members Scheme, as detailed above.  

 
Options 
 
5. Option 1 (Recommended) – That the Community & Children’s Services 

Committee endorse the appointments to the Allocated Members Scheme to the 
various housing estates.  
 

6. Option 2 (Not Recommended) – That the Community & Children’s Services 
Committee not endorse the appointments and the matter be referred back to the 
Housing Management & Almshouses Sub-Committee.  

 
Proposals 
 
7. It is recommended that the endorse the appointments to the Allocated Members 

Scheme to the various housing estates.  

Corporate & Strategic Implications – 
 
Strategic implications – the recommendation aligns with the City Corporation’s strategic goal 
of improving governance, enhancing community engagement, and ensuring effective 
resource allocation. 

Financial implications – N/A 

Resource implications – N/A 

Legal implications – N/A 

Risk implications – N/A 

Page 62



Equalities implications – N/A  

Climate implications – N/A  

Security implications – N/A  

 
Conclusion 
 
8. This strategic approach aims to enhance representation, improve coordination, 

streamline decision-making, and foster stronger community engagement. The 

allocation included in this report are now presented for final approval.  

 
Appendices 
 

• Appendix 1 – None 
 
Kate Doidge  
Governance Officer  
E: kate.doidge@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 63

mailto:kate.doidge@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64



City of London Corporation Committee Report 

Committee: 
Community and Children’s Services Committee 

Dated: 
10th November 2025 

Subject:  
Golden Lane Leisure Centre - Update 

Public report: 
For Decision 

This proposal: 

• delivers Corporate Plan 2024-29 outcomes 

Diverse Engaged 
Communities 
Providing Excellent 
Services 
Leading Sustainable 
Environment 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

Yes 

If so, how much? £10.35m 

What is the source of Funding? Community Infrastructure 
Levy 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

Yes 

Report of:  Judith Finlay, Executive 
Director 

Report author:  Simon Cribbens, Director – 
Commissioning & 
Partnerships 

Summary 

This report provides an update on the project to refurbish the Golden Lane Leisure 
Centre. The project, funded by £10.35 million from the Community Infrastructure 
Levy, aims to deliver improved leisure facilities and services, enhanced community 
engagement, and greater environmental sustainability. Design options are under 
development, with stakeholder consultation planned to inform the scope and 
preferred design approach. The project aims to deliver energy solutions which align 
with the City Corporation’s Climate Action Strategy. The report seeks an decision on 
the preferred approach to energy supply. The procurement of a new leisure operator 
is underway to ensure high-quality service provision following completion of the 
refurbishments. Key risks, financial, and equality implications are being actively 
managed throughout the project. 
 

Recommendation 

Members are asked to: 
 

• Note the report and issues set out 

• Approve the recommendation that the future energy needs of the Centre are 
met through connection to the Citigen network, noting that the achievement of 

Page 65

Agenda Item 8



this will still be subject to approval by the Resource Allocation Sub Committee 
for the allocation of Carbon Offset S106 funding. 

Main Report 

Background 
 
1. The City of London Corporation owns and commissions the operation of the 

Golden Lane Leisure Centre (the Centre). The Centre was built in the late 1950s 
as part of the Golden Lane Estate and is the only local authority leisure offer in 
the Square Mile. It was refurbished by the City Corporation in 2012 and is now 
subject to a new refurbishment project funded by a £10.35 million allocation of 
Community Infrastructure Levy funds. As with the wider estate, the Centre is a 
Grade II listed building in recognition of its architecture and historical value. The 
listing covers the structure and its use in relation to the swimming pool and sports 
hall. 
 

2. Fusion Lifestyle is the current commissioned leisure operator and manages the 
facilities. This contract has been extended until 31 March 2026 and has provision 
– if needed and accepted by the provider - for a final extension until 31 December 
2026. 
 

Current Position 
 
Refurbishment 
 
3. Members have approved the refurbishment project at Gateway 1 and 2 of the 

City Corporation’s capital project governance. This has enabled award of a ‘Pre 
Construction Service Agreement’ to Alliance Leisure. This stage of work will 
progress the design elements of the refurbishment project – including securing 
planning consent. The work will deliver to the City Corporation and Members a 
fully costed technical design. Members will be asked to approve the proposals at 
this stage in order to progress the commencement of capital works. 
 

4. Alliance Leisure has established a multi-disciplinary design team, including 
architects Faulkner Brown. The team includes specialist consultants in heritage, 
planning, mechanical and electrical, structural and health safety. City Corporation 
representation includes Community and Children’s Services Comisisoning and 
Housing teams, Commercial Services and the Energy Team.  

 

5. Delivery is supported by specialist project managers (Hadron) and a Project 
Board on which the Department’s Director of Commissioning and Partnerships is 
the senior City Corporation representative. 

 

6. The preliminary design development is exploring two design options – one a fully 
refurbed version of the current configuration, the second introduces a “wellness 
offer” (spa etc). These high-level options will be the subject of consultation and 
engagement with stakeholders – including current Centre users and the local 
community of potential users. Both will be costed and modelled for revenue 

Page 66



projections to help inform decision making. It should be noted that planning and 
heritage implications may impact on the viability and permissibility of any 
changes that could not demonstrate a robust case in terms of sporting needs and 
benefit. 

 

7. Consultation and engagement with stakeholders will be led by the Housing 
Division’s commissioned communications consultant Concilio, to ensure a 
consistency and coherence of approach, especially in terms of residents of 
Golden Lane who will be subject to consultation of a range of major works on the 
estate. 

 

8. A revised approach to the City Corporation’s project governance should enable 
decisions that would previously be taken at Gateways 3, 4 and 5 to be 
condensed into a single stage approval gateway reporting to fewer committees. 

 

9. Members of this committee will be given the opportunity to decide the favoured 
design option at an interim stage, so this single chosen approach can be subject 
to full technical design and costing.  This stage will allow members to explore the 
range of detailed issues and questions in relation to the design. 

 

10. The indicative project timeline envisages a start on site in October 2026. 
However, there are several interdependencies that could change this – notably 
whether the processes for planning consent and other governance decisions are 
extended. 

 

11. Alliance Leisure, in partnership with the City Corporation, is undertaking a (non-
binding) market competition to identify a principal contractor for the delivery of the 
refurbishment, to assess for value for money and quality. The process will also 
ensure a contractor has been identified in advance of final decision-making to 
support progress (or not) of delivery. 

 
Energy  

 
12. The project is determining how future energy supply needs of the Centre will be 

met. The budget for the project is based on replacement of the existing boilers 
with modern equivalents. However, such an approach may not be consistent with 
planning requirements, and the objectives and targets of the City Corporation’s 
Climate Action Strategy. 
 

13. The Department is working closely with the Energy Team and the project’s 
design team to review approaches which include ground source heat pumps, air 
source heat pumps and linkage to the Citigen Network. Options and a proposal in 
relation to energy supply are set out below, with approval being sought for the 
recommended approach. 
 
 
 

Page 67



Wider issues 

14. The scope of the project includes the full refurbishment of the current centre and 
the tennis courts. The design team will also consider improvements to areas 
adjoining the Centre to address access, wayfinding, lighting and surrounding 
landscaping. The delivery of these wider changes may require additional funding 
from alternative sources.  
 

Current delivery 
 
15. The current operator is Fusion. The organisation has worked with the department 

to extend its contract under the current terms until 31 March 2026. The contract 
allows for a further extension until 31 December 2026. However, the operator has 
indicated that revised terms may be necessary to secure this, which are likely to 
expose the department to financial contribution. The detail of this is subject to 
current negotiation, and if the budgetary implications are significant Members will 
be consulted and asked to decide upon options which may include earlier 
closure. 

 
Operating provider procurement 
 
16. The Department has appointed the Sports Consultancy – a specialist in leisure 

services - to provide expertise in procuring a new leisure management contract, 
with the aim of securing the best possible service and financial outcomes for the 
City Corporation. Stakeholder consultation and engagement will shape the 
service specification to ensure it reflects community needs and priorities. The 
consultation process is scheduled to commence in October 2025, with the 
appointment of an operator planned ahead of the completion of the refurbishment 
to enable a smooth mobilisation of the new contract. 
 

17. The cost of a future operating contract will be determined by the tendering 
process, based on bidders modelling of revenue projections (based on the facility 
mix) and cost such as energy requirements. It should be noted that a future 
operating contract may require revenue support from the City Corporation. There 
is no established budget within the department for this, as the current operation is 
delivered at zero cost. 

 
Meanwhile use 
 
18. A range of options to provide interim provision during the refurbishment period is 

currently under consideration. At this stage, the recommended approach is to 
assess the feasibility of offering a limited service from the Centre. This option 
presents several potential benefits, including: 
 

• enabling a competitive process to test the market 

• supporting member retention by maintaining a leisure operator presence 

• likely avoiding the need for capital investment 

 
19. It may not be possible to provide leisure services in the Centre during 

refurbishment, or such an approach may add costs that are not budgeted for. In 

Page 68



this context, the City’s Sport Strategy & Engagement Team (within the Town 
Clerk’s Department) will explore the potential availability, financial viability and 
possible funding of alternative locations that could provide short-term premises 
for a limited service.  
 

20. If no feasible options are found in this search, the only alternative will be to cease 
leisure services during the refurbishment works, while signposting members to 
other available services in the area. 

 

Tennis courts 
 
21. The tennis courts will be re-laid within the scope of the refurbishment, alongside 

improvements to the fencing surround the courts. 
 

22. Officers have been made aware of a desire by tennis players using the courts for 
them to remain open during the refurbishment.  

 

23. The centre’s refurbishment will impact a range of users – whether users of the 
tennis courts, swimming pool, gym or sports hall. The building works are also 
likely to impact those who live on the estate – whether they are users of the 
centre or not. Once the final design is complete and the contractors are 
appointed, there will be a better indication of these likely impacts and any 
mitigations that may reduce them. 

 

24. It is quite possible that the most viable site for building materials, equipment and 
contractor welfare facilities during the refurbishment is the tennis court area. 
Other areas may be feasible – such as the car parks, podium level or adjoining 
roads, but risk having a negative impact on those who live on the estate and may 
also add additional cost to the programme if their use adds complexity.  

 
 

Options – energy  
 
25. The centre’s current energy source for heating is provided by gas boilers. The 

current boilers contribute to the City Corporation’s carbon footprint.  
 

26. The Climate Action Strategy is committed to  
 

• Achieve net zero carbon emissions from our own operations by 2027 
• Achieve net zero carbon emissions across all our activities, including 

investments and supply chain, by 2040 
• Support the Square Mile to reach net zero by 2040 

 
27. Approaches that prioritise decarbonisation are also supported by the City 

Corporation’s planning guidance. 
 
28. The refurbishment of the Centre is an opportunity to support the City 

Corporation’s achievement of these commitments. 
 

Page 69



29. There are four options for the delivering of future energy needs. An early decision 
on a preferred approach will enable the detailed designs to be finalised and 
costed. 

 

Replacement boilers 
 
30. The project budget is based on replacement of the existing boilers with a modern 

equivalent. This is feasible, but would be inconsistent with the commitments of 
the City Corporation’s Climate Action Strategy and its planning policy. It is not 
recommended. 

 
Ground source heat pump 
 
31. A ground source heat pump requires either extensive horizontal trenches or deep 

vertical boreholes (typically 50 – 200 meters). The leisure centre’s location would 
indicate that only vertical boreholes beneath the tennis courts would be feasible – 
although the area may not allow for sufficient spacing between the number of 
boreholes required. This approach is not recommended due to the borehole 
depth required, the drilling equipment required - and resident disruption - to 
achieve these depths, and the programme risks associated with such drilling.  

 
Air source heat pump 
 
32. Air source heat pumps are feasible. However, multiple units may be required to 

meet the energy needs of the centre. Such units present issues in terms of their 
location and heritage impact on the listed status of the estate – and may not be 
supported by residents or planners. The units also omit noise which may also 
negatively impact some residents. It is not recommended. 

 
Citigen connection 
 
33. Citigen is the Square Mile’s district heating system, providing energy to a range 

of City Corporation assets on a negotiated corporate energy tariff. A link to the 
Citigen network is viable, but would require that link to be laid underground along 
Fann Street.  
 

34. The network would be connected to a heat plate exchange in the leisure centre’s 
existing boiler room – freeing up some of that space for alternative use. The 
gauge of connection will be sufficient to ensure it could provide for wider energy 
usage on the estate if future ambitions or plans required that. 
 

35. This approach is supported by the City Corporation’s Energy and Sustainability 
Team. The connection would require additional funding based on the net 
additional cost between the connection and the budgeted replacement boilers. 
This funding – which early estimates could be £1m -1.5m) would be sought from 
the Section 106 Carbon Offset Fund and is therefore subject to the approval of 
Members of the Resource Allocation Sub Committee.  

  

Page 70



36. Citigen connection will benefit from access to tariff levels negotiated as part of the 
City Corporation’s wider deal. It should be noted that this still may lead to energy 
costs that are higher in the short or medium term that alternatives such as 
boilers.  
 

37. The approach is recommended to Members, noting that approval will be in 
principle, as the achievement of the approach will be subject to subsequent 
funding decisions by the Resource Allocation Sub Committee. 

 
Proposals - energy 
 
38. It is proposed that the future energy needs of the Centre are met through 

connection to the Citigen network. Members are asked to approve this approach, 
noting that the achievement of this will still be subject to an approval for the 
allocation of Carbon Offset Fund S106. 

 
Corporate & Strategic Implications  
 
Strategic implications 

39. The decision to refurbish the Centre is made in the context of delivering several 
strategies, notably the City of London Corporation’s Global City of Sport: A Sport 
Strategy for the Square Mile 2023- 2030, Joint Local Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2024- 2028, and Our Corporate Plan 2024- 2029. The refurbishment will 
deliver the Corporate Plan outcomes of Providing Excellent Services and Leading 
Sustainable Environment. It will also deliver to the targets for the Climate Action 
Strategy.  

 

Financial implications 
 

40. Capital funding has been secured from Community Infrastructure Levy. There 
may be future additional revenue implications associated with the Centre’s 
operation, for which there is no current budget allocation. 

 

Resource implications  

41. The resourcing of the project is being met through the Department’s delivery 
Partner Alliance Leisure and internal staff resources.  

 

Legal implications  

42. None that are pertinent to this update. Legal implications to be considered 
throughout all stages of the project. 

 

Risk implications   

43. A risk register has been created for the project and is being managed by the 
Project Board.  

 

 

Page 71



Equalities implications  

44. The project has been subject to an Equality Impact Assessment. 
 

Climate implications 

45. The project will seek to achieve carbon reductions to contribute to the City 
Corporation’s Climate Action Strategy.  

 

Security implications 

46. None. 
 
Conclusion 
 
47. The Centre refurbishment project represents a significant investment in the City 

of London’s community infrastructure, aiming to deliver excellent services, 
engage communities, and lead in environmental sustainability. With robust 
governance, stakeholder engagement, and a focus on climate action, the project 
is well-positioned to meet strategic objectives and deliver lasting benefits to 
residents and users. Continued attention to planning, funding, and operational 
procurement will be essential to ensure successful delivery and long-term viability 
of the Centre. 

 
Background Papers 
 

• Community and Children’s Services: Golden Lane Leisure Centre 
Refurbishment Update 30/04/2025 

 
 
Simon Cribbens 

Director – Commissioning and Partnerships 

E: simon.cribbens@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 72

mailto:simon.cribbens@cityoflondon.gov.uk


City of London Corporation Committee Report 

Committee(s): 
Safeguarding & SEND Sub Committee  
Community & Children’s Services Committee 

Dated: 
13/10/2025 

10/11/2025 

Subject:  
CHSCP Annual Report 2024-25 

Public report:  
For information. 

This proposal: 
Delivers on the corporate plan outcome: ‘Providing 
Excellent Services’ enabling access to effective children’s 
social care. 

Outlines CHSCP work for 
period 2024-25 for the board 
to note.  

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

No 

If so, how much? £ n/a 

What is the source of Funding? n/a 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

n/a 

Report of:  The City & Hackney 
Safeguarding Children 
Partnership Board (CHSCP) 

Report author:  Rory McCallum - Senior 
Professional Advisor to the 
CHSCP 

Summary 

The City & Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership (CHSCP) Annual Report for 

2024/25 provides an overview of the partnership's activities, progress, challenges, and 

future priorities in safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children in the City of London 

and the London Borough of Hackney. The report highlights the CHSCP's structure, key roles 

and relationships, and its commitment to an "active anti-racist" approach. It details the 

progress of various agencies, including local councils, police, NHS trusts, and other 

organisations, and their efforts in areas such as workforce stability, data management, and 

service delivery. 

The document also outlines lessons learned from case reviews and audits, emphasising the 

importance of a "Safeguarding First" approach, professional curiosity, and information 

sharing. It concludes by setting out the priorities and pledges for the coming year, which 

include addressing strategic vulnerabilities like child sexual abuse and exploitation, and 

maintaining a focus on continuous learning and improvement. 

 

Page 73

Agenda Item 9



Recommendation(s) 

Members are asked to note the report. 

 

Main Report 

See attached report.  

Page 74



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

1THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW1

P
age 75



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 2

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

Foreword by the Independent Safeguarding Children Commissioner

Service was rated ‘Good,’ a considerable improvement achieved despite a 

challenging period marked by a cyber-attack and community tensions. Both 

the Metropolitan Police Service and the City of London Police have also made 

notable improvements in their handling of child-related cases, with a renewed 

focus on a ‘child first’ approach and better investigation processes. These 

positive inspection results are a clear testament to our focus on maintaining and 

building upon the foundations of good practice.

Our commitment to learning is another area of progress. We have continued to 

implement our learning and improvement framework, identifying lessons from 

multi-agency audits and local case reviews to drive improvements in practice. 

We published two Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews (LCSPRs) this year, 

for Case A and Child V, and have actively progressed the recommendations 

from both, as well as from the ongoing Child Q review. This appetite to learn is 

central to our work, ensuring that we are a reflective and continuously improving 

partnership. We have once again demonstrated that our partnership will respond 

to questions concerning the health and wellbeing of our children whenever and 

wherever they arise, doing so without fear or favour.

Despite these successes, we remain grounded in the reality of the significant 

challenges we face. The most pressing of these are financial constraints, 

increased demand, and the rising complexity of cases. We know from our 

It has been a year of significant progress and considerable challenge for 

the City & Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership (CHSCP) as we have 

worked to safeguard and promote the welfare of all our children and their 

families. This Foreword provides a self-assessment and commentary on our 

key achievements, while also highlighting the areas where we continue to face 

undeniable difficulties.

In 2024/25, our partnership demonstrated a strong, collective commitment 

to our core mission. We have seen positive movement in several key areas. 

Crucially, our multi-agency safeguarding arrangements, including the 

governance structure and the roles of our lead and delegated safeguarding 

partners, continue to function effectively. The enduring commitment to 

independence within our arrangements has been invaluable, providing the 

‘grit’ necessary for the robust scrutiny and constructive challenge that drives 

our work forward. This is an approach we have chosen to maintain, as it neither 

weakens nor undermines the ability of our partners to fulfil their statutory 

functions.

We are proud of the strong performance reflected in recent inspection 

outcomes. The City of London Corporation received an ‘Outstanding’ Ofsted 

rating, with inspectors highlighting the excellent services that are making a 

significant difference in children’s lives. Similarly, Hackney’s Children & Families 

P
age 76



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

3THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW2

Jim Gamble QPM

Independent Child Safeguarding Commissioner

The City & Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership

partners’ reports that organisations are grappling with substantial budget 

deficits. The Metropolitan Police Service faces a $260 million deficit, which will 

lead to a reduction of approximately 1,700 staff. Hackney Council needs to save 

$52 million over the next three years. This environment of tightening funds and 

growing demand is leading to difficult decisions, restructures, and concerns 

about staff capacity and well-being. Overlaying these circumstances with a 

significant national reform agenda, whilst creating opportunities, is marked with 

risk as well. We cannot ignore this reality.

The complexity of cases continues to increase. Agencies like the East London 

Foundation Trust (ELFT) and Homerton Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 

(HHFT) report a sustained rise in emotional distress, self-harm, and complex 

mental health issues among children and young people. Many of these cases 

are high-risk but fall below the threshold for statutory social care intervention, 

creating ethical and clinical dilemmas for our practitioners. We also face ongoing 

challenges with data accuracy and information-sharing agreements between 

agencies. These issues can hinder our ability to respond effectively and in a 

timely manner, an area we are committed to improving.

As we look to the future, our priorities will reflect the need to navigate these 

challenges. We must continue to focus on the health and stability of our 

safeguarding workforce, ensuring that staff and volunteers are well-supported 

amidst ongoing organisational change and increased demand. We must 

also strengthen our approach to strategic vulnerabilities and pathways 

to harm, including child sexual abuse, adolescent safeguarding, and the 

ongoing risks associated with unregistered educational settings.

The CHSCP’s commitment is to ensure that every child is seen, heard, and 

helped. We will proactively tackle racism through our Active Anti-Racist 

Charter, listen to the voices of children and families to inform our work, 

and maintain our unwavering focus on the lived experience of children. 

While the road ahead will be difficult, we are confident 

 that by working together and staying true to our  

core principles, we can continue to make a  

real and lasting difference for the children 

 and families in the City of London  

and Hackney.

P
age 77



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 4

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

About the Annual Report			   5

The CHSCP					     7
Summary						     8

Purpose						      8

Vision						      9

Principles						     10

The CHSCP’s Active Anti-Racist Charter			  12

Key Roles & Relationships				    13 

Statutory Safegurding Partners			   13

Lead Safeguarding Partners				    13

Delegated Safeguarding Partners			   14

Partnership Chair					     14

The Independent Safeguarding Children Commissioner	 15

Relevant Agencies					     16

Schools, Colleges, Educational and Early Years Settings 	 17

Other Organisations 				    18

Designated and Named Professionals 			   18

The CHSCP Team					     18

Independent Scrutiny				    19

CHSCP Structure 2024-2025				    20

Safeguarding Assurance Groups			   21

The CHSCP Executive				    22

Safeguarding Children Partnership Boards		  22

Attendance					     25

Financial Arrangements				    28

Communication					     29

Progress 2024/25				    32
The CHSCP’s Priorities				    33

City of London Safeguarding Snapshot 2024/25		  37

Hackney Safeguarding Snapshot 2023/24		  39

Safeguarding Partners & Relevant Agencies 		  42

The City of London Corporation - Children’s Social Care  
and Early Help					     44

The City of London Corporation - Education and  
Early Years					     47

The City of London Police				    51

Hackney Council - Children & Families Services		  53

Hackney Education					    58

Young Hackney					     63

Hackney Youth Justice Service			   66

Hackney Housing					     68

The Metropolitan Police Service			   69

NHS North East London Integrated Care Board		  73

Homerton Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 		  74

East London NHS Foundation Trust			   78

City & Hackney Public Health				    81

CAFCASS						     83

Probation						     83 

Safer Workforce					     85

The City of London					     87

Hackney						      92

Learning & Improvement			   99
Key Messages for Practice				    100

SAFER - The Golden Rules of Safeguarding 		  104

Reviews of Practice				    105

Rapid Reviews					     106

Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews 		  108
Case A					     108
Child V					     112
Child Q					     115

Auditing						      116

The Voice of the Child, Family & Community		  125

Performance Data					    131

Front-Line Intelligence				    131

External Learning					     132

Focus on CSA and CSE 				    133

Training & Development			   139
Summary					     140
Evaluation					     146

Priorities & Pledge				   148
CHSCP Priorities 2024/25				    149

Our Pledge					     151

What You Need to Know			   153

Contents

WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 4

P
age 78



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

5THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW4

About the 
Annual Report

55

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW4

P
age 79



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 6

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

The City & Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership annual report for 

2024/25 sets out examples of the learning, challenge, impact, evidence 

and improvement of the statutory safeguarding arrangements in the City of 

London and the London Borough of Hackney.  It reports on the following 

activity:

•	 The governance and accountability arrangements for the CHSCP’s 

safeguarding arrangements alongside a summary of progress against 

the CHSCP’s priorities and pledge.

•	 The context for safeguarding children in the City of London and the 

London Borough of Hackney, highlighting key data and the progress 

made by partners over the reporting period.

•	 The lessons that the CHSCP has identified through its Learning & 

Improvement Framework and the actions taken to improve child 

safeguarding and welfare as a result of this activity. 

•	 The range and impact of the multi-agency safeguarding training 

delivered by the CHSCP. 

•	 The CHSCP’s priorities going forward.

•	 The key messages for those involved in the safeguarding of children 

and young people. 

In line with statutory requirements, the CHSCP annual report 2024/25 has 

been sent to the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel and the Multi-

Agency Safeguarding Arrangements Unit in the Department for Education.

LEARNING

CHALLENGE

IMPACT

EVIDENCE

IMPROVEMENT

P
age 80

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/child-safeguarding-practice-review-panel


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

7THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW6

The CHSCP

77

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

P
age 81



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 8

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

The City and Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership 

(CHSCP) is established in accordance with the Children Act 

2004 (as amended by the Children and Social Work Act 2017) 

and the statutory guidance issued within Working Together 

to Safeguard Children 2023.  The CHSCP’s safeguarding 

arrangements define how safeguarding partners, relevant 

agencies and other organisations work together to 

coordinate their safeguarding services.  These arrangements 

include details about how safeguarding partners identify 

and respond to the needs of children, commission and 

publish local child safeguarding practice reviews and 

provide for independent leadership and scrutiny.  The 

published arrangements are available HERE.

As set out in WT23, purpose of multi-agency safeguarding arrangements is to ensure 

that, at a local level, organisations and agencies are clear about how they will work 

together to safeguard children and promote their welfare. This means:

•	 There is a clear, shared vision for how to improve outcomes for children locally 
across all levels of need and all types of harm.

•	 When a child is identified as suffering or likely to suffer significant harm there is a 
prompt, appropriate and effective response to ensure the protection and support 
of the child.

•	 Organisations and agencies are challenged appropriately, effectively holding one 
another to account.

•	 The voice of children and families combined with the knowledge of experienced 
practitioners and insights from data, provides a greater understanding of the areas 
of strength and/or improvement within arrangements and practice.

•	 Information is sought, analysed, shared, and broken down by protected 
characteristics to facilitate more accurate and timely decision-making for children 
and families, and to understand outcomes for different communities of children.

•	 Effective collection, sharing and analysis of data, enables early identification of 
new safeguarding risks, issues, emerging threats, and joined-up responses across 
relevant agencies.

•	 Senior leaders promote and embed a learning culture which supports local 
services to become more reflective and implement changes to practice.

•	 Senior leaders have a good knowledge and understanding about the quality of 
local practice and its impact on children and families.

Summary Purpose

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT

P
age 82

https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/01/REVISED-2024-CHSCP-Safeguarding-Arrangements-.pdf


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

9THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW8

That all children in the  
City of London and Hackney  
are seen, heard and helped;  
they are effectively safeguarded, 
properly supported and their  
lives improved by everyone  
working together.

Vision

LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

P
age 83



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 10

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

As leaders across a range of organisations, the commitment of the CHSCP is to 

work together to make the lives of children safer by protecting them from harm; 

preventing impairment to their health and development, ensuring they receive 

safe and effective care; and ensuring a safe and nurturing environment for them 

to live in.  The CHSCP wants to make sure that everyone who works with children 

across the City of London and Hackney has the protection of vulnerable children 

and young people at the heart of what they do. In practice, this means that 

children are seen, heard and helped. 

Principles

Seen;   in the context of their lives at home, 

friendship circles, health, education and public 

spaces (both off-line and on-line).  

Heard;   by professionals taking time to hear 

what children and young people are saying - 

putting themselves in their shoes and thinking 

about what their life might truly be like. 

 

Helped;   by professionals remaining curious 

and by implementing timely, effective and 

imaginative solutions that help make children 

and young people safer. 

Worried about a child?
You must inform the Designated Safeguarding Lead without delay

Deputy Safeguarding Lead: 
Joanne Sweeney

SEEN

HEARD

HELPED

P
age 84



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

11THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW10

The CHSCP’s aim is to ensure that safeguarding practice and outcomes for children are at least good, and that staff and volunteers in every agency, 

at every level, know what they need to do to keep children protected, and communicate effectively to ensure this happens. All our activity is 

underpinned by the following principles:  

 

•	 The voice of communities. Improving our understanding of 
the diverse communities across the CHSCP’s footprint, we 
will regularly communicate with, listen to, and engage local 
communities in the work of the CHSCP. We will harness their 
experience to both inform and improve the way we safeguard 
and promote the welfare of children and young people.

•	 Enabling high quality safeguarding practice. We will 
promote awareness, improve knowledge and work in a way 
that is characterised by an attitude of constructive professional 
challenge.

•	 Fostering a culture of transparency. We will enable the 
CHSCP to learn from individual experience and continuously 
improve the quality of multi-agency practice. 

•	 Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility. As a partnership, we will 
champion the most vulnerable and maintain a single child-centred culture.

•	 Context is key. Capitalising on the unique opportunities presented by a 
dual-borough partnership, we will have an unswerving focus on both intra-
familial and extra-familial safeguarding contexts across the City of London 
and the London Borough of Hackney.

•	 Anti-Racist practice is key.  The CHSCP’s safeguarding arrangements are 
proactively anti-racist.  Our focus in this context moves beyond the rhetoric 
and is evident in our leadership, our practice and in the outcomes of the 
children, young people, and families we engage.  

•	 The voice of children and young people. We will collaborate with 
children and young people and use their lived experience to inform the 
way we work. We will regularly engage with them as part of our core 
business and ensure their voices help both design and improve our local 
multi-agency safeguarding arrangements.

P
age 85



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 12

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

The CHSCP’s Active 
Anti-Racist Charter
As a partnership responsible for safeguarding and 

promoting the welfare of all children, we have zero 

tolerance for racism, and we are committed to playing 

our part in eradicating it.  The CHSCP’s Active Anti-

Racism Charter sets out a framework to help us do 

just that. It describes a range of expectations for how 

racism can be tackled and how we can help children 

and their families see, hear and feel the change 

we seek. It also recognises the demographics of 

our local workforce and how for many of them, the 

impact of racism resonates in both their personal and 

professional lives.  Given the range of activity that is 

ongoing in this space, the Charter does not replace 

any single-agency initiatives, rather it provides the 

‘umbrella architecture’ against which organisations 

can test and create their own guidance.  All agencies 

represented on the CHSCP have formally agreed to 

its contents.  The Charter is referenced within our 

written safeguarding arrangements, and we expect all 

agencies to adhere to it. 

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 12

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

P
age 86

http://
http://


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

13THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW12 13LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

CHALLENGE

For the MPS and ICB LSPs, given their spans of control and responsibility for numerous jurisdictions, they are unable to fulfil their functions (in a 

local context) as defined in WT23. This sets out how LSPs should meet ‘sufficiently regularly’ with other LSPs, be ‘jointly responsible for ensuring 

the proper involvement of and oversight of all relevant agencies’, sign off key partnership documents, set the budget and ‘act as a team, as 

opposed to a voice for their agency alone’. Given these circumstances, the delegation of LSP functions is required. Paragraph 57 of WT23 allows 

for such delegation via its definition of a Delegated Safeguarding Partner.

Key Roles & Relationships

12

LEAD SAFEGUARDING PARTNERS
Lead Safeguarding Partners (LSPs) speak with authority for the safeguarding partner they 

represent, take decisions on behalf of their organisation or agency and commit them on policy, 

resourcing, and practice matters.  They also hold their own organisation or agency to account 

on how effectively they participate and implement the local arrangements. LSPs are expected 

to play an active role in the CHSCP’s arrangements. This is achieved via leadership within their 

respective agencies, 1:1s with the Independent Safeguarding Children Commissioner (ISCC) 

and the LSPs formally meeting as part of a ‘Safeguarding Assurance Group’. Safeguarding 

Assurance Groups include Delegated Safeguarding Partners (see below) and are held 

separately in the City of London and Hackney. These arrangements help to ensure that 

LSPs are fulfilling their joint statutory functions.  Over 2024/25, the LSPs for the CHSCP were:  

•	 Dawn Carter McDonald, Chief Executive of Hackney Council 

•	 Ian Thomas CBE, The Town Clerk of the City of London Corporation 

•	 Zina Etheridge, CEO Designate of NHS NEL 

•	 Matt Twist, Assistant Commissioner of the MPS 

•	 Pete O’Doherty, Commissioner, City of London Police 

STATUTORY SAFEGUARDING PARTNERS
A statutory safeguarding partner in relation to a local 

authority area in England is defined under the Children Act 

2004 (as amended by the Children and Social Work Act, 

2017) as the local authority, an integrated care board and 

the chief officer of police. 7.2 These three partners have a 

joint and equal duty to work together as a team (and with 

other organisations) to safeguard and promote the welfare 

of all children. Given the CHSCP covers both the City of 

London and the London Borough of Hackney, our local 

safeguarding partners comprise the following:

•	 Hackney Council

•	 The City of London Corporation

•	 NHS North East London Integrated Care Board (ICB) 

•	 The Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) 

•	 The City of London Police

P
age 87



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 14

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

DELEGATED SAFEGUARDING PARTNERS
Whilst remaining accountable for any actions or decisions taken on behalf 

of their agency, LSPs have each nominated a senior officer to deliver the 

CHSCP’s safeguarding arrangements. Known as Delegated Safeguarding 

Partners (DSPs), this group meets as the CHSCP Executive. They can speak 

with authority, take decisions on behalf of the LSPs and hold their sectors to 

account. The joint functions for DSPs are set out on page 29 of WT23.  For 

2024/25, the statutory DSPs were: 

•	 Judith Finlay, Executive Director of Children’s and Community Services 
(The City of London Corporation)

•	 Jacquie Burke, Group Director of Children & Education (Hackney Council)

•	 Diane Jones, Chief Nursing Officer (NHS NEL) 

•	 James Conway, Commander (Central East BCU, MPS) 

•	 Umer Khan, Commander (City of London Police) 

Jason Marantz, Hackney’s Director of Education and Inclusion and Mark 

Emmerson, the Chief Executive of the City of London Academies Trust 

were also standing members of the CHSCP Executive during 2024/25. This 

arrangement helped to ensure the engagement of education within the 

CHSCP’s safeguarding arrangements.   

PARTNERSHIP CHAIR
WT23 sets out that LSPs should appoint a DSP to be the partnership 

chair, with one of its core functions being to chair all meetings 

involving DSPs. By introducing the partnership chair, WT23 states 

that this ‘arrangement removes any need for a local area to maintain 

another chair or independent chair.’

CHALLENGE

Locally, it has been agreed there are exceptional 

circumstances that justify divergence from WT23.  

Supported by advice obtained from legal counsel, the 

CHSCP has decided to maintain its existing system of 

chairing. Over 2024/25, the Independent Safeguarding 

Children Commissioner continued to ‘facilitate and 

coordinate’ the Executive as part of his existing duties linked 

to independent leadership and scrutiny. This approach 

neither weakens nor undermines the ability of DSPs to 

deliver against their defined functions as set out in WT23. 

Further detail on the rationale supporting this arrangement 

has been published on the CHSCP’s website HERE.  

P
age 88

https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/02/Exceptional-Circumstances-Partnership-Chair-FAQs.pdf


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

15THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW14

THE INDEPENDENT SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN COMMISSIONER
The CHSCP’s approach to independent scrutiny is built on the fundamental premise that multiagency working neither happens by itself nor via the 

good will of dedicated staff.  Multi-agency work needs to be harnessed and driven and must at its heart be open to independent challenge to do better. 

It was for these reasons that the role of the Independent Safeguarding Children Commissioner (ISCC) was created in 2019, and whilst its functions 

incorporate those of an independent scrutineer, they extend beyond this. During 2024/25, Jim Gamble QPM continued as the ISCC.  He continued to 

provide independent leadership, advocacy and scrutiny and supported the CHSCP’s unambiguous focus on independence, whilst helping to deliver the 

necessary ‘grit’ in our system that drives our multi-agency working. The ISCC’s functions include: 

•	 Independently advocates by, for and on behalf of our children and families. 

•	 Provides assurance in judging the effectiveness of services to protect 
children. 

•	 Provides a rigorous and transparent assessment of the sufficiency of systems 
and processes that enable partner agencies to fulfil their statutory duties and 
ensure that children are protected. 

•	 Assists when there is disagreement between the leaders involved in multi-
agency arrangements. 

•	 Supports a culture and environment conducive to robust scrutiny and 
constructive challenge. 

•	 Assesses whether the safeguarding partners are fulfilling their statutory 
obligations. 

•	 Evaluates arrangements for the operation of the safeguarding 
partnership, including the purpose and functions of meetings, 
and recommend appropriate changes. 

•	 Confirms, or not, that effective performance management, audit 
and quality assurance mechanisms are in place within partner 
organisations which will support the safeguarding partners 
to fulfil their statutory obligations, and which will enable the 
partnership to identify and measure its success and impact. 

•	 Ensures that the safeguarding partners provide independent, 
robust and effective challenge to each other and to relevant 
agencies and other organisations.

P
age 89



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 16

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

RELEVANT AGENCIES
Safeguarding partners are obliged to set out which agencies are required to work as part of the CHSCP’s arrangements to safeguard and promote 

the welfare of local children. These agencies are referred to as relevant agencies and have a statutory duty to cooperate with the CHSCP’s published 

arrangements. A defined number of relevant agencies will meet regularly with safeguarding partners through the City of London Safeguarding Children 

Partnership Board and the Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership Board.  Others are invited when deemed necessary and/or be included in 

various sub-groups / thematic groups.  The relevant agencies to which the CHSCP’s safeguarding arrangements apply includes all those agencies 

defined in part 4 of the Child Safeguarding Practice Review and Relevant Agency (England) Regulations 2018. They include:

•	 Homerton Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust

•	 East London NHS Foundation Trust (ELFT)

•	 All schools (including independent schools, academies, and free schools), 
colleges and other educational providers. 

•	 The Probation Service (London Division)

•	 Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service (CAFCASS)

•	 Hackney Council for Voluntary Services (HCVS)

•	 London Ambulance Service (LAS)

•	 London Fire Brigade (LFB)

•	 NHS England

•	 All registered charities within the geographic area of the CHSCP 
whose staff / volunteers work with or come into contact with 
children and their families.

P
age 90



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

17THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW16

SCHOOLS, COLLEGES, EDUCATIONAL AND  
EARLY YEARS SETTINGS 
The CHSCP recognises the vital role of schools (including independent 

schools, academies, and free schools), colleges, educational establishments 

and early years settings in safeguarding and promoting the welfare of 

children and young people. All are designated as relevant agencies within 

the CHSCP’s safeguarding arrangements and have a statutory duty to 

cooperate with safeguarding partners. Whilst work is ongoing to explore 

better ways to involve education within our arrangements, the following 

mechanisms are in place to help achieve this:

•	 The Director of Hackney Education and Inclusion and a CEO of an 
Academy Trust being standing members of the CHSCP Executive 

•	 In the City of London, engagement of all schools (and the City of 
London Corporation’s Children’s Centre) is secured through its 
Safeguarding Education Forum. 

•	 In Hackney, schools and Children’s Centres continue to be supported 
via the Designated Safeguarding Leads Forum, Head Teacher briefings 
and the work of Hackney Education. 

•	 For Private, Voluntary and Independent Early Years settings in both 
the City of London and Hackney, support and services are available 
through the work of the Hackney Education and respective forums in 
both local authority areas. 

•	 Schools, educational establishments and early years settings are 
also engaged as part of the CHSCP’s Learning and Improvement 
Framework and other activity as required. This may include 
representation at CHSCP Sub Groups and Thematic Groups.

EVIDENCE AND IMPROVEMENT 

Further to the implementation of Working Together to 

Safeguard Children 2023, and the proposed changes in 

the Children’s Wellbeing and Schools Bill, the CHSCP is 

seeking to change the way it engages Headteachers within 

its key governance forums.  It was recently agreed that a 

headteacher representative will be sought for the CHSCP 

Executive group and expressions of interest have been 

encouraged from those wanting to join the Hackney Board.  

Integrating Headteachers more formally into the CHSCP’s 

architecture reinstates a successful arrangement that was 

in place before 2019. We believe their reintroduction will 

provide the partnership with crucial expertise, advice, and 

constructive challenge. 

Furthermore, Headteachers will serve as a vital link to the 

broader education system. Their direct experience of the 

daily realities faced by children and young people, coupled 

with their insight into school-based safeguarding practices, 

will significantly strengthen the CHSCP’s strategic oversight 

and decision-making. This ensures the voice of education is 

clearly heard and fully integrated into our collective efforts  

to protect our children.

P
age 91



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 18

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

OTHER ORGANISATIONS 
Safeguarding partners can also include any local or national organisation or 

agency in their arrangements regardless of whether they are named relevant 

agencies.  Whilst not under the same statutory duty, there remains an expectation 

of compliance, with legal powers existing to ensure this in defined areas. For 

example, Section 16H of the Children Act 2004 contains a wider power exercisable 

by the safeguarding partners to request a ‘person or body’ to provide information to 

them.  There is no limitation or definition of ‘person or body’ therefore the request 

can be made to anyone.  Local organisations named by the CHSCP include all ‘Out 

of School Settings’ (providing tuition, training, instruction or activities without the 

supervision of parents or carers) and Social Housing providers.

DESIGNATED AND NAMED PROFESSIONALS 
The Designated and Named Doctors and Nurses for Safeguarding Children take a 

strategic and professional lead on all aspects of the health service contribution to 

safeguarding children. Designated and named professionals are a vital source of 

professional expertise. They have continued to demonstrate their value by offering 

insight, challenge and support to partners.

THE CHSCP TEAM
The CHSCP continues to be supported by a dedicated group of staff.  The core 

team includes a Senior Professional Advisor, a Training Coordinator and  

a Partnership Coordinator.  

TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 18

P
age 92



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

19THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW18

Independent Scrutiny

In terms of independent scrutiny of the CHSCP’s arrangements, activity acts as 

a constructive critical friend. Such scrutiny is embedded in the culture of how 

the CHSCP operates and how cross-agency challenge from one agency to 

another can provide both a level of independence and the support needed for 

improvement. It is also part of a wider system which includes the independent 

inspectorates’ assessment of safeguarding partners, relevant agencies, and 

the partnership itself via the Joint Targeted Area Inspection’s regime. It similarly 

features as a fundamental principle of the CHSCP’s approach to learning 

and improvement, reflecting the partnership’s commitment to independent 

challenge and support. It includes: 

•	 Agencies being subject to external inspection and positively responding to 
any findings and recommendations for practice improvement. 

•	 An ISCC being appointed by LSPs, reporting to them and given the 
authority to coordinate the independent scrutiny of the local child 
safeguarding arrangements. This includes the ISCC’s ‘right to roam’ and 
their ability to access relevant information that tests the sufficiency of the 
CHSCP’s safeguarding arrangements. 

•	 The ISCC being fundamentally independent from local organisations and 
holding significant experience of operating at a senior level in the strategic 
coordination of multi-agency safeguarding services. •

•	 The ISCC providing independent leadership (through engagement, 
commentary, and lobbying) in respect of local matters relevant to the 
safeguarding of children and young people. 

•	 The ISCC holding both safeguarding partners and relevant agencies 
to account for their effectiveness in safeguarding children and young 
people. This will ensure ongoing alignment with the existing statutory 
arrangements for safeguarding adult boards. 

•	 The ISCC engaging with LSPs partners as part of routine 1:1 
sessions, and as part of the Safeguarding Assurance Group 
meetings. 

•	 The ISCC chairing the CHSCP Executive. 

•	 The ISCC chairing the Safeguarding Children Partnership Boards in 
the City and Hackney. 

•	 The ISCC chairing the Case Review Sub Group to ensure 
fundamentally independent decision making in respect of the 
instigating and oversight of reviews. 

•	 A Senior Professional Advisor (SPA) being appointed by 
safeguarding partners and working on behalf of the ISCC to lead 
the CHSCP support team. 

•	 The SPA chairing the Quality Assurance Sub Group and being 
responsible for the delivery of the CHSCP’s overall Learning and 
Improvement Framework. 

•	 The ISCC providing an objective and independent assessment of 
the effectiveness of the safeguarding arrangements as part of an 
annual reporting cycle. 

•	 The ISCC being engaged in resolving operational disputes through 
the CHSCP’s dispute resolution protocol. 

•	 Safeguarding partners, relevant agencies and the ISCC actively 
strengthening networks and building opportunities for local peer 
review and sector-led support. Where available, this includes 
independent support as negotiated with safeguarding partners in 
other local authority areas and/or any such support coordinated via 
the Local Government Association and the London Safeguarding 
Children Partnership. 

•	 The CHSCP commissioning external scrutiny as part of its Learning 
and Improvement Framework to help provide independent 
reassurance on the quality of practice.

18

P
age 93



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 20

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

CHSCP Structure 2024-2025

20

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

Independent 
Safeguarding  

Children
Commissioner

Statutory Safeguarding 
Partners

The Executive

Hackney  
Safeguarding Children 

Partnership Board

City of London 
Safeguarding Children 

Partnership Board

Case 
Review

Quality 
Assurance

Training, 
Learning & 

Development

Thematic Sub-
Groups/ Task & 

Finish Groups

Strategic Links to:

•	 Hackney Health & Wellbeing 
Board

•	 Hackney Community Safety 
Partnership

•	 Hackney CYP Scrutiny

•	 Safer City Partnership

•	 City of London Health & 
Wellbeing Board

•	 City of London Safeguarding 
Commission

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

P
age 94



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

21THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW2020

•	 Set the strategic direction, vision, and culture of the local safeguarding 
arrangements, including agreeing and reviewing shared priorities and the 
resource required to deliver services effectively.

•	 Lead their organisation’s individual contribution to the shared priorities, 
ensuring strong governance, accountability, and reporting mechanisms to 
hold their delegates to account for the delivery of agency commitments.

•	 Review and sign off key partnership documents: published multi-agency 
safeguarding arrangements, including plans for independent scrutiny, 
shared annual budget, yearly report, and local threshold document.

•	 Provide shared oversight of learning from independent scrutiny, serious 
incidents, local child safeguarding practice reviews, and national reviews, 
ensuring recommendations are implemented and have a demonstrable 
impact on practice (as set out in the yearly report).

•	 Ensure multi-agency arrangements have the necessary level of 
business support, including intelligence and analytical functions, 
such as an agreed data set providing oversight and a robust 
understanding of practice.

•	 Ensure all relevant agencies, including education settings, are 
clear on their role and contribution to multi-agency safeguarding 
arrangements. 

•	 Ensure how the experiences of children and families shape 
the delivery of local arrangements, in particular how those with 
protected characteristics engage in service design.

•	 LSPs will also maintain oversight of the key risks within the 
local safeguarding arrangements and the effectiveness of the 
partnership in mitigating these.    

SAFEGUARDING ASSURANCE GROUPS
LSPs in Hackney and the City of London formally meet with the ISCC and DSPs to collectively consider the sufficiency of the local safeguarding 

arrangements and to fulfil their defined functions as set out on page 27 of Working Together to Safeguard Children 2023.   LSPs are jointly responsible 
for ensuring the proper involvement of and oversight of all relevant agencies, and should act as a team, as opposed to a voice for their agency alone. They 

P
age 95

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6849a7b67cba25f610c7db3f/Working_together_to_safeguard_children_2023_-_statutory_guidance.pdf


THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 22

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

THE CHSCP EXECUTIVE
The CHSCP Executive comprises the DSPs from both the City 
of London and Hackney and includes representation from the 
education sector. It is established for the purposes of DSPs 
discharging their functions as set out on page 29 of Working 
Together to Safeguard Children 2023. DSPs are sufficiently 
senior to be able to speak with authority, take decisions on 
behalf of the LSP and hold their sectors to account. The DSPs 
should have the authority to carry out these functions, while 
ultimate accountability remains with the LSP as the individual 
responsible for the delivery of the statutory duties of the 
safeguarding partners. Through the CHSCP Executive, DSPs 
maintain oversight of the quality and compliance of the delivery 
of agreed shared priorities. Processes are in place to provide 
assurance that multiagency practice is reviewed and operating 
well. Where this is not evident, DSPs should have the capacity 
and resource from their own agencies to engage, respond 
and improve operational systems and practice.  The Terms of 
Reference for the CHSCP Executive can be read HERE.

As part of its continued commitment towards transparency, 

the CHSCP Executive publishes summaries of its meetings.  

These can be found HERE.

SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP BOARDS
The Safeguarding Children Partnership Boards in Hackney and the City of London 
are established by safeguarding partners to drive the work of the CHSCP. They are 
tasked with ensuring ongoing collaboration of safeguarding partners and relevant 
agencies in their work to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and young 
people. These groups comprise representatives from safeguarding partners and 
several relevant agencies.  They include named and designated professionals.  
Both are independently chaired by the ISCC and are responsible for delivering 
the CHSCP business plan.  The Terms of Reference for both Boards can be found 
HERE, with the core membership of each being available HERE.  

EVIDENCE

The Boards in the City of London and Hackney met quarterly during 2024/25.  

For each meeting, Board members are expected to submit partner agency 

updates that focus on key issues within their respective agencies alongside 

a specific theme identified for deeper scrutiny.  Over the reporting period, 

these themes included a focus on how agencies were communicating 

and responding to the lessons identified by the CHSCP’s learning and 

improvement framework, the support and services provided between 3pm 

and 7pm (where the risk of youth violence, exploitation and extra-familial harm 

can increase), how agencies are engaged in the Prevent agenda and a general 

update on progress.  

P
age 96

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6849a7b67cba25f610c7db3f/Working_together_to_safeguard_children_2023_-_statutory_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6849a7b67cba25f610c7db3f/Working_together_to_safeguard_children_2023_-_statutory_guidance.pdf
https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/06/Updated-ToR-The-CHSCP-Exec.pdf
https://chscp.org.uk/executive-meeting-summaries/
https://www.chscp.org.uk/our-arrangements/
https://www.chscp.org.uk/members-and-partners/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

23THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW22

EVIDENCE

The Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership 

Board and the City of London Safeguarding 

Children Partnership Board repeatedly discussed 

the impact of the new national guidance, Working 

Together to Safeguard Children 2023, particularly 

the proposal for a partnership chair. This raised 

concerns about decision-making authority. 

The unique dual-borough partnership between 

Hackney and the City of London was a key 

consideration in these discussions. By March 2025, 

new arrangements were approved, and the risk of 

the CHSCP being uninfluential as a strategic body 

was lowered from red to amber.

The CHSCP’s Risk Register and Operational Risk 

Register were standing items, with some concerns 

focusing on data. A new risk was added for the 

Met Police’s Connect system due to challenges 

with data accuracy and delays in reporting. 

Disagreements over the risk rating of birth data 

also highlighted persistent issues with data-

sharing agreements between agencies.

Updates on case reviews were also a consistent agenda item. The boards 

considered Rapid Reviews and Local Child Safeguarding Practice reviews.  A 

significant concern discussed at both boards was the potential for an Information 

Sharing Protocol (drafted in response to the Child Q review) to undermine the 

independence of learning reviews.  This was resolved through engagement with 

the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel, who agreed to remove the primary 

issues of concern raised by the CHSCP (that sharing of interview records and other 

material between learning and conduct processes would be automatic).  An ‘advisory 

framework’ responding to this issue was subsequently issued by the Panel and IOPC.

The funding for the IRIS domestic violence service was a major point of discussion. 

In 2024, the boards were briefed that Public Health intended to withdraw funding, as 

they felt it was not an appropriate use of their budget. The potential loss was seen as 

a significant risk. By March 2025, the risk was mitigated for the short term, as the NHS 

North East London ICB agreed to take on the full cost for the 2025/26 financial year 

while a long-term business case was being developed.

GP Patient Access System: A presentation in June 2024 highlighted the new system 

that gives patients online access to their medical records, including correspondence 

from children’s social care. It was recommended that professionals are reminded of 

the requirement to redact sensitive data.

Continued overleaf.

P
age 97



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 24

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE CONTINUED 

The City of London pilot of the GCP2 toolkit for identifying neglect was discussed. The tool was found to have a small but positive impact, 

helping practitioners distinguish low-level neglect. The board decided to continue its use and closed the related action.

The Prevent team in the City of London gave a detailed presentation on their program in March 2025, in light of a national incident. The City 

board requested a piece of work, through audit or a themed approach, around the increased vulnerability of neurodivergent children to 

pathways of radicalisation.

The boards regularly received updates on inspection outcomes and was also updated on several new and ongoing projects.  Some examples 

include:

•	 New Children’s Homes: An initiative to open two new children’s homes in Hackney was presented. These homes are intended to keep 

children with complex needs in the borough, providing a stable environment and improving care quality while also reducing costs.

•	 School-Based Health Services: A new service was presented, designed to provide flexible, targeted healthcare for schools using a 

neighbourhood model and digital tools.

•	 Immunisation Strategy: A new strategy was presented to improve vaccination coverage and address inequalities. A key concern was the 

ad-hoc nature of government funding and the upcoming end of MMR catch-up funding.

•	 Trauma-Informed Guidance: New guidance for child victims of domestic abuse was developed and shared to promote a system-wide 

trauma-informed response.

P
age 98



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

25THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW24

CHSCP EXECUTIVE

1000=1000= 
1000=1000=
660+660+330= 330= 
500+500+500= 500= 
800+800+200=200=

Attendance

Organisation Jun 24 Aug 24 Oct 24 Dec 24
Dec 24 
(Hackney 
DSPs)

Jan 

2024
Attendance

City of London Corporation 100%

Hackney Council 100%

NHS NEL 66.6%

MPS 50%

COL Police 80%

P
age 99



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 26

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

1000=1000= 
750+750+250=250=
250+250+750= 750= 
1000=1000=  
1000=1000=
1000=1000=
1000=1000=
1000=1000=
500+500+500=500=
1000=1000=
500+500+500=500=
1000=1000=

HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP BOARD

Organisation Jun 24 Sep 24 Nov 24 Mar 25 Attendance

CAFCASS 100%

Hackney Education 75%

London Fire Brigade 25%

Hackney Children & Families Service 100%

Hackney Community & Voluntary Service 0%

Homerton Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 100%

NHS North East London (City & Hackney) 100%

East London NHS Foundation Trust 100%

Hackney Housing Services 50%

Metropolitan Police Service 100%

Probation Service 50%

Public Health 100%

P
age 100



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

27THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW26

666+666+334=334= 
1000=1000=
1000=1000=  
333+333+667=667=  
1000=1000=
666+666+334=334=
1000=1000=
666+666+334=334=
333+333+667=667=

CITY OF LONDON SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP BOARD

Organisation Jun 24 Sep 24 
Ofsted Nov 24 Mar 25 Attendance

CAFCASS 66.6%

City of London Children’s Services 100%

East London NHS Foundation Trust 100%

London Fire Brigade 33.3%

Homerton Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 100%

NHS NEL 66.6%

City of London Police 100%

Probation Service 66.6%

Public Health 33.3%

P
age 101



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 28

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

Expenditure

Reviews £32,650

Staffing and Travel £326,282

Training, Learning & Development £17,322

Printing, Supplies and Equipment £4,320

Venues & Miscellaneous £6,874

Total Expenditure £387,448

Financial Arrangements

Income

Hackney Council £227,317

City of London Corporation (incl. CoL Police) £29,480

Hackney Education £24,480

East London NHS Foundation Trust £24,480

North East London ICB £12,000

Homerton Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust £12,000

Metropolitan Police Service £5,000

Probation Service (London Division) £3,051

Use of Reserves £31,517

Total Income £419,325

IMPACT

As part of its Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) programme, INEQE Safeguarding Group continues to support the local partnership in 

the production of its annual report. 

P
age 102

https://ineqe.com/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

29THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW28

Communication

CHSCP WEBSITE

Number of unique visitors to the site: 

17,720
Increase of 1,553

Monthly average of visitors:

1,477

Visitors from the UK

11,553 (66%)

6,167 (33%)
Global Visitors

9,923 (66%)
Visitors used an organic search 
(search engine)

6,656 (37%)
Visitors used direct search  
(url bar)

1,063 (6%)
Other traffic sources

117 (1%)
Referred via Social Media

29THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

P
age 103



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 30

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

PAGE INTERACTION
10 most popular web pages

Homepage 
7,754 views

Early Help in Hackney 
1,507 views

Allegations Against Professionals 
762 views

Case Reviews 
2,853 views

Child Safeguarding Practice 
Review – Child Q  1,290 views

Child Safeguarding Statements 
713 views

Key People 
1,935 views

Our Arrangements 
1118 views

Learning & Improvement 
1,851 views

E-Learning  
809 views

www.chscp.org.uk

P
age 104

https://chscp.org.uk/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

31THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW30

PRIVATE FOSTERING APP
The CHSCP continues to promote its Private Fostering App. 

Alongside providing information about private fostering, the 

App includes a training module and other important advice 

for safeguarding professionals. 

TUSK BRIEFINGS
The CHSCP produces e-briefings called ‘TUSK’ briefings  

(Things You Should Know). These are circulated to subscribers and 

cascaded by safeguarding partners, relevant agencies and named 

organisations. The number of subscribers to the TUSK fluctuated 

between 1,416-1,476 subscribers during 2024-2025, with an average 

of 1,446 each month.  This is a drop from the maximum of 1,680 

subscribers noted the previous year.   

 

Published TUSK briefings can be found HERE.

YOUTUBE
The CHSCP has produced several video guides covering a range 

of safeguarding topics. These can be viewed HERE. 

These have attracted 9,987 views to date, an increase of 4,546 views 

in comparison to the previous reporting period.  

LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

P
age 105

https://www.chscp.org.uk/private-fostering-3/
https://www.chscp.org.uk/chscb-briefings/
https://www.youtube.com/@chscp4170


THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 32

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

32

Progress 
2024/25

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

P
age 106



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

33THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW3232

The CHSCP’s Priorities

P
R

IO
R

IT
Y

 1 The CHSCP Executive and both Boards consistently monitors this priority through 

the CHSCP’s risk register, where workforce health and stability remain as a 

standing risk. Meetings regularly address issues related to workforce stability, 

capacity, and well-being, particularly in the context of financial pressures and 

new legislation.

A key concern over 2024/25 was the significant organisational change and 

restructuring taking place across many organisations. For instance, throughout 

the reporting period, Hackney Children and Families Service (HCFS) began to 

implement a flatter management structure aimed at increasing the number of 

permanent staff and improving stability. This included a restructure of the MASH 

to reduce social work roles while strengthening early help positions. These 

financial and structural changes are a direct response to budget constraints. 

Additionally, the new Families First Partnership Programme, a major government 

reform, is seen as a potential "seismic shift" for the partnership that will require 

considerable focus, resources, and effort. Underpinned by changes to statutory 

guidance and proposals in the Children's Wellbeing and Schools Bill, these 

reforms—along with new duties, such as those related to children educated at 

home—introduce a risk of ‘organisational churn’ and workforce stability concerns.

Financial pressures are indeed prompting many 

organisations to implement significant cost-

saving measures. In relation to the Families 

First reforms, concerns have been raised 

that agencies will be competing for a limited 

pool of qualified professionals. Meetings also 

highlighted the difficulty in recruiting for roles 

such as designated nurses for looked after 

children.  The need for updated training and 

professional development remains crucial in the 

context of these legislative and policy changes. 

The new reforms will introduce "differently 

qualified staff," but clear guidance on their 

training requirements is not yet available 

from the Department for Education (DfE). This 

creates a need for cohesive, joined-up training 

across all agencies. Inter-agency collaboration 

and communication remain central to managing 

these workforce challenges.

THE HEALTH & STABILITY OF THE SAFEGUARDING WORKFORCE

P
age 107



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 34

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

P
R

IO
R

IT
Y

 2 Partners are continuing to consider 

and advance their focus on anti-

racist practice, with the Executive 

launching the CHSCP’s Active Anti-

Racist Charter during 2024/25. The 

charter is designed as an umbrella 

document to be used alongside 

existing organisational policies, 

guiding the partnership’s efforts. 

The Executive Group decided that 

the charter’s impact would be 

measured at Board level through 

partner updates in 2025/26 and 

via existing scrutiny processes like 

audits and reviews. 

ACTIVE ANTI-RACIST 
PRACTICE

P
R

IO
R

IT
Y

 3 Examples of the progress made 

against this priority included in 

the Learning & Improvement 

section of this report.  There 

is good evidence that this has 

remained a central theme at 

both a strategic level and as 

part of direct practice within the 

City of London and Hackney. 

THE VOICE OF CHILDREN 
AND YOUNG PEOPLE

TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 34

P
age 108



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

35THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW34

P
R

IO
R

IT
Y

 4
The CHSCP maintained its priority on keeping its 

local policies and guidance up to date and routinely 

promoting these via its TUSK briefings.  Practice 

in many areas of safeguarding children is good as 

reflected in the outcomes of inspection activity.  

The City of London Corporation was rated as 

Outstanding in its 2024 inspection.  This highlighted, 

‘Children living or arriving in the City of London receive 

excellent services that are making a significant 

difference to their lives. Starting from the very strong 

service seen at the last inspection, a highly effective 

senior leadership team has developed services further 

and continued to make improvements’,  

In Hackney, its Ofsted inspection undertaken in 

2024 identified, ‘MASH social workers recognise and 

understand risk to children living in homes where there 

is domestic abuse and conflict, substance misuse and 

alcohol misuse. Workers respond quickly to immediate 

risks. They exercise professional curiosity and consider 

the family’s history and past incidents in context, 

involving the multi-agency network when required. 

Children and their families are quickly directed to the 

most suitable agency to intervene and support them’.

GETTING THE BASICS RIGHT

In January 2025, the Met Police was assessed as having made 

improvements and was removed from an enhanced level of monitoring 

by the police inspectorate.  His Majesty’s Inspector of Constabulary Lee 

Freeman said: “I am pleased with the good progress that the Metropolitan 

Police Service has made so far. Whilst there is still a significant amount of 

work to do, I have recommended removing the service from our enhanced 

level of monitoring, known as Engage, and return it to routine monitoring.  

I am reassured by the plans that the commissioner has put in place to 

continue making sustainable improvements. We will continue to monitor the 

progress of the Metropolitan Police Service to make sure those living and 

working in the capital are getting the service they deserve from their force.”

In July 2025, the Police Efficiency, Effectiveness and Legitimacy 

assessment of the City of London Police was published by HMICFRS.  

This identified:  “The City of London Police is outstanding in how and when 

it records crime. This improvement is testament to the force’s investment 

of time, effort and resources in crime recording. The force has also 

significantly improved the timeliness with which it records crime. This means 

investigations and support for victims begins sooner. I was pleased to find 

improvements in the management and scrutiny of criminal investigations. 

The force has invested in governance and performance processes to 

improve and maintain its investigative standards. This has led to continued 

performance improvements. Overall, we found that investigations were 

thorough and well supervised. Investigators look for opportunities to bring 

offenders to justice, even when victims are unwilling or unable to proceed.”

34

P
age 109



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 36

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

P
R

IO
R

IT
Y

 5 Progress against this priority remains 

strong.  Whether through reviews, 

auditing or other activity, the CHSCP’s 

Learning & Improvement framework 

continues to identify lessons and drive 

practice improvement.  Our local focus 

on independent leadership and scrutiny 

via the ISCC remains a key component 

in this context.  During 2024/25, the 

Boards tested the effectiveness of how 

learning was being cascaded to front-

line practitioners. 

THE APPETITE TO LEARN

P
R

IO
R

IT
Y

 6 During 2024/25, progress in respect of the 

UES agenda remained slow on a practical 

level.  Changes are awaited from the 

Children’s Wellbeing and Schools Bill.  If 

passed into legislation, there is likely to be 

a degree of regulatory shape introduced.  

Whilst welcome, there remain concerns 

about the impact of the enhanced monitoring 

regime for children who are electively home 

educated.  There are also concerns about 

the potential loopholes that could exist 

by way of UES still being able to operate 

broadly as they are (with reduced hours) – 

hence avoiding registration and regulation.  

In April 2025, the CHSCP’s ISCC issued a 

public statement on this matter.  This can be 

read HERE.

MAKING THE INVISIBLE VISIBLE

P
age 110

https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/04/ISCC-Statement-UES-April-25.pdf


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

37THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW36

The City of London, often referred to as the “Square Mile,” is characterized by its small residential population 

and a significant working population. According to the 2021 Census, the residential population is 8,579, while 

the daily workforce is almost 615,000 (Office for National Statistics 2022). The residential demographic is notably 

young, with a large proportion of working-age residents. Only 14% of the population are aged 65 or over, and 

around 8% are under 18. This youthful trend is complemented by high life expectancy rates; between 2013 

and 2017, life expectancy at birth was 88.8 years for males and 90.7 years for females, which is higher than the 

national average.

The City’s demographic composition also reveals interesting patterns in family life, housing, and diversity. There 

are approximately 430 families with 713 children under 18, residing in 4,900 households, with an average size 

of 1.7 people. The area is ethnically diverse, with 42% of residents identifying as being from a Black and Global 

Majority background. There is a large Asian population (16.8% of the population), many of whom live on the east 

side of the City of London. While a place of great affluence, the Square Mile also has pockets of deprivation, with 

the Portsoken ward being among the top 20% most deprived areas in the country. To address housing needs, the 

City Corporation owns 1,923 social rented homes across 12 estates, with two located within the Square Mile and 

the rest spread across six London boroughs.

Within the City, there is one maintained primary school, four independent schools and several higher 

educational establishments. It has no maintained secondary schools. Most children attending these schools 

come from other boroughs and most of the local authority’s secondary school age children go to school outside 

of the City.

Healthcare provision in the City of London is unique due to its dense workforce and small residential base. The 

Neaman Practice is the only NHS GP practice within the City’s boundaries, primarily serving residents in the 

northwest. Due to proximity and accessibility, approximately 20% of residents, particularly those in the eastern 

wards like Portsoken, are registered with GP practices in the neighbouring borough of Tower Hamlets.

City of London  
Safeguarding Snapshot 2024/25

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 37

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT

P
age 111



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 38

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2022/23 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT

children under 18 ↑ (Census 2021)

8.3% of total population (Census 2021)

of children in primary 

schools in receipt of free 

school meals ↔

cases referred / 

stepped down to the 

City’s Early Help Team ↑

Team around 

the Family (TAF) 

meetings held ↓

children going  

missing from care 

during 2024/25 ↑

children going 

missing from home 

during 2024/25 ↑

contacts to the City 

Children & Families 

Team Hub ↓

Referrals ↓ re-referrals ↑

statutory social work  

assessments completed by  

The City Children & Families Team ↑

of assessments 

completed within 

45 days ↓

child protection 

investigations ↓

children on a Child 

Protection Plan as of 

March 2025 ↔

Children in Need 

as of March 2025 ↓

children looked 

after as of March 

2025 ↑

MARAC meeting 

cases involved 

children ↑

contacts to  

the LADO ↑

Private Fostering 

arrangements as of 

March 2025 ↔

713 23.2% 24 26

6 3 709

11 5 3 122 0

6 28 63%

58 16%

P
age 112



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

39THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW38 39THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2022/23 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOWPROGRESS 2022/23

According to the 2021 Census, Hackney’s population stood at 259,200, Hackney ranked 68th 

for total population out of 309 local authority areas in England, which is a fall of two places 

in a decade.  Hackney remains a relatively young borough with almost half of its population 

between 22-45 years old. That said, overall population sizes for under 19 and under 24 years old 

have declined slightly from 25.1% and 33.9% respectively since 2011. 

Hackney is defined as a super-diverse borough. Almost 40% of the population was born outside 

of the UK. There is a significant ‘Other White’, Black and Turkish/Kurdish communities. A large 

Charedi Jewish community is concentrated in the North East of the borough. 89 different main 

languages are spoken in Hackney, out of a total across England of 96 main languages.  Just over 

a third of Hackney’s residents have stated on the Census they had ‘no religion’; followed by the 

second largest group who are Christian. Hackney has significantly more people of the Jewish 

and Muslim faiths than England.

Hackney continues to face significant economic and social challenges despite being a hub 

for creative and tech industries. It has the third highest rate of income deprivation in London. 

Over 1 in 100 residents were destitute in 2022, equating to almost 1,600 households. Hackney 

has the 7th highest number of children living in low-income families of any borough in London, 

with the highest concentration in the North of the borough. With regards to child poverty, this 

is 25% for children living in income deprived households or 43% when defined as ‘children not 

having enough resources to meet minimum needs, including taking part in society’. This places 

Hackney as the third highest rate of child poverty in London.  There are over 8,500 households 

on Hackney’s housing waiting list, many of whom are living in overcrowded conditions.

Hackney 
Safeguarding Snapshot 
2023/24

Crime levels have fallen between 2019/20 and 

2022/23 in Hackney with 1,913 fewer victims. Hackney 

has recently seen reductions in serious youth 

violence, gun crime, knife injuries (under 24 years), 

knife possession, and lethal barrelled discharges.  

Referrals to the Domestic Violence Intervention 

Service have reverted to pre-pandemic levels of 

around 25 referrals a week. 

The education system in Hackney is characterized by 

a mix of primary and secondary schools. The borough 

has a notable number of “Outstanding” schools rated 

by Ofsted.  In 2024, Hackney ranked 35th of all local 

authorities on the percentage of pupils achieving 

a Good Level of Development. Historic attainment 

gaps persist in 2023. For Key Stage 2 pupils (age 

11), Hackney is ranked 6th of all local authorities 

nationally on the percentage of pupils achieving 

the expected standard in reading, writing and 

maths.  At KS4 (end of Year 11), Hackney is in the top 

twenty local authorities nationally.  Performance of 

economically disadvantaged and Special Educational 

Needs and Disabilities pupils are consistently strong.

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 39

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

P
age 113



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 40

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

children and young people under 18

21% of total population

of under 16s 

live in a low-

income family 

57,291 22.1%Approximately

of primary pupils 

eligible for free  

school meals

41.1%
of secondary pupils 

eligible for free school 

meals

48.9%

families with 

children under 5 

received Early Help 

MAT intervention 

609
new early help cases 

(families) identified 

and supported through 

the MAT process 

407
contacts to 

Hackney CFS 

14,649
referrals

3,653

re-referrals
20%

assessments 

completed by 

Hackney CFS 

3,439
of assessments 

were completed 

within 45 days 

91%
child protection 

investigations 

1,352
Children on a Child 

Protection Plan as of 

March 2024 

215
children & young 

people looked after as 

of March 2024 

382

P
age 114



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

41THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW40

MARAC meetings involving 

children and young people living 

in families with domestic violence 

296
contacts to 

the LADO 

463
Private Fostering 

arrangements as of 

March 2024 

15

young people accessed 

universal services offered 

through Young Hackney 

14,290
young people received 

targeted support through 

Young Hackney 

1,310

children entered 

care during 

2023/24 

133
care leavers aged between 17 

and 21 were being supported 

by the Leaving Care Service 

334
children allocated for 

direct work with the 

Clinical Service in 2023/24 

243

41PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

P
age 115



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 42

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

Safeguarding Partners & 
Relevant Agencies 

During 2024/25, many agencies focused on strengthening their safeguarding frameworks and 

improving data management. The Met Police has addressed three causes of concern identified 

by HMICFRS, including improving its response to missing children and tackling victim-blaming 

language. They also launched a new “Child First” strategy, which aims to treat those under 

18 as children first, identifying their vulnerabilities and understanding their circumstances. 

Similarly, the City of London Police has recruited new staff and improved processes for child 

sexual abuse material (CSAM) investigations. The East London Foundation Trust (ELFT) has 

a robust safeguarding governance framework and has improved its process for reporting 

referrals to Children’s Social Care by mandating staff to complete an incident report form 

alongside any referral. 

Numerous agencies have implemented new training and development initiatives. The City 

& Hackney Public Health Service has made children and adult level 1 safeguarding training 

mandatory for all staff. The National Probation Service has delivered updated training on 

safeguarding children and adults, as well as domestic violence, and has established stronger 

connections with specialist services. 

Agencies are also making progress in 

service delivery and strategic planning. 

The City of London Children’s Social Care 

and Early Help received an “Outstanding” 

Ofsted rating and has a stable workforce. 

Hackney Children and Families Service 

(CFS) also received a “Good” rating 

from its Ofsted inspection. Homerton 

Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (HHFT) 

has developed new integrated pathways 

for Children’s Occupational Therapy to 

improve patient safety and reduce risks. 

Additionally, Hackney CFS has opened 

a Care Leavers Hub and is planning to 

open internal Children’s Homes.

42THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

P
age 116



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

43THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW4242

Collaboration and a multi-agency approach are key themes in 

good practice. NHS NEL and its partners developed a trauma-

informed response for child victims of domestic abuse, creating 

a guidance document with relevant resources for professionals. 

Agencies are also focusing on person-centred and holistic 

support, such as Homerton’s Enhanced Health Visiting Service that 

is helping to identify early risk among vulnerable families. 

Many agencies face financial constraints and workforce 

challenges. The Metropolitan Police Service has a £260 million 

budget deficit, which will lead to a reduction of approximately 

1,700 staff, with the majority being officers. Hackney Council faces 

a financial challenge, needing to save £52 million over the next 

three years. Homerton Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust and other 

provider organisations face financial pressures to meet saving 

targets and are challenged by the ongoing recruitment difficulties 

for specialist children’s roles.

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

There is also a growing concern about the rising complexity of cases and the gap between 

concerns and statutory thresholds. ELFT reports a sustained rise in emotional distress and 

self-harm among children and young people. The City of London Corporation Education 

and Skills Services noted an increase in children with social, emotional, and mental 

health (SEMH) issues, which has impacted school attendance. CAMHS teams across ELFT 

and HHFT are managing more complex cases involving a mix of mental health issues, 

exploitation, and neglect. Practitioners frequently find that these cases, while high-risk, 

fall below the thresholds for social care intervention, which creates ethical and clinical 

dilemmas.

Other challenges include system-wide issues and new risks. The loss of borough-wide 

forums, such as the Complex Case Forum, has led to some fragmentation in multi-agency 

working, with practitioners relying more on individual relationships to escalate concerns. 

The City of London Corporation Education and Skills Services highlighted challenges with 

adultification bias and digital safeguarding, noting that the evolution of digital platforms 

outstrips current frameworks. The National Probation Service and Hackney CFS also face 

staffing shortages and high turnover, which puts pressure on capacity and caseloads.

43

P
age 117



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 44

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT

The Children’s workforce has remained stable except for natural 

transitions and breaks such as maternity leave. Recruitment took 

place in 2024/25 to ensure that a permanent team is now in place. 

The workforce has now all completed the Achieving Best Evidence 

and Breakaway training; they have also accessed a range of training 

specifically around domestic abuse through the Court Trailblazers 

programme. All workers are supported to access Systemic Training 

and where required the Practice Educator training programmes.  

There is a comprehensive training programme in place as well as a 

well stocked resource library of research and direct work tools to 

support excellent practice which has positive outcomes for children. 

This was acknowledged in the ‘Outstanding’ Ofsted Inspection 

grading received during 2024/25. 

Whilst numbers across the service have stayed relatively stable 

in relation to number of contacts, Early Help, Child Protection, 

there has been a reduction of the number of children remaining in 

care, although an increase in the numbers coming into care across 

the year. As most children in care in the City are unaccompanied 

asylum seekers, they arrive are accommodated and then placed 

on the National Transfer Scheme (NTS). The NTS has been working 

particularly quickly this year meaning some young people have been 

moving within 2-3 weeks of arriving. Which is positive for them as they 

are then able to settle in the Local Authority in which they will remain. 

THE CITY OF LONDON CORPORATION -  
CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE AND EARLY HELP

Child in Need numbers have decreased across the year this is in no small 

part due to the strong Early Help offer which provides a range of support 

at the earliest opportunity and prevents children and families requiring 

higher level support, which is positive. Thus, the number of children 

supported at home with their families overall remained consistent.

A well-developed Care Leaver Offer was launched which is accessible 

online and in a range of languages (Care Leaver Offer - City of London 

Family Information Service). Regularly monthly online drop-in sessions 

are offered to support care leavers to understand their rights and 

entitlements. Care leavers represent our largest cohort of young 

people accessing the service, with housing, immigration status, and 

employment being their top priorities. 

We have continued to conduct an independent Annual Feedback Survey 

with broadly positive feedback received across all service areas. 83% 

of care leavers felt that their social worker was easy to contact and 

communicate with and 78% felt that the received the right amount of 

support. The Early Help received a 100% satisfaction rate. Children in 

Care and Child Protection numbers were very small with more variation 

in their views and experiences in terms of satisfaction; however the small 

cohort makes it difficult to draw definitive conclusions. We completed 

a ‘You Said, We Did’ response document to the feedback received and 

ensured that the feedback informed service development plans. 

P
age 118

https://www.fis.cityoflondon.gov.uk/care-leaver-offer
https://www.fis.cityoflondon.gov.uk/care-leaver-offer


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

45THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW44

EVIDENCE AND LEARNING

We have consistently undertaken 

quality assurance practice 

reviews during the year, totalling 

thirty-nine reviews, to monitor 

the quality of practice and 

the impact on children and 

family’s day to day experiences. 

None have been found to be 

‘Inadequate’, 5 (13%) were graded 

as ‘Requires Improvement’, 

15 (38%) were ‘Good’ and 19 

(49%) were ‘Outstanding’. 

Demonstrating that overall, the 

service provided is strong, where 

we have recommendations for 

improvement these are tracked 

on a monthly basis until we have 

implemented these and the 

impact then measured in future 

quality assurance activity.

IMPACT

CASE STUDY 1: We had a baby under 1 years who was not previously 

known to City service present in an out of hours crisis. Police and out 

of hours services took immediate steps to ensure the safety of the 

baby, services then worked quickly to reunite baby and their parent 

in a safe assessment centre. Long and complex Care Proceedings 

were initiated, which were a challenge for the family to manage due 

their diagnosed additional needs and created feelings of hostility 

towards the social worker and service. However, the social worker 

and service worked persistently and tirelessly to continue to work 

with the family and support them to engage in the process. Sadly, 

the parent and baby were not able to remain together, however 

extensive work was done to explore extended family members to try 

and keep the baby within their family network. At times it did not feel 

like this would necessarily be viable however the social worker and 

service preserved and recently the baby was able to move to the 

care of a family member, with a package of support in place. This is 

the first use of our refreshed Kinship Support Offer (September 2024) 

which is in line with the best practice outlined in the Care Review. 

This is a plan that the parent has been able to give their consent to, 

recognising some of the issues which prevent them from providing 

sole care for her child. So far this is going well, and we are ensuring 

support is in place to try and sustain this arrangement.

45TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

P
age 119



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 46

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

IMPACT

CASE STUDY 2: An 8-year-old boy was 

referred to Early Help by a community 

outreach worker. The child had a disability 

from birth, but the family were not access 

disability benefits, and he was struggling 

in school. The family lacked confidence in 

navigating education or health systems due 

to language and cultural barriers. Once Early 

Help were involved they were able to support 

a referral to an Educational Psychologist for 

a comprehensive needs assessment, liaised 

with a specialist teacher to advise the school 

on appropriate adjustments, provided support 

for the family to apply for disability benefits, 

and an EHCP application was submitted to 

secure appropriate provision and prepare for 

secondary transition. The child now receives 

tuition and tailored classroom support, his 

family has increased financial stability and 

understanding of their child’s condition, and 

he is more confident in learning and uses his 

aids consistently to support this.

CHALLENGES

We have continued to focus on workforce stability and wellbeing, and whilst this has 

been good, we recognise the toll safeguarding work takes on individuals and teams. We 

have developed a Wellbeing Support Guide for People’s Services which outlines a wide 

range of ways in which staff can promote their emotional and physical wellbeing. 

This year we have started to define our Families in the City programme which will 

implement the National Social Care Review. Proposals were drafted and accepted by 

Senior Leaders which will lead to the creation of a Programme Board, under which three 

workstreams will work to deliver the changes needed. This will be established in 2025-26 

and replace the current Senior Leader working group and include multi-agency partners. 

Whilst City already run a generic social work service there will need to be changes made 

and this may impact current roles and configurations which could lead to workers leaving 

or being dissatisfied with the new expectations. 

Despite potential change we need to continue to deliver services to a high standard, 

which improves the daily experience and longer-term outcomes of our children, young 

people, and families, with minimal disruption. Therefore, communication with children, 

families, workers, and partners will be key to maintain consistency and limited confusion. 

The Quality Assurance service will also need to adapt as required to modified systems 

and ensure the framework meets the need of a newly modelled, multi-agency service. 

Workforce development will also need to be reviewed to ensure it is able to meet any 

gaps identified within the Families in the City programme in a timely manner. 

P
age 120



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

47THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW46

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT

Over the past academic year, City of London schools have embraced the Working 

Together to Improve School Attendance statutory guidance, updating policies and 

adopting a whole-school approach to promoting good attendance. In line with this, 

the City Code of Conduct was revised and, while no penalty notices were issued, eight 

‘Notice to Improve’ letters were sent to parents. The Code will be reviewed annually, 

with minor updates planned to improve clarity and referral processes.

The School Attendance Support Team has maintained strong engagement with all 

schools, conducting regular visits and hosting two successful School Attendance 

Network meetings. These meetings, including input from DfE Advisor Victoria Franklin, 

highlighted the shared responsibility for attendance and the vital role of Attendance 

Officers. The DfE has assessed the City of London’s arrangements as ‘Green’. A termly 

newsletter will now keep schools informed of updates, training, and local data.

Using data from the school tracker, which currently monitors City-resident children 

across 68 schools in 20 local authorities, the team has identified and contacted out-of-

borough schools with persistently absent pupils. Schools have been reminded that the 

team is available to support families in overcoming attendance barriers. To ensure a 

clear picture of where City children are educated, the school tracker has been updated 

to include those in alternative provision and with SEND, helping to anticipate needs 

and guide support.

THE CITY OF LONDON CORPORATION -  
EDUCATION AND EARLY YEARS

The restructured Attendance Improvement Group—

formerly the Vulnerable Children group—meets 

termly and includes representatives from education, 

social care, and the Virtual School. It ensures early 

identification of concerns and coordinated support 

for re-engagement with education.  Recognising that 

poor attendance can impact a child’s potential and 

safety, termly Education Safeguarding Forums have 

provided a platform for schools, the local authority, 

and CHSCP to share best practices. External services 

such as Prevent and the City & Hackney Substance 

Use Service have also contributed. The School 

Attendance Support Team continues to offer timely 

signposting and referrals to relevant agencies. For 

example, following the Inclusive Charter conference, 

a referral was made to Fight for Peace—a programme 

using boxing to re-engage a school refuser with SEND.  

Finally, the newly established Network Attendance 

Meeting brings together DSLs and attendance leads 

to share strategies, raise concerns, and collaborate on 

improving attendance outcomes.

P
age 121



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 48

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

IMPACT

CASE STUDY 1: A Year 8 pupil with a diagnosis of Autism Spectrum Condition (ASC) came to the 

attention of the City of London SEND Team due to escalating behavioural concerns in school. 

Although the pupil had a confirmed diagnosis of ASC, their needs were not being adequately 

supported, and they were at risk of permanent exclusion. This risk materialised in January 2025, 

just before the finalisation of their Education, Health and Care (EHC) Plan.

The SEND Team worked closely with Early Help Support Services to ensure both the pupil’s 

social and special educational needs were identified and addressed. Interim tuition through an 

alternative provision provided some initial stability while a longer-term solution was sought. 

Through persistent advocacy and collaboration with a neighbouring borough, a place was 

secured at an Autism Resource Provision (ARP) within a mainstream secondary school.

A robust transition plan was co-produced by SEND, Early Help, the family, and professionals from 

both the alternative provision and the ARP. This ensured a phased and well-supported entry into 

the new setting. Since joining the ARP, the pupil has shown marked improvement in emotional 

regulation and engagement with learning. While some behaviours linked to anxiety and ASC 

continue to present, the school is well-equipped and skilled in supporting these needs. The family 

now has a secure and coordinated network of professionals around them, able to adapt provision 

as needed to give the pupil every best chance of success. The pupil’s progress is being closely 

monitored to ensure their needs are met holistically. This case highlights the importance of early 

support following diagnosis, cross-agency collaboration, and the value of specialist provision in 

enabling pupils with complex needs to re-engage with education and thrive.

IMPACT

CASE STUDY 2: With reference to one 

of the City of London schools, concerns 

were raised by the school of a year 10 

pupil arriving persistently late frequently, 

arriving after registration closure.  

The Education Welfare Manager 

supported a meeting with parent and 

the pupil to understand the root cause 

of poor routine and disengagement 

with learning.  An Early Help referral 

was made by the Education Welfare 

Manager, with the consent of parent.  

Close parental engagement work was 

carried out from a Family Practitioner 

to support the relationship between 

the young person and their parent.  

The school noticed an improvement in 

punctuality and learning engagement 

and continues to be supportive through 

praise and regular check-ins with parent 

and pupil. 

P
age 122



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

49THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW48

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT

SEND - SEND is always a priority and the Service, along with the area partnership is committed to ensuring that 

The City of London is a place where children and young people feel safe, have good mental health and wellbeing, fulfil 

their potential and are ready for adulthood whilst growing up with a sense of belonging.  We remain committed to high 

aspirations for all our children and young people, ensuring they receive an education tailored to their individual needs, 

along with the appropriate support to help them reach their full potential.

In line with national trends, we have continued to experience a rise in the number of Education, Health and Care (EHC) 

Plans over the past year, leading to increased demands on the SEND team. The SEND Team has increased capacity 

through an additional EHC Caseworker to support this increased demand.  The City of London has also agreed a 

contract with the Hackney Educational Psychology Service to offer a bespoke package of support for City children 

and young people with SEND. There has been an increase in need in children coming through in the early years, and 

an increase in social, emotional and mental health issues in children coming though in KS3. Where there has been an 

increase in social, emotional and mental health needs, this has impacted on school attendance and one permanent 

exclusion. The SEND team has worked closely with the Education Welfare Manager and Children’s Social Care and 

Early Help Service to regularly monitor and support these young people. 

The City of London actively participates in every annual review to maintain oversight of any emerging developments 

and to ensure families are signposted to relevant services or referred as needed. Several children and young people 

with EHC Plans are also supported by children’s social care and early help services, prompting close collaboration 

between the SEND team and social workers to ensure a coordinated and integrated approach. The SEND team also 

attends meetings arranged by the Children’s Social Care and Early Help Service such as CIN meetings and TAF 

meetings to ensure a coordinated approach to meeting these children’s needs. 

P
age 123



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 50

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT

Early Years - The Early Years Advisor undertakes yearly Leadership 

and Management audits in the Autumn Term. These include key 

questions on safeguarding and ensure early years settings continue 

to be compliant with regulations. The Early Years Foundation Stage 

(EYFS) framework, which outlines safeguarding requirements 

for children under five, has had some clarifications. Changes 

include amendments to staff-to-child ratios, clearer guidance on 

paediatric first aid training and the importance of ensuring adequate 

supervision, especially when children are eating.   Effective from 

September 2025, the Department for Education (DfE) is implementing 

significant reforms to the EYFS safeguarding requirements to ensure 

that early years providers maintain high standards of safety and care 

for children. These reforms are based on extensive consultations and 

feedback from stakeholders in the early years sector.  The Early Years 

Team continues to work closely with the Early Help Team, particularly 

when children with additional needs are concerned as well as on the 

development of the Start for Life and Family Hub. All City Early Years 

settings remain Good or Outstanding with Ofsted.

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT

Adult Education and Skills - The adult skills service reviews 

termly all learners’ continued understanding of Safeguarding. 

Important emphasis is placed on safeguarding themselves 

and others. ‘Good Safeguarding’ practice is fully incorporated 

in the subject course curriculum – it therefore becomes an 

integral part of teaching and learning.  Learners are given an 

induction on the importance and value of understanding ‘good 

Safeguarding’.  All course tutors receive level 2 certificated 

training in understanding Safeguarding. The Service employs 3 

Safeguarding Leads – they also receive certificated training.  All 

learners are regularly/ termly asked about their understanding 

of Safeguarding. Their responses are recorded, analysed and 

an action plan is put in place to support any areas for further 

development.  Learners are advised how to report breaches 

in Safeguarding practices - they are advised on the role of the 

Safeguarding Leads, and how to report issues and concerns.  

Monthly meetings are held with the DCCS Safeguarding Lead/

Adviser. Focus on Apprentices.

P
age 124



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

51THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW50

EVIDENCE 

There have been several Operation Makesafe deployments across the City of London 

designed to test the response of hotels to possible child sexual exploitation and 

educate them as how to best respond to protect children and young people. The CoLP 

Public Protection Unit have benefited by the recruitment of an experienced Child 

Protection Detective Inspector and have created a further Detective Sergeants post to 

assist with partnership working and coordinating safeguarding across the force. The 

Public Protection Unit has reviewed and improved the processes around Child Sexual 

Abuse Material (CSAM) Investigations ensuring compliance with national best practice 

and welfare support for investigating officers.

THE CITY OF LONDON POLICE

EVIDENCE 

A recruitment process was held for a new Detective Inspector in the Public Protection 

Unit.  This was extremely competitive, and a new appointment was successful. The 

post-holder brings a wealth of experience with him as he was previously a DI in a child 

abuse team.  The force is subject to a HMICFRS inspection and as part of this, a review 

of the PPU was conducted including Child Abuse Investigation and the management 

of Registered Sex Offenders. Once the feedback is received the CHSCP will be 

updated in respect relevant findings.

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

P
age 125



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 52

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

IMPACT

CASE STUDY 1: PPU have an ongoing case where a young female travelled 

into the City with a friend and was able to get served alcohol in a licensed 

premises. She became intoxicated, separated from her friend and was then 

befriended by a male who subsequently seriously sexually assaulted her. 

She had no memory of the assault. Detailed forensic work has identified the 

offender, and he has subsequently been charged. Alongside this, colleagues 

in licencing are now seeking to prosecute the licenced premise that served 

the victim alcohol.

IMPACT

Further engagement work was completed by CoLP during the recent 

County Lines Intensification Week (CLIW) which included Officers attended 

high-end retailers within the Square Mile to raise awareness of how 

children exposed to CSE may be bought gifts as part of the grooming 

process into County Lines. This was also well received and further 

education was requested. During CLIW, six hotels in the City were also 

tested. Only one hotel passed by appropriately dealing with a child being 

checked in with an adult that appeared to be unknown to them. Following 

this, education pieces will be rolled out to hotel management to upskill 

staff to spot signs and disrupt where possible.

LEARNING

The CoLP have requested that the Vulnerability 

Knowledge and Practice Programme (VKPP) come 

and perform an inspection of how the force deals with 

vulnerability in children and young people.  The VKPP is 

part of the College of Policing which sets out best practice 

nationally. The review was not requested as the result 

of any incident or organisational failure but rather as an 

opportunity to obtain feedback and seek to improve. 

TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 52LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT

P
age 126



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

53THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW52

EVIDENCE 

The most recent inspection of children’s services in Hackney was published in 

August 2024.  This graded the overall effectiveness of the Local Authority as 

Good.  The report can be read HERE.   

 

Inspectors said:  “Support for vulnerable children and their families has 

greatly improved since the last inspection of children’s services in 2019. These 

improvements have been made despite a particularly challenging period 

for the council. A criminal cyber-attack in 2020 had a huge impact on the 

council’s ability to manage its services. The lingering post-pandemic legacy of 

COVID-19 disproportionately affected the borough’s higher numbers of Black 

and global majority residents and staff. Community tensions, at international 

and national levels and closer to home with the unjust treatment of Child Q, 

as identified by the local safeguarding practice review and the Independent 

Office for Police Conduct, amplified a distrust of professionals for many in the 

community. Professional and political leaders have responded successfully to 

these challenges, prioritising children’s needs, increasing engagement with all 

Hackney communities, including the large Charedi community, strengthening 

strategic partnerships and significantly improving children’s services. Inspectors 

saw the authority’s aspirations and found effective work across most of its 

service areas. However, there is still more to do to strengthen the consistency of 

support to care leavers and to secure good-quality and stable accommodation 

for them at the time they need it.”  Ofsted 2024

HACKNEY COUNCIL - CHILDREN & FAMILIES SERVICES

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

53THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW52

P
age 127

https://files.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50255165


THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 54

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT

The restructure of the management levels within Children’s Social 

Care concluded in January 2025. The restructure has simplified the 

service structure, providing clearer management structure and lines 

of accountability. The new structure includes a move away from 

the unit model towards a traditional social work team model, with 

Consultant Social Workers and Practice Development Managers 

have been replaced by Team Managers and Practice Leads. Separate 

to the management review - the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub 

(MASH) completed a staffing review in the spring of 2025. The 

MASH has aligned its management structure with the wider CFS, 

incorporated EDT line management to the structure, and ensured 

permanency for the MASH Early Help Hub.

Our in-house Clinical Service is undergoing a restructure. The 

clinical restructure has meant we are no longer delivering clinical 

interventions that would elsewhere be the responsibility of CAMHS. 

There is also a Business Support Review which was launched in 

July 2025, which is looking at the structure of our business support 

functions. Furthermore, the Young Hackney service has undergone 

a restructure. The Young Hackney restructure has refocused the 

age profile of those supported by the service towards adolescents 

aged 10 – 19 and developed a locality model on a smaller defined 

geography, including 4 area teams. Further organisational change 

is likely to occur in areas such as the Family Support Service as the 

Directorate responds to the Social Care Reforms.

EVIDENCE 

Plans are underway to open internal Children’s Homes, to 

promote Children in Care living within our borough. Feedback 

from the pre-planning application has been received, 

and planning applications are set to be submitted.  A new 

Commissioning Officer has started as Project Manager adding 

additional capacity and expertise to drive the programme 

forward.  Work to recruit young people to co-produce the final 

design and finish of the buildings, as well as procure the expert 

service partner to run the homes and support commissioners 

to monitor the quality of the homes when they are set up, is 

underway.

LEARNING

Learning Conversations:  Between February and April 2025, a 

total of 15 learning conversations were carried out on children’s 

files. These conversations focused on Parental Metal Health. 53% 

of cases were rated as being good, 40%, were found to require 

improvement, and 1.7% judged to be inadequate.  Good practice 

included inclusion and promotion of children’s voices in their 

plans, good plan progression, good multi agency support for 

children, good management oversight for children supported by 

legal proceedings, Looked After Child and Child Protection plans, 

and good curiosity around children’s identity needs.

P
age 128



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

55THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW54

LEARNING AND IMPACT

Practice Observation Week. In June 2025, Hackney CFS launched a Practice 

Observation Week, where leaders including Team Managers, Service Managers, 

Heads of Service, the Director and Group Director completed observations of direct 

practice. The purpose of this was to provide feedback to practitioners on their 

practice and to enable managers to experience the quality of practice across our 

services to children and their families. Highlights included:  

One observer felt that the social worker ‘clearly demonstrated an effective use 

of communication with the child. He was curious about what they had said and 

their experience, including of having multiple social workers come into their 

life. He was able to take time to explore what they thought about the situation 

and what might make things better for their family’.

One observer commented on swift MASH procedures, ‘the decision making is 

very effective and timely - following the conclusion of the telephone call - [the 

social worker] is recording and processing the information without delay - and 

a MASH manager is subsequently making the decision to progress the contact 

for assessment. The whole process is concluded within 45 minutes of the call 

coming through’.

Observing a Young Carers Group, the observer 

commented that ‘the voices of all young people 

are being heard within session, the communication 

helps to facilitate learning. The views and 

suggestions are taken on board. The young people 

expressed how much they enjoyed being part of 

this group and the positive experiences that they 

have had at the Young Carers’.

One family shared that the social worker ‘genuinely 

listens which is helpful, they haven’t always felt 

listened to by social workers but do with [the social 

worker]’, and another stating the social worker 

has ‘consistently been efficient, communicative, 

and very easy to work with. Her dedication and 

professionalism have been evident throughout, 

and we are genuinely grateful for her continued 

support over the years.’

P
age 129



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 56

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

IMPROVEMENT

In May 2024, Practice Development Managers reviewed 11 full 

audits undertaken in HCFS that were initially graded as Inadequate 

or Requires Improvement. The purpose was to re-evaluate these 

cases and identify any improvements in practice. The findings 

showed significant progress, with practice improving to Good in 

over half (58%) of the reviewed files. Notably, two cases that were 

previously graded as Requires Improvement were now considered 

Good. None of the cases remained at the Inadequate level. The 

review also highlighted improvements in timely and detailed 

recording, and it was noted that identified actions were either 

completed or in progress. However, some areas for improvement 

were still identified, including instances where visits and 

recordings were outside of set timescales and meeting minutes 

were missing from two audits.

IMPACT

A parent or carer working with the Family Support Service shared: 

“I really want to say a huge thank you for all the support and 

guidance you’ve given me. Your help has made such a difference in 

getting [Child] back on track and I feel so much more confident as a 

parent because of you”. 

A parent or carer working with Young Hackney shared: “Thank you 

so much for your work with [Child], it has made a huge difference 

and you have helped them through a very difficult time and they 

have come out confident and happy on the other side”.

A parent or carer working with the Multi-Agency Safeguarding 

Hub shared: “Your kindness, expertise and sensitivity...made a huge 

difference to my wellbeing”.

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 56

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

P
age 130



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

57THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW56

CHALLENGES

Financial Pressures: In Hackney, we are facing ongoing pressures of service 

demand and tightening of funding. This is due to increasing costs, growing 

demand and a lack of clarity about long-term funding arrangements. As a 

council, we have to save £52m over the next 3 years. Therefore, there will be 

an action plan to reduce expenditure within each Directorate.  Due to this, the 

provisions currently on offer will be under review, and future provisions may 

change. 

As the cost-of-living crisis continues, Hackney families continue to face 

poverty, homelessness and hunger. Thus, supporting families with the cost 

of living at the earliest stage possible is of key importance.  Hackney Council 

is undertaking a range of activity in response to this crisis, including the 

adoption of the Poverty Reduction Strategy 2022-2026. 

Workforce: Nationally there continues to be high staff turnover, and 

challenges in recruiting and retaining social workers, resulting in high 

caseloads. Where we have recruited staff, they may be less experienced and 

require increased support from managers to ensure high-quality practice.  

We have implemented several incentives to recruit and retain staff.

Care Leaver Accommodation: During our 2024 inspection, the key message 

once again from our young people, echoed by inspectors, was that for care 

leavers, access to safe, affordable, sustainable housing is their number 

one priority. We have established a sub-group of the Corporate Parenting 

Board, Chaired by the Group Director for Climate, Homes and 

Economy, to track the progress and monitor outcomes of this 

work over the next year. The most significant development has 

been the decision - endorsed by Cabinet - that the Housing 

Register would be amended from April 2024 to enable care 

leavers to join in a priority band from 18. Work is underway to 

support all care leavers who wish to do so to join the register. 

Housing colleagues have backdated all existing application 

start dates for care leavers to their 18th birthdays. We hope 

in time that this will mean fewer care leavers experience a 

‘cliff edge’ in their housing options at 21 and more are able to 

secure social housing tenancies - should they wish to do so - 

in a timely way. 

We were delighted to secure Department for Levelling 

Up, Housing and Communities’ funding early this year for 

a Housing First project, through which 10 care leavers with 

the most complex needs will be offered a tenancy alongside 

intensive, wrap-around support from Centre Point. Through 

this joint Children’s Social Care and Housing project, we hope 

to learn more about how best to offer post tenancy support 

to our care leavers. This learning will inform an update of our 

Joint Protocol, which will include a new focus on post tenancy 

support, including repairs and maintenance. 

56

P
age 131



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 58

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE 

Hackney Education’s mission is to improve the life chances of every 

child in Hackney by creating a safe, inclusive, and exciting educational 

environment. The organisation is aligned with Hackney Council’s 

corporate values, these are: child and learner focused, ambitious, 

proactive, inclusive, pioneering, open, and proud.  These values guide 

the organisation’s approach to its objectives.  A significant focus of 

Hackney Education’s Improvement plan is safeguarding children and 

addressing systemic racism. Priority (A) is dedicated to ensuring that all 

schools are, and feel, completely safe and free from racism, building on 

the report into the experience of “Child Q”. Key initiatives include:

•	 Introducing a “Hackney safe and inclusive schools charter”.

•	 Taking rapid action on the presence of police in schools..

•	 Sustaining action on anti-racism and providing professional 

development for staff to be anti-racist.

•	 Ensuring the voices of children, parents, and staff are heard.

HACKNEY EDUCATION

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

P
age 132



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

59THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW58

EVIDENCE 

During this reporting period, Hackney Education had five main 

priorities:

•	 Priority 1: Achievement: Working with schools and settings to 

enable the best possible achievement for every child, with a focus 

on closing achievement gaps for pupils receiving pupil premium, 

Turkish Kurdish Cypriot pupils, Caribbean pupils (boys), and 

Orthodox Jewish pupils.

•	 Priority 2: Wellbeing and Inclusion: Promoting safeguarding, 

wellbeing, and inclusion, including provision for children with 

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND), reducing 

exclusions, anti-racism, and post-COVID recovery.

•	 Priority 3: Quality Places: Providing quality educational places 

for every child from age 0 to 19, including implementing a school 

place strategy and transforming children’s centres.

•	 Priority 4: Strong and Sustainable System: Ensuring the 

Hackney education system remains strong, sustainable, local, 

and responsive to enable high performance in all schools and 

settings.

•	 Priority 5: Supporting Parents: Supporting and engaging parents 

and carers by ensuring their voices are heard and providing 

support routes for those experiencing difficulties.

EVIDENCE AND IMPROVEMENT 

Children and Family Hubs have moved to a 

neighbourhood model, based on eight primary 

care neighbourhoods aligned with Children’s 

Centres. SEND Hubs, Super Youth Hubs, Child 

in Need teams and Family Support teams will 

also be aligned according to this neighbourhood 

model. After the final Children and Family Hub 

was launched at Woodberry Down on 27 February 

2025, new programmes have been commissioned, 

including the WellComm Tool, Proud to B Parents 

Training, and an Outreach Strategy with HCVS.

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

59THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

P
age 133



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 60

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE AND IMPROVEMENT

Improving school attendance is a priority nationally in education, and 

Hackney has developed a School Attendance Support Team to respond 

to the barriers to education that schools and families are experiencing. 

As part of this work, we have extended our offer beyond maintained 

and academised schools, to include the Charedi independent schools 

operating in Hackney. These schools serve children who identify as 

Charedi in Hackney, which is a rapidly growing percentage of our 

overall school-aged population.  The work has focused on developing 

a culturally informed programme of support, and forming positive 

relationships through which we can jointly leverage change and 

positive impact for the children we serve.  Hackney Education has one 

attendance officer dedicated to supporting just our Charedi schools 

around attendance barriers, the consistency of which has really helped 

to strengthen the relationship and quality of the work undertaken. 

We have provided ongoing training to education professionals in the 

Charedi community that is accessible and culturally informed (for 

instance, we run face to face sessions as well as online sessions, and 

attendees can choose between sessions run by either a 

male colleague or a female one).  In order to demonstrate 

our commitment to understanding and serving our 

Charedi independent schools, we have broadened our 

attendance training offer to include all Charedi independent 

schools in the UK. We have welcomed Charedi education 

colleagues from Manchester, Salford and Gateshead into 

our Hackney-based training sessions. One session which 

we ran online was attended by 86 rabbis. We continue to 

offer guidance and oversight around attendance policies 

and approaches and are working with around 70% of our 

Charedi independent schools, and we look forward to 

developing this work further and with more settings in the 

new academic year. 

P
age 134



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

61THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW60

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT

•	 To help children and families cope with the cost-of-living crisis, 

the following support is available.

•	 Free school meals: All children starting school in the reception 

class, Year 1, or Year 2 will get a free meal at school regardless of 

income. 

•	 Children and families 0-19: Children receiving free school meals 

or those identified by local providers in the statutory, voluntary 

and community sector or Children’s Centres (including the 

Orthodox Jewish community) and in local colleges have been 

provided with food vouchers. School uniform grants are also 

available from Hackney Education for families who are struggling 

to afford this. 

•	 Hackney provides funded 2 year nursery places, now open to 

families with no recourse to public funds.

•	 Early Help hub and Multi-Agency Safeguarding hub: Families 

contacting the Early Help hub or professionals making contact 

on the MASH consultation line on behalf of families in crisis may 

be referred to community support, including children’s centres, 

youth hubs or community partners, and families may be provided 

with food vouchers in an emergency. 

•	 Children and families hubs: Families receiving targeted support via the 

Multi-agency teams (MAT) receive food vouchers, and all other families 

who are eligible can access Healthy Start vouchers and Alexander Rose 

vouchers, redeemable for fruit and veg from Hackney markets. 

•	 Youth hubs and adventure playgrounds/ holiday activities: Free after 

school and holiday activities are provided to families via youth hubs and 

adventure playgrounds. 

•	 Voluntary and community sector support for under 5’s: Voluntary and 

community groups who support families in need across the borough 

have been provided with funds to purchase food vouchers to distribute, 

and a number of these are accepting referrals from other VCS groups. 

•	 Emergency funds remaining for children in need: emergency funding 

for food vouchers has been identified to support care leavers, families 

supported by Child in Need, Child Protection and Family Support plans, 

and in-house foster carers. 

•	 Section 17 Finance Guidance for CFS Staff: A guidance document 

produced to assist practitioners in the work they do with and for families 

when children’s identified needs require the provision of financial 

assistance.

P
age 135



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 62

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

IMPACT

This year also saw 100% of our schools and children’s centres receive 

good or better Ofsted judgements in all of the graded areas of inspection.

CHALLENGES

It has been a challenging year for many of our communities facing the 

closure of their schools due to declining pupil numbers. Particularly, it 

has been painful to see the closure of four wonderful schools who have 

provided the best possible education for their families:  We thank and 

recognise the staff leaving the following schools which are closing at the 

end of the academic year 2025.

•	 Oldhill Community School (whose pupil body is merging with 

Harrington Hill School)

•	 St Dominic’s RC Primary School

•	 St Mary’s C of E School

•	 Sir Thomas Abney Primary School (whose pupil body is merging with 

Holmleigh School and will be located on the Sir Thomas Abney site)

CHALLENGES

A consultation on the Strategic Plan for 25-28 began in the 

Autumn of 2024. In order to tackle some of these challenges, 

several key priorities were identified. These were:

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and 

inclusion: Ensuring efficient and sustainable SEND provision, 

early identification of needs, and timely support.

Additional and Alternative Learning Provision: Developing 

a three-tiered support model to promote inclusion, reduce 

exclusions, and ensure appropriate interventions.

Strength and sustainability: Ensuring schools, children’s 

centers, and settings are strong, sustainable, and financially 

viable, with a focus on recruitment and retention of staff.

Sustainable school improvement: Delivering a successful, 

affordable, and sustainable local education system by 

promoting collaboration, sharing best practices, and 

supporting innovation.

Equity for children and families: Working to achieve the best 

outcomes for all children, particularly focusing on ensuring 

equitable opportunities and targeted support for those who 

need it most to thrive.

Outreach and engagement activities will continue into the 

25/26 period. 

P
age 136



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

63THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW62

EVIDENCE 

Young Hackney successfully re-structured in 2024 in response to local 

savings targets. The new iteration of the service went live in April 2025. 

The integrated model and approach to service delivery largely remains 

the same and there have been no changes to play, young carers, health 

and wellbeing and substance misuse services. However, the service is 

now operating with a more streamlined and targeted capacity and is 

focusing the Young Hackney offer at adolescents more specifically. Key 

changes include; a revised aged criteria for universal youth services and 

targeted early help of 10-19 (25 with SEND), the introduction of a medium/ 

high early help need threshold for individual targeted early help, earlier 

and longer opening hours for teenagers at our youth hubs and the 

establishment of a dedicated Young Hackney Detached Outreach Team. 

Since the re-structure Young Hackney has started to receive fewer 

‘Requests for Help’, this is consistent with expectations as the service 

manages demand under new arrangements, however patterns regarding 

type of need, referral source and interventions offered remain consistent. 

Health Spot City and Hackney at Forest Road Youth Hub- the young 

people’s health initiative led by the CAMHS Alliance and Young Hackney 

that brings a broad range of health services to young people and supports 

access with youth workers continues to grow and develop.

YOUNG HACKNEY

LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 63

P
age 137



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 64

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

LEARNING

Young Hackney is refreshing some foundational 

training for its staff and beginning to expand this 

offer to commissioned VCS youth providers with 

a first cohort of practitioners recently completing 

‘An Introduction to Systemic Practice’ and Trauma 

Informed Care training with the Tavistock and Portman 

NHS and second cohort pending. 

EVIDENCE AND IMPROVEMENT

Young Hackney is now on TikTok: @young_hackney. 

Early indications suggest the social media platform 

will offer a significantly broader digital communication 

reach for the service to young people.

IMPACT

Referred by school to Young Hackney’s Young Carers Service in December 

2024. Mum has Type 1 Diabetes and her health had deteriorated in recent 

years resulting in a period of hospitalisation. IS-L was providing practical, 

personal and emotional care for mum. School were concerned about the 

impact IS-L’s caring responsibilities were having on his emotional wellbeing 

and difficulties in school. The family were isolated, both mum and IS-L had 

little support beyond each other. The YH Young Carers Team quickly engaged 

the family, forming strong relationships with both IS-L and his mum. IS-L was 

offered six individual support sessions and access to a range of activities for 

young carers. Mum was anxious about IS-L leaving the home and engaging 

in extracurricular activities but was reassured with support to allow IS-L to 

start attending young carers swimming lessons which eventually lead to 

mum attending her own fitness classes on the same site. Soon the family 

were taking part in a range of leisure and fitness activities independently and 

together helping to address their isolation and mum’s health needs. 

During the course of the intervention IS-L disclosed experiences of racism 

in school by a teacher. The Young Carers Team addressed this with school 

who responded appropriately, IS-L and Mum reported a significant change 

in IS-L’s experience in school thereafter.  Mum is better managing her health 

needs now, her independence and confidence is returning and IS-L’s caring 

responsibilities have become more manageable.   Mum said ‘The service has 

helped us in many ways. I feel like it’s an extended family that I can rely on. With 

so much support it’s brought balance and security’... ‘After the 1:1 sessions IS-L 

comes back feeling ‘full’, it’s like a reset for him’...’It’s provided hope of getting 

back to normal’

 

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25

P
age 138



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

65THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW64

IMPACT

A young person was referred to Young Hackney for Targeted Early Help by the police via the 

MASH in February 2025 following a missing episode after getting in trouble at school. At the point 

of referral parents also shared concerns that they had found a knife under the young person’s 

pillow, and that the young person was worried that peers had threatened to attack them in their 

home.  Whilst doing academically well, the young person experienced bullying and had no 

friends. 

The allocated Young Hackney worker formed a trusted relationship with both the young person 

and family and quickly hypothesised that they may have an undiagnosed/ unmet learning need 

that was affecting social skills, interactions and experiences. This was a very sensitive matter 

for the young person and family who were reluctant to engage in this discussion. The Young 

Hackney worker tactfully addressed the matter enabling the family to eventually disclose that 

the young person has a lifelong neurological condition that would explain their difficulties. Due to 

mistrust, the family had never wanted to share this diagnosis with school or other professionals, 

had been managing this on their own for most of their child’s life and they thought that because 

they were doing well academically, their condition was not the cause of her current difficulties. 

The Young Hackney worker helped the family to understand the impact of the condition on social 

skills and relationships and with reassurance they consented to this information being shared 

with a trusted adult in school so that the appropriate support could be put in place.  The school 

was supportive and despite there still being some difficulties the family have reported significant 

improvements in circumstances.

CHALLENGES 

Young Hackney has been through 

considerable change this year, 

there may be challenges as these 

changes continue to take effect 

and we begin to see possible 

consequences- managing 

demand for individual targeted 

early help or school-based 

interventions for example. It will 

be important that we continue 

to work closely with partners- 

particularly school and health and 

the MASH to collaboratively meet 

early help need. 

P
age 139



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 66

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE 

The new 2025-2028 Youth Justice Service Strategic Partnership 

Plan was approved by Full Council in July 2025, as required as a 

condition of our YJB grant. To develop the Youth Justice plan 2025-

28 the Safer Young Hackney Board came together in a facilitated 

workshop to consider our local performance data, the outcomes we 

achieve for children, the challenges we are now facing, feedback 

from children and families and the progress made. Collectively the 

Board agreed our shared practice principles and approaches and 

the shared key objectives for the next three years. 

The plan outlines Hackney’s partnership vision for children who 

are engaged with, or at risk of entering the Youth Justice System. 

It emphasises safeguarding, prevention, early intervention, and 

responding to local needs. It highlights the partnership’s shared 

commitment to a “child first” and strength-based approach which 

is aligned with our Hackney STAR-R model (Systemic, Trauma 

Informed, Anti Racist and Restorative).  The document includes 

the partnership’s anti-racism position statement, acknowledging 

systemic racism and committing to practice which is anti-racist and 

actively champions social justice.

HACKNEY YOUTH JUSTICE SERVICE

EVIDENCE AND IMPROVEMENT

Safer Young Hackney Board continues to be well attended 

and effective.

The Youth Justice Integrated Health Team (Health Huddle) 

continues to be embedded as part of the Hackney Youth 

Justice Service. This health team includes the Youth Justice 

Service Lead Nurse, Speech and Language Therapy Service, 

Clinical Team, Specialist CAMHS, Substance Misuse Service, 

and Sexual Health Nursing Service. 

Our SALT team have been commended for their work in court 

with positive feedback from magistrates, defence solicitors 

and parents.

ETE - Recruitment for an additional Virtual School member 

to support children on both Out of Court Disposals and Bail 

Support is now complete - This was required as an outcome 

of inspection.

P&D/ MPS Stop & Search information initiative (QR code) 

with a video developed by young people which brought the 

information to life.

P
age 140

https://drive.google.com/file/u/0/d/1ONqxZkMtWWJzjWcERNN4Ezw2cMjQ1msP/view?usp=drive_link&pli=1
https://drive.google.com/file/u/0/d/1ONqxZkMtWWJzjWcERNN4Ezw2cMjQ1msP/view?usp=drive_link&pli=1


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

67THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW66

IMPACT 

Parent: Felt fully involved in her child’s YJS work noting her child was 

“challenged” by his YJS practitioner in a way that prompted her to reassess 

her parenting and professional interactions. The parent noted that the YJS 

involvement was the most positive event for her child and their family.

Child: Practitioner, “if it wasn’t for you I would not have gone back to school, 

I mean that. You have helped me more than I even thought you would, when 

nobody was listening and even my own family didn’t believe what I was saying, 

you believed me. I’m in a different place now and I’m moving on with my life.” 

(Prevention & Diversion Team Feedback).

Victim: “You’re the first person to reach out to me since the incident happened 

2 years ago, and I truly appreciate you checking in and updating me on the 

progress of the court case. You took the time to listen to me, which really meant 

a lot, and you made sure I knew what support was available. Without your 

contact I would have missed the chance to have my voice heard in Court and the 

opportunity to attend. Thank you for making sure I didn’t go through this alone.”

Child: “Victim awareness sessions went very well, she (RJ Worker) was easy to 

speak to and I was able to see myself like I have never done before, to be more 

open minded and reflective. I was able to put myself in the shoes of the victim, 

realise the impact of doing so and what could have gone wrong or even worse if 

the scenario was different.”

CHALLENGES 

Challenge regarding the quality of the secure estate - 

An urgent notification was issued for Oak Hill on 31 July 

2025, following a failed inspection. Oak Hill management 

and staff are currently developing an action plan to 

address the issues. Options for relocating children 

from Oak Hill are severely limited. Hackney’s YJS has 

therefore increased contact with Hackney children who 

are either current or recent residents of Oak Hill. Of 

note, whilst Oak Hill has its issues, the “lived experience” 

of children there is generally not as poor as that of 

children in Feltham Young Offender Institution (YOI), 

where feedback on safety and staff access is universally 

negative, despite Feltham not being subject to an 

urgent notification.

Discussions are underway with ELFT about how to better 

engage CAMHS practitioners in Hackney’s Prevent/

Channel processes.  Furthermore, there remains a 

degree of uncertainty regarding the MPS reorganisation 

and the implications this will have on Youth Justice 

police officers & MASH.

P
age 141



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 68

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

HACKNEY HOUSING

EVIDENCE 

In 2024-25, Hackney’s housing strategy focused on creating genuinely 

affordable homes and improving housing services, though affordability 

remained a major challenge, with a housing strategy position statement 

approved in December 2024 and a new 5-year plan expected in late 

2025. Key initiatives included building 1,000 new council homes and 

implementing schemes like Hackney Living Rent to offer homes below 

market rates. The borough also saw rising private rents and a growing 

housing register, with ongoing efforts to improve standards in the private 

rental sector and enhance safety compliance in council housing.

IMPROVEMENT

The Council has implemented a housing improvement 

plan to address issues around mould and dampness. The 

plan focuses on four key themes: response to regulation, 

workforce development, resident focus, and systems 

and data. A full stock condition survey is underway to 

identify issues and this information will be used to create 

an updated asset management strategy. 

EVIDENCE 

The Housing service continues to operate in a challenging borough 

context.  As of June 2024, the average house price in Hackney was 

£590,000, which is 18.5 times the average household income of £31,580. 

Private rents increased to an average of £2,361 per month in July 2024.  

There are 8,500 households on the Council’s housing register and 3,400 

homeless households are in temporary accommodation. Approximately 

4000 children were living in temporary accommodation.  The Council has 

a significant challenge with the supply of social housing, with only 570 lets 

available between April 2022 and March 2023.  Hackney is experiencing 

a significant increase in homelessness, with an 8% increase in temporary 

accommodation required year on year.

CHALLENGES

While Hackney has made notable progress in its 

2024-25 housing strategy, significant challenges 

persist, particularly concerning affordability and 

supply. The Council’s proactive measures, such as the 

commitment to deliver 1,000 new social rent homes 

and the implementation of a Housing Improvement 

Plan, demonstrate a clear focus on enhancing both the 

quantity and quality of housing. Moving forward, the 

forthcoming 5-year housing strategy in 2025 will be 

critical in consolidating these efforts and building upon 

the foundation laid by the 2024-25 position statement to 

create a more equitable and sustainable housing future 

for all Hackney residents.

P
age 142



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

69THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW68

EVIDENCE AND LEARNING 

The MPS is no longer in ENGAGE phase as specific causes of concerns have been addressed. This is positive. In June 2023, the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime in London commissioned HMICFRS to inspect how well the Metropolitan Police Service 

handled the sexual and criminal exploitation of children. HMICFRS carried out the inspection in September 2023 and issued 

three causes of concern and made 11 recommendations.  

 

The causes of concern were as follows:

•	 The force needs to improve how it identifies and assesses risks, and how it responds, when children are reported missing.

•	 The force should improve its investigations when children are at risk of, or harmed by, criminal or sexual exploitation.

•	 The force needs to make sure its officers and staff, at all ranks and grades, understand what victim blaming is and how it 

affects the service they provide.

HMICFRS revisited the force between 30 September and 18 October 2024 to review its progress and found:

•	 Senior leadership response to above issues had been positive and the cause for concerns were closed. 

•	 The MPS children’s strategy sets out the commissioner’s ambition to adopt a child first approach. 

•	 Through renewed focus on child exploitation, its links to missing children and the language officers and staff use has 

made positive progress.

•	 The changes (policy/guidance, training, uplift in officers) introduced by the MPS are also providing better outcomes for 

children in London. 

THE METROPOLITAN POLICE SERVICE

P
age 143



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 70

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE 

The Central East BCU received an uplift in officers during the reporting 

period to support Public Protection investigations. The officers arrived on 

BCU came with diverse range of policing experiences and added value. 

Our teams continue to provide business as usual in the areas of child 

safeguarding. Going forward the MPS like many partner organisations 

will face financial challenges and will need to make tough choices. 

Tough choices work is underway across the organisation.

IMPROVEMENT 

Children reported missing:

•	 MPS has improved its policy and guidance and provided additional 

training including best way to improve its practice when children 

are reported missing.

•	 Saw an improvement in MPS’s response when children are 

reported missing.

•	 MPS is better at planning for when children at risk of exploitation 

are reported missing and will strive to get better. 

•	 MPS uses innovative methods to help find children.

•	 MPS has better oversight when children are reported missing. 

•	 The MPS has improved how it shares information with its partners. 

IMPROVEMENT 

Child Exploitation:

•	 MPS is focusing more on safeguarding children.

•	 Tackling exploitation of children is a higher priority. 

•	 More investigators have been trained in child exploitation.

•	 Number of officers working in exploitation teams has 

increased.

•	 More frontline officers and staff have been trained in child 

exploitation.

•	 Fewer delays in starting investigations.

IMPROVEMENT 

Victim Blaming Language

•	 MPS has carried out substantial work to try and stop victim 

blaming language

•	 MPS encourages its officers and staff to challenge victim 

blaming language

•	 Most officers and staff recognise victim blaming language 

and understand its negative effect

P
age 144



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

71THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW70

EVIDENCE, LEARNING, IMPROVEMENT 

On 26 September 2024, the MPS launched its new Children’s Strategy to keep children in London safe, build their trust 

and bring to justice those who abuse and exploit children. This is a 5 year strategy.  Around 2 million children live in 

London and the policing challenges they present are wide ranging from exploitation, to growing up among domestic 

abuse, to child abuse to a child carrying a knife. In 2023, there were approximately 61,000 child victims of crime and 

51,000 children who were suspected of committing a crime.

Child first is an approach that has been developed using evidence of what works to reduce children engaging in 

criminal behaviour, achieving positive outcomes and create safer communities. Child first recognises that children 

are different to adults, they have different needs and vulnerabilities. Child first seeks to treat children as individuals 

and for professionals to understand the wider context of their lives. Child first ensures that work with children 

acknowledges their status as a child rather than treating them as adults. 

What Child First Means for policing

•	 Those below 18 should be treated as children first.

•	 The vulnerability of children should be identified and responded to effectively in order to protect them from harm.

•	 Full understanding of children’s circumstances should be sought.

•	 Every interaction is both an intervention and an opportunity. This is an opportunity to enhance relationships.

•	 The voice of children must be heard and their opinions respected.

P
age 145



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 72

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

IMPACT 

CASE STUDY 1: Six children obtained ABH level injuries whilst in a nursery and an employee was witnessed to have 

assaulted babies on two occasions. These concerns were shared with police via NHS colleagues post attendance 

at a hospital. An urgent referral resulted in joint working with LADO, OFSTED as well as statutory partners to plan 

investigation. This resulted in OFSTED suspending the licence to provide nursery provision. Communication took 

place with parents which resulted in multiple parents coming forward with concerns. Joint working and cooperation 

with parents and a child centred investigation resulted in the obtaining of witness testimonies. Post evidence being 

secured, police focused on enforcement, resulting in the arrest and interview of two persons who have now been 

charged with multiple offences (cruelty and neglect). A trial date is set for 2027.

CHALLENGES 

The MPS faces a £260 million budget deficit. This is a significant challenge for our organisation. To reduce the 

funding gap, work has been completed to make savings. Despite this the MPS needs to make ‘tough choices’. 

This in essence means that our workforce size will shrink to match our budget. In total, the size of our workforce 

will be reducing by c1700 and majority of this will be officer numbers. Finer detail is being worked on and we will 

know the detail and impact in due course.

EVIDENCE

While not formally evaluated, collaboration between Safer Neighbourhood Teams and schools has established 

‘safer corridors’ and adjusted school detention times to protect children from becoming victims of crime on 

their way home. 

TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 72

P
age 146



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

73THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW7272

EVIDENCE, LEARNING AND IMPACT 

Hackney Trauma Informed Multi-Agency Practice: Responding to 

Child Victims of Domestic Abuse:  A Partnership Steering Group was 

established to review and identify good practice already happening 

within services across the partnership, and to develop a whole-system 

trauma informed response across universal and targeted services to 

child victims of domestic abuse. A  Guidance Doc for Trauma Informed 

Support for Children and Young People was developed which provides  

organisations and professionals with approaches and resources relevant 

to their agencies to advise and support child victims of domestic abuse.

Sudden Unexpected Death in Infancy (SUDI):  Work has continued 

following the SUDI Conference in March 2024 utilising a NEL wide 

approach to review and focus on SUDI reduction. This work is ongoing 

and involves a number of key partners and CDOP colleagues to 

engage in quality improvement work with identification of key data 

interrogation.

The Tree of Life: For the past three years, the Tree of Life in Schools 

Programme in City and Hackney has been providing African, Caribbean, 

and mixed heritage young people with a unique form of culturally 

attuned mental health support.in collaborative partnership between 

local schools, NHS Mental Health Support Teams, and voluntary sector 

organisations. Partners included Child and Adolescent Mental Health 

Services (CAMHS) East London NHS Foundation Trust, Hackney CVS, 

NHS North East London ICB, Wellbeing and Mental Health in Schools 

Service (WAMHS), Hackney Council and the City of London Corporation.

NHS NORTH EAST LONDON INTEGRATED CARE BOARD

City and Hackney Childhood Adversity, Trauma and Resilience 

Programme (ChATR): ACEs and Trauma-informed Practice Training 

is now available on the City and Hackney Children Safeguarding 

Partnership (CHSCP) Training Platform. In collaboration with the 

Trauma Services Lead at Tavistock & Portman FT, a Train the Trainer 

model for training of facilitators was developed to deliver the 

ChATR ACEs & TIP Training. The ChATR Online Resource Portal  has 

been relaunched to align it with the ACEs and TIP Training. The 

ChATR portal includes a range of practice tools, academic research 

and video resources.

The Named GP in City and Hackney: Has effectively supported 

and represented GPs at partnership and strategic events. This 

has included GP participation in multi-agency audits, rapid 

reviews, safeguarding partnership meetings and the Child Death 

Overview Process (CDOP). This allows a GP voice to scrutinise 

local child deaths and identify system gaps for improvement in 

general practice. Over 150 GPs, practice nurses, and physician 

assistants have received level 3 safeguarding training, with over 

80% of attendees rating the content as very useful and relevant. 

Participants praised the engaging presentations, with real-life 

scenarios and Mentimeter interactivity.  Additionally, reflective 

safeguarding sessions have been well attended by GP safeguarding 

leads, providing opportunities increased training and opening 

channels for feedback directly into the partnership from GP’s.

P
age 147

https://chtipportal.hackney.gov.uk/


THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 74

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

CHALLENGES 

The national reconfiguration of ICBs will mean 

challenge in meeting the required 50% reduction in 

operating costs. Whilst the statutory requirements 

for safeguarding will need to be met it is currently 

unclear what this will look like locally.

Identification and Referral to Improve Safety (IRIS) 

- Public health have withdrawn 50k of funding as 

part of cost saving and the service cannot continue 

on a reduced financial envelope. NHS NEL ICB 

have provided extra financial funding to continue 

the service for another year. Alternative funding / 

options being explored. IRIS has been running in 

C&H since 2007.

EVIDENCE

Overall, there has been no reduction in the growth of the contemporary 

safeguarding children’s agenda which the Homerton has had to respond 

to.  Nevertheless, staff have access to expert safeguarding advice, support, 

training, and supervision. The Homerton SCT and related staff have continued 

to contribute to the development and ongoing scrutiny of the multiagency 

safeguarding arrangements primarily through the work of the CHSCP.   Homerton 

ED continues to see growth in the cohort of vulnerable children with disabilities 

and additional needs who present in mental health and behavior crisis some 

require in patient care. This reinforces the need for a paediatric Learning 

Disability Nurse who can support this vulnerable group of children as well to 

enable staff to work effectively with these children and their families. There 

have been ongoing discussions with the commissioners regarding this issue. 

Recruiting to specialist children posts such as health visiting, paediatric nursing 

is a challenge locally and nationally.

Overall, whilst innovation and good practice is ongoing, the workforce challenges 

in specialist children roles persist, there are internal pressures to meet saving 

targets, continued increases in the safeguarding agenda at a national level 

(which include the implementation of the Families First Partnership Programme), 

the unknown must do’s from the Children’s Wellbeing and Schools Bill, coupled 

with the changes in NHSE which will impact on the statutory safeguarding 

responsibilities of ICBs.  This means that there are challenging times ahead for 

provider healthcare organisations.

HOMERTON HEALTHCARE NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 

P
age 148



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

75THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW74

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT

Enhanced Health Visiting Service (EHVS) is key in the 

early identification of safeguarding risk  and need, 

particularly among families who may not otherwise 

be visible to services. As a non-stigmatising, universal 

service, health visitors uniquely engage with all 

families with children under five, regardless of explicit 

health needs. This universal access enables early 

intervention and the provision of targeted, intensive 

support to vulnerable families.

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT

CAMHS - An Executive group for WAMHS has been 

created with the Head of Community CAMHS and 

Specialist CAMHS, Directors of Education and SEND.  To 

look across Hackney school at strategic joint pathways, 

role of CAMHS in to safeguard children from increased 

exclusion and to scrutinise practice and learnings from 

exclusions to change practice.  Recent changes to 

autism and co-occurring ADHD for new referrals using 

the hub and spoke model, meaning access to diagnosis 

whilst in treatment, cutting out secondary long wait 

hopefully eliminating further referrals and distress. 

This has come about following a QI and pilot project 

collecting feedback for parent and CYP on the effects 

of the new model. All resoundingly positive benefits for 

clinicians too, in terms of ethical practice.

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT

Children Therapy Services - As one of the outcomes from Child V child safeguarding 

practice review  therapists and  the Named Professionals are developing resources to 

identify neglect and the evidence base for non-engagement with health appointments in 

non-verbal CYP with profound physical disability. Children’s OT have made considerable 

progress in developing and embedding integrated pathways that enhance patient safety 

and reduce risks for vulnerable children. These have focused on four key areas:

•	 Fire Safety Risk Assessment: A holistic approach has been implemented to balance 

fire safety legislation with a child’s abilities and the risk of absconding, creating safer 

environments compared to other boroughs that rely heavily on 1:1 care packages 

through co-production of an updated fire safety risk assessment. 

•	 Safer Spaces Pathway: Designed for children with self-harming or challenging 

behaviours, this pathway ensures MDT collaboration and considers developmental 

needs, deprivation of liberty, and psychological factors. 

•	 Reducing Delays in Assessments: New systems were established to track, assess, 

and expedite high-risk cases, ensuring timely interventions. A ‘fast-track’ pathway 

was co-developed with the LBH Adaptations Team to address urgent cases 

efficiently. 

•	 Integrated Problem-Solving: Monthly risk management meetings have been 

introduced to ensure collaborative decision-making across health, social care, and 

housing teams, providing coordinated solutions for complex cases. 

These integrated pathways have significantly improved patient safety, with key 

outcomes such as reduced waiting times for assessments—decreasing from an average 

of 5.5 weeks to 3 weeks despite an increase in referrals. Additionally, formal complaints 

have been eliminated in the current period, compared to three in the previous year, 

further demonstrating the effectiveness of the service.

P
age 149



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 76

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE

Midwifery - Maternity safeguarding 

is launching the HOPE Box project. In 

summer 2025. This work brings together 

midwifery, social care, health visiting 

and charity organisations including Birth 

Companions for an MDT approach in 

supporting women and families at risk of 

separation from their babies.

IMPACT 

School Based Health Service  - The SBHS 

continues to offer assessments to all 

children entering child protection plans, 

with over 90% of CYP seen. The service 

has updated the contract variation to 

clarify responsibilities for children in local 

authority settings and City and Hackney 

residents. 

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT

Talking Therapies - City and Hackney Talking Therapies is a primary care mental health service 

delivering short term, mostly Cognitive Behavioural Therapy oriented therapy, to adults with 

common mental health problems. The service has worked closely relationship with City and 

Hackney community CAMHS to provide a small bespoke treatment pathway for over 16-year-

old patients who CAMHS determine to be suitable for therapeutic interventions. Within the last 

year an additional treatment pathway that prioritises the assessment and treatment of parents 

who have a child who is being seen within a CAMHS service. Although cases are small in number, 

this pathway supports the family unit receiving mental health intervention as they manage their 

challenging circumstances.

In addition, an internal child safeguarding support role was created which offers specific support 

to all our clinicians regarding the development of greater confidence in assessing and managing 

child safeguarding concerns. Such concerns may arise in any communication with a patient, and 

this role seeks to support staff in sensitively having such conversations with patients and holding 

more accurate knowledge around the role and function of child social care services. Additionally, 

from time to time our clinicians are requested to attend various child protection meetings and 

having this extra specialist support will also advise on the expectations and engagement in such.

This role has not been created to replace the function of the SCT who continue to advise our staff 

on child safeguarding concerns and recommended actions.  This new role is primarily intended 

to provide our staff with skills and knowledge to feel more confident in child safeguarding 

assessment, and in having accurate child social care information to support such patient 

conversations.

P
age 150



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

77THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW76

EVIDENCE AND LEARNING

City & Hackney CAMHS Alliance & Partners Learning 

Disabilities/Neurodevelopmental Conditions Working 

Group.  Homerton has been part this multi-agency group 

which is looking at developing joint working approaches 

to meet the needs of neurodiverse children.

CHALLENGES

CAMHS - Huge financial pressure on the workforce e.g. 

lack of drawdown of SEND funding from 2024 meaning 

good staff who were training have left. Pressures from 

ICB for integration for neuro disability and significant 

increase in neurodisability and complexity coming into 

CAMHS. 

Closure of Children Social Care CAMHS provision 

affecting CAMHS case work, meaning changes picked 

up in Specialist CAMHS and consequently Tier2/getting 

help increasing complexity and length of time needed for 

cases to remain open (closure of Quick Steps Autism due 

to no funding). 

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

77THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

P
age 151



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 78

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE AND LEARNING

The Trust has demonstrated strong improvement in safeguarding training compliance across both children and adult safeguarding in 

2024/25.  Level 3 Safeguarding Children training compliance rose to 89%, up from 83% in 2023/24 – a 6.7% increase year-on-year. 

EVIDENCE

ELFT maintains a robust safeguarding governance framework, ensuring effective leadership, accountability, and multi-agency 

collaboration across all services and boroughs. Safeguarding is a core responsibility embedded at all organisational levels, reflecting 

the Trust’s values.  The Trust contributes strategically and operationally through participation in various safeguarding partnership 

boards, subgroups, and local assurance meetings. This includes engagement in local audits, multi-agency training, and strategic 

reviews such as Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs), Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews (CSPRs), Domestic Abuse Related 

Death Reviews (DARDR), Channel Panels, and PREVENT/CONTEST Boards.  The Trust Safeguarding Committee meets quarterly to 

provide challenge and assurance regarding safeguarding arrangements and monitors compliance. Quarterly reports are submitted, 

providing assurance against responsibilities outlined in CQC Regulation 13, Contractual Safeguarding requirements, the Children Act 

(1989/2004), and the Care Act 2014.

EAST LONDON NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

EVIDENCE AND IMPROVEMENT

The Trust has implemented an improved reporting process for CSC referrals. From 1 April 2025, all staff are mandated to complete an 

InPhase incident report form concurrently with any child protection referral to CSC. This measure will enable timely and accurate data 

capture, effective oversight by the safeguarding team and prompt, effective intervention.

P
age 152



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

79THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW78

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT

Mental Health Support Team and Wellbeing and Mental Health 

in Schools:  The launch of the Low-Level Concerns guidance was 

supported through two CAMHS in Schools Forums, where staff 

explored its application and received input from safeguarding leads 

across the partnership.  We collaborated with Educational Psychology, 

Public Health, and Hackney Education on responses to school-based 

trauma, such as sudden deaths and community incidents. We also 

continue to support suicide prevention through staff training and policy 

development in schools.

Child A was referred to social care after risk of grooming and county lines 

emerged. The clinician supported the parent, ensured police involvement, 

and maintained confidentiality safeguards at school. The child is no 

longer considered at risk.

Child B came from a previously unknown family of five. The clinician 

identified safeguarding concerns, made trauma-informed referrals to 

Early Help and the Children’s Centre, enabling broader family support.

Child C, showing extreme aggression, was supported through coordinated 

agency input (including YOT and social care). A full risk and mental health 

formulation was documented, supporting a timely response.

Emotional & Behavioural Team (E&B):  The E&B team 

maintains regular safeguarding supervision and utilises 

MASH and trust safeguarding consultations to inform safe 

and timely care planning.  Weekly MDTs support risk-

based decision-making, and a new consultation pilot is 

helping clarify CAMHS involvement while families await 

assessment. The team works closely with schools and Local 

Authority services, referring complex joint CAMHS/CSC 

cases to the Complex Case Forum and ensuring smooth 

service transitions.

Case 1: A family with domestic abuse, parental mental 

health issues, and neurodiverse needs was supported 

collaboratively by CAMHS and Family Support, with effective 

TAC coordination leading to improved engagement.

Case 2: After Early Help initially closed a case, a joint MASH 

referral by CAMHS and school led to reallocation to a senior 

Early Help social worker. A robust package of support 

was arranged, and the father expressed gratitude for the 

collaborative care.

Continued overleaf. 

P
age 153



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 80

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT CONTINUED

Behaviour Support and Outreach (BS&O):  BS&O’s proactive, no-waitlist model 

enables swift risk response and family stabilisation. Strong links with MACE, EFRP, 

MASH, and local authority partners support contextual safeguarding work.

A referral for ADHD assessment led to a broader safeguarding concern being 

uncovered. MDT discussion led to MASH referral due to serious neglect and 

physical harm between siblings. All three children were placed on Child Protection 

Plans. Despite parental criticism over the non-diagnosis of ADHD, the case 

exemplified strong safeguarding vigilance and thorough clinical assessment

Adolescent Mental Health Team (AMHT):  AMHT engages in early consultation 

with MASH and works jointly with social care, Early Help, education, and other 

agencies.  Clinicians attend multi-agency meetings and reflect on complex 

cases in MDTs. Joint visits and care planning are common, with attention paid to 

addressing environmental factors affecting young people’s mental health.

Neurodevelopmental Team (NDT):  NDT contributes to multi-agency risk and 

planning forums such as the Dynamic Support Register (DSR) and LDA subgroup, 

focusing on young people with Learning Disabilities and Autism.  Safeguarding 

consultations are regularly sought, and all cases with risk of admission are 

reviewed via LAEP meetings to prevent unnecessary inpatient stays.  The team 

also contributes to service improvement work around Fetal Alcohol Spectrum 

Disorder (FASD), and has responded to a recent Serious Incident with enhanced 

risk recording and TAC documentation processes.

CHALLENGES

This year, our safeguarding work has reflected a 

deep commitment to integrated, trauma-informed, 

and child-centred care, despite the mounting 

pressures across health, education, and social care. 

We have responded to complex and evolving risks, 

strengthened frontline practice, and maintained 

a focus on vulnerable groups, including those 

affected by contextual harm, neurodevelopmental 

needs, and digital exploitation.  

Looking ahead, our priorities will include improving 

the quality and consistency of multi-agency 

collaboration, especially in the absence of some 

previously established forums; enhancing digital 

safeguarding approaches in response to emerging 

online risks; and supporting workforce capacity 

in light of system-wide financial pressures. In 

alignment with City & Hackney’s wider priorities, 

particularly around early intervention, equity of 

access, and coordinated care, we will continue to 

drive safe, responsive, and relational safeguarding 

practice across CAMHS.

P
age 154



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

81THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW80

CITY & HACKNEY PUBLIC HEALTH

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT

Commissioning - Safeguarding is a standing item on quarterly 

commissioning focused PHSMT meetings.  As part of our contract 

monitoring responsibilities, risk assessment and safeguarding is an 

agenda item. Commissioned service providers are required to discuss 

safeguarding concerns that occurred at each quarter and keep 

updated records of risk registers.

LEARNING 

Training - Children and adult level 1 safeguarding training is now 

mandatory for all public health staff

EVIDENCE

DAIS - An evaluation of the DAIS service has been completed to inform 

the recommissioning of this service, and a request for continued funding 

from April 2027.  

IRIS - Although public health withdrew funding for IRIS, we have 

continued to support this service by carrying out a service review as part 

of the DAIS evaluation mentioned above and supporting a business case 

for continued funding for IRIS from the ICB (outcome TBC). 

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

81THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

P
age 155



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 82

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE, IMPACT AND LEARNING

Identified from service that Public Health commissions: 

Health Visitors supporting caseloads of the most vulnerable families receive additional supervision from a Parent-Infant Psychotherapist and 

an Integrative Child Psychotherapist monthly in the form of reflective practice, to ensure that they receive the appropriate support required to 

safely and effectively manage complex cases.

The Schools Based Health Service conducted an audit of safeguarding assessments, ensuring adherence to quality and compliance standards. 

The audit revealed a high level of compliance with child-centred practices; however, it also identified areas for improvement, such as 

inconsistent documentation following handovers and variability in the care packages provided. The audit served as an opportunity to address 

these gaps promptly, leading to the implementation of digital monitoring for safeguarding sessions and regular reviews of documentation 

during both school nursing team meetings and supervision sessions.

CHALLENGES

Meeting the needs of socially vulnerable pregnant women and new mothers is a key priority. We are focused on strengthening our services to 

ensure they receive the support they need.  The Community Peer Mentoring Service, which began in November 2022, has not fully delivered on 

its intended outcomes and so the service will come to an end earlier than planned, in December 2025. We are also working with the Enhanced 

Health Visiting Service, commissioned in September 2023 to evaluate the impact of this service on this vulnerable cohort and are actively 

collaborating with the provider to improve the performance of these services. 

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT

System leadership - Public health led the completion of a review of the health and social needs, and inequalities, faced by Families in 

Temporary Accommodation. This review includes an overview of the evidence base, local insights and local support / provision and will inform 

system work to support the needs of this vulnerable cohort. 

P
age 156



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

83THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW82

CAFCASS

EVIDENCE 

Between April 2024 and March 2025 

Cafcass received a total of 16,195 children’s 

public law cases.

Between April 2024 and March 2025 

Cafcass received a total of 11,430 care 

applications.  This figure is 0.4% lower than 

the previous financial year.

The average for 2024-25 was 41 calendar 

weeks, which is 3 weeks lower than the 

previous year.

Between April 2024 and March 2025 

Cafcass received a total of 39,182 children’s 

private law cases.  This figure is 0.7% lower 

than the previous financial year.

PROBATION

EVIDENCE, IMPACT AND LEARNING

Over the past year, we have placed significant emphasis on learning and development, 

with updated training courses delivered on safeguarding children and adults, as well as 

domestic violence. These efforts have strengthened staff awareness and confidence in 

managing complex safeguarding concerns.

In addition, we have established stronger connections with specialist services within 

the borough, helping to clarify the support available and enhance our child-centred 

approach to risk management. This collaborative work ensures that interventions are 

informed, responsive, and aligned with best practice. We have also driven forward 

improvements in the quality of assessments. This has been achieved through case dip-

sampling, which ensures safeguarding concerns are being addressed in line with our 

statutory duties.

A continued focus has been placed on the accurate recording of safeguarding checks 

and responses across the PDU. This enables us to evidence the work being undertaken, 

particularly in relation to child safeguarding, and supports a culture of accountability 

and continuous improvement.

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

P
age 157



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 84

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

IMPACT 

CASE STUDY 1: The removal of a Registered Sexual Offender (RSO) from a residence 

where unsupervised contact with children was taking place led to a disclosure of 

offending behaviour. This decisive action eliminated the immediate risk posed to 

children and ensured the RSO was relocated to suitable accommodation, aligned 

with safeguarding protocols.  This case exemplifies the importance of proactive risk 

management, multi-agency collaboration, and the effective use of assessment tools in 

protecting vulnerable individuals and upholding public safety.

IMPACT 

CASE STUDY 2: During a routine home visit, professionals observed damage to the 

door of the property, which prompted further professional curiosity. This observation 

was escalated to the allocated social worker, enabling additional assessments to 

be carried out.  As a result, risk mitigation strategies were implemented to ensure 

the overall safety and wellbeing of the child. This case highlights the importance 

of frontline staff remaining vigilant and responsive to environmental cues, and how 

such actions can lead to timely safeguarding interventions.

CHALLENGES 

Staffing and Capacity:  Recruitment 

remains a key focus, with a plan in place and 

ongoing efforts to increase staffing levels. 

While numbers are improving, we are not 

yet at full complement and continue to 

experience capacity pressures, which are 

being monitored and actively managed.

New entrants require comprehensive 

training and time to build experience, 

particularly given the complexity of cases 

across the caseload. Senior Probation 

Officers (SPOs) are allocating cases based 

on skills and experience, while also 

providing mentoring from experienced staff, 

themed case discussions and workshops 

and enhanced oversight for complex cases.

P
age 158



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

85THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW84

Safer Workforce
Despite all efforts to recruit safely there will be occasions when allegations are made against 

staff or volunteers working with children.  Organisations should have clear procedures in place 

that explain what should happen when such allegations are raised. These should include the 

requirement to appoint a Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL) to whom these allegations are 

reported. It is ordinarily the responsibility of the DSL to report allegations to, and otherwise liaise 

with, the Designated Officer in the local authority (referred to as the LADO).  The LADO has the 

responsibility to manage and have oversight of allegations against people who work with children.  

In line with paragraph 2.1 of the London Safeguarding Children Procedures, the LADO should 

always be contacted when there is an allegation that any person who works with children has:

•	 Behaved in a way that has harmed a child or may have harmed a child.

•	 Possibly committed a criminal offence against or related to a child.

•	 Behaved towards a child or children in a way that indicates they may pose a risk of harm to 
children.

•	 Behaved or may have behaved in a way that indicates they may not be suitable to work with 
children.

•	 Behaved in a manner that discriminates against a child on the basis of one or more of their 
protected characteristics as defined by the Equalities Act 2010.

Further criteria (paragraph 2.2.) relates to allegations 

that can be made in relation to physical chastisement 

and restraint but can also relate to inappropriate 

relationships between members of staff and children 

or young people, for example:

•	 Having a sexual relationship with a child under 
18 if in a position of trust in respect of that child, 
even if consensual (see s16-19 Sexual Offences 
Act 2003).

•	 ‘Grooming’, i.e. meeting a child under 16 with 
intent to commit a relevant offence (see s15 
Sexual Offences Act 2003).

•	 Other ‘grooming’ behaviour giving rise to 
concerns of a broader child protection nature 
e.g. inappropriate text/e-mail messages or 
images, gifts, socialising etc.

•	 Possession of indecent photographs/pseudo-
photographs of children.  

P
age 159



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 86

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

Paragraph 2.3 of the procedures define were these should be applied when there is an allegation that any person who works with children:

•	 Has behaved in a way in their personal life that raises safeguarding concerns.  These concerns do not have to directly relate to a child 
but could, for example, include arrest for possession of a weapon.

•	 As a parent or carer, has become subject to child protection procedures.

•	 Is closely associated with someone in their personal lives (e.g. partner, member of the family or other household member) who may 
present a risk of harm to child/ren for whom the member of staff is responsible in their employment/volunteering.  

 

Once contact has been made with the LADO service, it will result in one of the five following actions being taken: 

•	 The contact/referral is managed by a LADO in another local authority.

•	 A consultation takes place where the matter is discussed between the referrer and the LADO to decide on what action to take next. 

•	 An evaluation meeting is held when the contact provides information that would suggest there is potential risk in the person’s 
employment but would require further information before the decision is made that LADO oversight or an investigation is required.

•	 Guidance and oversight are offered by the LADO when an employer is completing an internal investigation.  

•	 An Allegations against Staff and Volunteers (ASV) meeting will be convened when it has been decided by the LADO that the threshold 
of harm/risk has been met.  

P
age 160



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

87THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW86

The City of London

EVIDENCE

‘There are effective arrangements in place to oversee and manage 

allegations against professionals. Work is completed in a timely way. The 

local authority designated officer (LADO) provides effective guidance, 

support and training to external agencies.’ City of London Ofsted, 2024

EVIDENCE

This year there have been 122 contacts to the LADO Service, this is 

an increase of 48 from the previous reporting year, which is a 65% 

increase of contacts to the service. The increase in contacts is in line 

with London and National trends as is the fact that the vast majority 

of these, do not meet the LADO threshold. The increase in numbers is 

also attributable to improved recording methods.  There has also been 

a change to the categories of contacts recorded to include guidance 

and advice. Contacts recorded as consultations generally require a 

one-off conversation to ensure that all aspects of the situation have 

been considered, and that appropriate action is taken to reduce any 

risk and improve conduct. Those instances where guidance and advice 

is provided often results in further action by the employer, such as 

an internal investigation with oversight from the LADO, rather than 

requiring an Allegation against Staff and Volunteers Meeting which 

would be recorded as a referral. 

2023-24

2024-25

Oth
er 

Refe
rra

l

In
fo

rm
atio

n S
harin

g

In
fo

rm
atio

n R
equest

Guid
ance &

 A
dvice

Consu
lta

tio
n

40

35

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

38

26

0

25

16

27

9

27

5

9
6 7

Contact Comparison 2024-25 to 2023-24

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 87

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

P
age 161



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 88

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE 

There continues to be a wide range of 

agencies contacting the LADO, which 

demonstrates that the process is known 

and understood across a broad range of 

partners. The sectors with the highest level 

of contacts are ‘Other LA/LADO’ (23%) which 

is likely to relate to and the cross over with 

multiple Local Authorities in terms of where 

jurisdiction and responsibility may fall. The 

Head Offices of several agencies are also 

located in the City, so whilst professionals 

may not physically work in the City, their 

agency ‘employer’ is based here. Such 

cases are responded to in a timely and 

effective manner by the LADO, to ensure risk 

is managed by the appropriate area.  The 

ongoing good level of contact between the 

City of London Police and LADO (as well as 

other area Police forces) remains positive.  Other LA/LADO (28)
Other (20)
Education Primary (13)
CVS (12)
Education Secondary (12)
Police (8)
Inspectorate (6)

Adoption Agency (4)
CoL Corporation (4)
Health (4)
Religious Agency (4)
CoL Police (3)
Early Years (3)

Contact Source 
2024-25

P
age 162



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

89THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW88

EVIDENCE

In relation to the types of concerns being reported to the LADO Service, the four categories of harm (as per child protection procedures) are 

used alongside types of concerns relating to an individual’s personal life that could present transferable risk factors to their employment or 

work with children.  The categories are recorded in line with the presenting issue identified during the initial contact with the LADO.  

2023-24

2024-25

Sexual

Personal Life

Professional Conduct

Physical

Other

Organisational

N/A

Neglect

Multiple

Emotional

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Types of Concern Raised

 Emotional Multiple Neglect N/A Organisational Other Physical Professional 
Conduct

Personal 
Life Sexual

2023-24 6 0 2 0 5 12 9 18 6 16

2024-25 6 4 1 15 10 11 6 20 26 23

P
age 163



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 90

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE 

There continues to be a high level of reporting in relation to concerns of a sexual nature. This is positive 

and continues to demonstrate the impact of several high-profile sexual abuse prosecutions and ‘Me Too’ 

movement. This is a mix on non-recent and recent incidences and online offences.

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT

Of the 10 contacts that met LADO threshold and were classified as referrals, two remained open at the end 

of the reporting year as further information was being sought from Police and the employer. Three were 

transferred to other Local Authorities as this is where the employer was based. Three referrals triggered 

Allegations against Staff and Volunteers (ASV) Meetings.  Two of these resulted in a substantiated outcome 

and one in an unsubstantiated outcome. 

A substantiated outcome means “there is sufficient evidence to prove the allegation that a child has been 

harmed or there is a risk of harm” whilst unsubstantiated means “there is insufficient evidence to either 

prove or disprove the allegation. The term, therefore, does not imply guilt or innocence”.  Two involved sexual 

concerns whilst the third was physical. Where there was a substantiated outcome actions were made to 

refer to DBS, which is a legal duty for employers. In one case the statutory body was notified and there were 

ongoing internal HR processes initiated. In all cases individuals have been removed from their work with 

children in a timely way. 

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

90THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

P
age 164



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

91THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW9090

LEARNING 

LADO training continues to be provided through the CHSCP facilitated jointly by the Hackney LADO and the City 

LADO. It also continues to be well attended with positive feedback. Bespoke training requests for specific settings 

or teams can be provided as needed. The LADO also attends and contributes to the Safeguarding in Education 

Forum on a quarterly basis. The overview of the LADO continues to be part of bi-annual People’s Directorate 

Inductions which last took place on 15/11/2024.  A LADO podcast has also been recorded for Early Years workers 

who often struggle to attend day time training sessions, this can be found on the Family Information Service 

website; Training, forums and continued professional development - City of London Family Information Service.

EVIDENCE 

This year there has been continued focus on developing support tools to aid consistency and clarity in relation to 

LADO and employment processes. A LADO Referral Form has been developed and now sits on the CHSCP website as 

well as a guide for parents/carers who are considering engaging a private tutor or similar. An overview LADO leaflet 

has been updated and distributed. Also in train is the development of some guidance for employers around making 

referrals to the DBS, this is being produced in conjunction with the DBS Regional Outreach Advisor for London. 

IMPROVEMENT 

Priorities for the next 12 months include continuing to refine and develop the LADO training offer, to update website 

information and to refine recording systems to ensure that data and performance can be easily analysed and 

extrapolated.  Significantly, concerted efforts to be made to reach out to religious institutions in the City to raise 

awareness of the LADO arrangements and offer of training.

P
age 165

https://www.fis.cityoflondon.gov.uk/ey-send-hub/early-years-hub/forums-and-training


THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 92

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

Hackney

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

An effective local authority designated officer (LADO) service operates with clear systems in place to ensure timely 

responses to allegations against professionals. Partnership working is strong, and managers are ably assisted by 

the LADO to carry out their responsibilities. Training is relevant and routinely provided to partners to increase surety 

of their safeguarding practice’ Hackney Ofsted, 2024

EVIDENCE, IMPACT AND LEARNING 

A Peer Review was completed 31 May 2024 by the Islington LADO Service.  It covered a strategic overview, 

operational functions, data collection and case file standards. As part of this process, a self-audit was also 

undertaken.  Findings included:  The Hackney LADO service provides an efficient service in delivering management 

oversight of allegations against staff and volunteers who work with children. Thresholds are applied fairly and 

proportionally with clear management rationale. The range of referral sources suggests that the training delivered 

across the partnership has been successful in embedding the LADO role and ensuring employers understand their 

statutory duty in this area of work.  The partnership has provided overwhelmingly positive feedback in this peer 

review in terms of scrutiny, decision making and containing the anxiety this area of work can raise. The safety of the 

workforce and the children they serve is clearly at the core of the service.  Recording of contacts to LADO and the 

outcomes are clear. Further discussion around recording on Mosaic will be important to ensure potential patterns of 

behaviour of staff are picked up.  Succession planning and management oversight will be important to ensure this 

high-quality service continues in [the LADOs] absence.  The Hackney LADO is seen as an exponent of good practice 

across the London LADO network and a supportive member of the team.

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 92

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

P
age 166



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

93THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW9292

EVIDENCE 

The LADO service received 463 contacts during the period of 1st April 2024 to 31st March 2025 which is an increase of 52 (12%) on the previous 

year (411 contacts).  Other than during the COVID-19 pandemic, the trajectory of year-on-year increases in LADO contacts continues. 

500

400

300

200

100

0

79

463

411

355
311

174

309
266

165

225

175160
129

9994

2024/25

2023/24

2022/23

2021/
22

2020/21

2019
/20

2018
/19

2017
/18

2016
/17

2015
/16

2014
/15

2013
/14

2012
/13

2011
/12

2010
/11

Referrals per annum  
 2010/11 - 2024/25

P
age 167



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 94

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE 

The occupations with the highest number of contacts were 

school support staff (23.6%), teachers (22.4%) and nursery 

workers (14.4%) which remains consistent with 2022/23 

figures of 26.5%, 25.6% and 11.8% respectively.  This is likely 

attributable to the higher ratio of children to staff given 

schools and day care provisions have higher numbers 

of children accessing services compared with health or 

leisure facilities for example. 

EVIDENCE 

For 2024/25 the category with the highest number of 

contacts related to physical harm (31.3%) with conduct 

(28.7%) being the second highest.  Concerns in private 

life had the third highest number of contacts (19.6%).  

These categories mirror those of previous years.  ‘Other’ 

types of concerns set out in the table below are for those 

matters that do not fall under the defined categories of 

harm.  It includes, for example, notification of unregistered 

educational settings, seeking advice regarding the 

behaviour of students, information requests for references, 

Ofsted contact seeking information prior to inspections.    

0

30

60

90

120

150

S
ta

n
d

ar
d

s 
o

f c
ar

e

S
ex

u
al

P
h

ys
ic

al

O
th

e
r

O
n

lin
e

/
IC

T
 a

b
u

se

N
o

n
-r

e
ce

n
t 

se
xu

al

N
e

g
le

ct

M
u

lt
ip

le
 c

at
e

g
o

ri
e

s

Fa
ilu

re
 t

o
 f

o
llo

w

E
m

o
ti

o
n

al

C
o

n
d

u
ct

C
o

n
ce

rn
s 

in
 p

ri
va

te

002

23

5

133

91

7

21

145

34

2

Types of concern/category of harm - 
April 2024 to March 2025

P
age 168



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

95THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW94

EVIDENCE 

The occupations with the highest number of contacts related to teachers (24.8%), school support staff (23.5%), and nursery workers (11.2%) which 

remains consistent with 2023/24 figures.  This consistency is likely attributable to the higher ratio of children to staff within the education sector. 

Occupation groups  
2024/25

Youth Worker 
9

Voluntary Sector 
9

Transport 
7

Teacher 
115

Student 
7

Social Work Staff 
10

School Support Staff 
109

Residential Care Worker 
20

Private Tutor 
3

Police 
8

Other 
60

Nursery Worker 
52

Leisure Worker 
5

Health Professional 
19

Foster Carer 
13

Community Worker 
7

Childminder 
7

Carer - disabilites 
3

P
age 169



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 96

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE 

Consultations remained the highest demand for the LADO service in 2024/25 accounting for 81%, which is an increase of 23% compared with 

2023/24. This could in part be attributable to the overall increase in contacts, but also to DSLs and Headteachers becoming more familiar with 

the LADO process - requiring less guidance when notifying of a concern or allegation. There has been a slight increase in Evaluation meetings 

being held (7) and the increase in ‘Guidance and Oversight’ and ‘Other Local Authority’ could all be attributed to the overall increase in contacts. 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Other LAGuidance and 
oversight

Evaluation 
meeting

ConsultationABV Meeting

18

49

12

358

26

LADO Action - 2024/25

P
age 170



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

97THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW96

IMPACT 

Most cases considered at ASV meetings during 2024/2025 resulted in a ‘substantiated’ outcome.  Seven out of the 20 concluded cases resulted 

in an ‘unsubstantiated’ outcome.  The fact that the concern/allegation was not substantiated does not suggest that these matters did not need 

consideration under the LADO procedures.  It only indicated that evidence was lacking to support the allegation/concern or could not disprove 

it.  Only one case resulted in a ‘false’ outcome.  The cases that are ‘ongoing’ refers to awaited outcomes of Police investigations, some of which 

relate to suspicion of possession/distribution of indecent images of children which involves long waiting times due to the forensic analysis of 

electronic devices required and delays owing to the volume of such cases.    

0

2

4

6

8

10

OngoingFalseUnfoundedUnsubstantiatedSubstantiated

6

1

2

7

10 ASV meeting outcomes - 2024/25P
age 171



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 98

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE 

In terms of LADO outcomes, internal investigations 

completed by settings/employers made up 44.27% (42.09% 

for 2023/24) of the total outcomes with the second highest 

being information sharing at 16.41% (15.57% for 2023/24).  

Similar to 2023/24, for the period of 2024/25 ‘advice only’ 

was the third highest outcome at 9.93% (12.16% for 2023/24).  

Again, a strong statistical consistency exists year on year 

with the outcome of LADO contacts remaining unchanged.    

LEARNING 

The Hackney Education (HE) Safeguarding in Education 

Team runs an extensive training programme throughout the 

year including Safeguarding and Child Protection training 

for HE staff, Designated Safeguarding Leads for schools, 

colleges and early years, school and college staff, governors, 

early years and childminders. Their training covers safe 

practice and the procedures for dealing with allegations 

against adults who work with children and young people. 

They continue to run specific training dealing with managing 

allegations for managers in the early years and school sector, 

once every academic year for schools and twice for early 

years managers.    

LEARNING 

The Hackney LADO actively participates in peer discussions with 

colleagues to share knowledge, trends, and best practices to promote 

continued learning and development of the service in line with peers. 

The LADO is also a regular attendee at the London LADO Network to 

keep abreast of themes and practice dilemmas, to contribute to policy 

and guidance development, and to be part of the collective voice when 

challenges are needed to partner agencies.

IMPROVEMENT 

Every year, the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) will attend 

the Headteachers’ Termly Briefing to share key statistics and insights 

from this report. The aim is to keep school leaders informed and up to 

date on safeguarding and the LADO process.  A clear need for better 

understanding of the LADO’s role and procedures has been identified 

among Children’s Services staff. To address this, the LADO will provide 

training sessions for these teams and will also continue to offer 

tailored training to individual settings as needed. The LADO’s internal 

recording strategy is currently under review, with the goal of finalising 

a policy that ensures all records are kept accurately and efficiently. 

Finally, the LADO will continue to work in partnership with the London 

LADO Network, helping to develop Professional Standards and finalise 

drafted procedures that are awaiting approval. 

P
age 172



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

99THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW98

Learning & 
Improvement

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 99

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

P
age 173



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 100

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

Key Messages for Practice

Over the past few years, the CHSCP has undertaken a substantial range of activity 

seeking to identify lessons for practice improvement.  Through its learning and 

improvement framework, many have been captured.  That said, from all this work, 

we have seen a range of common themes that should remain as priorities for our 

front-line practitioners.  

SAFEGUARDING FIRST
The need for practitioners to adopt a ‘Safeguarding First’ approach to their practice 

has been a key theme for the partnership since the publication of its review 

into Chadrack Mbala-Mulo, and that involving Child Q.  This is not a particularly 

complicated message, but one that needs to be routinely reinforced, along with the 

CHSCP’s principles of children being seen, heard and helped.  Put simply, whatever 

your role or whatever policy or procedure you might be following, you should always 

be considering the safeguarding needs of a child.  Their safety and welfare should 

always be your first priorities and whilst ‘safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility’, 

that doesn’t mean you can rely on someone else to act.  You need to.

Applying this approach to practice is less about reading pages and pages of 

guidance, but more about the culture of how you and your agencies operate.  

Developing a culture that places the safety of children at the heart of our system 

is the first step we all need to take.  It’s also something that our leaders need to 

promote rigorously.  If they aren’t talking about safeguarding as a priority, those 

on the front-line won’t be either.  The next step is acknowledging that whilst 

safeguarding might be one priority amongst many for you, you need to make a 

concentrated effort to always base your decisions and actions on the best interests 

of the child.  Develop your skills and confidence, engage other practitioners and 

access the support from your supervisors. Listen to what children and young people 

have said they need from those who work with them (Working Together 2018).

Children have said they need...

Understanding and Action
to understand what is happening; to be heard and 
understood; and to have that understanding acted upon

Stability
to be able to develop an ongoing stable relationship 
of trust with those helping them

Support
to be provided with support in their own right 
as well as a member of their family

Respect
to be treated with the expectation that they are 
competent rather than not

to be informed of the outcome of assessments and decisions and 
reasons when their views have not met with a positive response

Explanation

Information and Engagement
to be informed about and involved in procedures, 
decisions, concerns and plans

Advocacy
to be provided with advocacy to assist them 
in putting forward their views

Protection
to be protected against all forms of abuse and discrimination 
and the right to special protection and help if a refugee

Vigilance
to have adults notice when things are troubling them

TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 100

P
age 174



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

101THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW100

CONTEXT
Context is key and understanding the context of a child’s life is 

essential for effective safeguarding.  In terms of practice, this is 

about how the partnership works together to better understand 

the lived experience of children at home, in education and in 

health, alongside those aspects that are typically outside of the 

family environment, such as peer groups, places and spaces, 

and the virtual world that children occupy through their use of 

technology and social media.  Knowing about these contexts 

will help us determine whether they reflect pathways to harm or 

pathways to protection.  However, it is usual that no one individual 

has oversight on the detail of everything.  In this respect, a first and 

important step is to make sure that professionals are confident in 

sharing information and talking with each other.  If you are worried 

about a child or young person, you are allowed to talk with other 

professionals without fearing you are doing something wrong. You 

aren’t. Talking to each other and sharing information when trying to 

protect people from actual or likely harm or to prevent a crime is 

lawful and in the substantial public interest.  

101THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

100

P
age 175



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 102

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

CURIOSITY 
Professional curiosity is the capacity and communication skill to explore 

and understand what is happening within a family rather than making 

assumptions or accepting things at face value.  This has been described 

at the need for practitioners to practice ‘respectful uncertainty’ – applying 

critical evaluation to any information they receive and maintaining an open 

mind.  In safeguarding the term ‘safe uncertainty’ is used to describe an 

approach which is focused on safety but that takes into account changing 

information, different perspectives and acknowledges that certainty may 

not be achievable. Professional curiosity can require practitioners to think 

‘outside the box’, beyond their usual professional role, and consider families’ 

circumstances holistically.  Professional curiosity and a real willingness 

to engage with children, adults and their families or carers are vital to 

promoting safety and stability for everyone.

Much has been written about the importance of curiosity during home visits 

and the need for authentic, close relationships of the kind where we see, 

hear and touch the truth of their experience of ‘daily life’ and are able to act 

on it and to achieve similar closeness with parents or carers.  Practitioners 

will often come into contact with a child, young person, adult or their family 

when they are in crisis or vulnerable to harm. These interactions present 

crucial opportunities for protection. Responding to these opportunities 

requires the ability to recognise (or see the signs of) vulnerabilities and 

potential or actual risks of harm, maintaining an open stance of professional 

curiosity (or enquiring deeper), and understanding one’s own responsibility 

and knowing how to take action.  Children in particular, but also some 

adults, rarely disclose abuse and neglect directly to practitioners and, 

if they do, it will often be through unusual behaviour or comments. This 

makes identifying abuse and neglect difficult for professionals across 

agencies. We know that it is better to help as early as possible, before 

issues get worse. That means that all agencies and practitioners need to 

work together – the first step is to be professionally curious.

Curious professionals will spend time engaging with families on visits. They 

will know that talk, play and touch can all be important to observe and 

consider. Do not presume you know what is happening in the family home 

– ask questions and seek clarity if you are not certain. Do not be afraid 

to ask questions (and difficult questions) of families and do so in an open 

way so they know that you are asking to keep the child or young person 

safe, not to judge or criticise. Be open to the unexpected and incorporate 

information that does not support your initial assumptions into your 

assessment of what life is like for the child or young person in the family.

P
age 176



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

103THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW102

CHALLENGE
Differences in professional opinion, concerns and issues can arise for 

practitioners at work and it is important they are resolved as effectively 

and swiftly as possible. Having different professional perspectives 

within safeguarding practice is a sign of a healthy and well-functioning 

partnership. These differences of opinion are usually resolved by 

discussion and negotiation between the practitioners concerned. It is 

essential that where differences of opinion arise, they do not adversely 

affect the outcomes for children, young people or adults and are 

resolved in a constructive and timely manner.  Differences could arise 

in several areas of multi-agency working as well as within single agency 

working. Differences are most likely to arise in relation to the criteria for 

referrals, outcomes of assessments, roles and responsibilities of workers, 

service provision, timeliness of interventions, information sharing and 

communication.  Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility and front-line 

staff need confidence in talking with each other about decisions that 

have been made, discussing any concerns regarding those decisions and 

where there isn’t agreement; escalating those concerns as appropriate.  

Remember, equally important is the culture of how we work; and it is 

vital that front-line staff are encouraged to remain professionally curious 

and to raise issues where they feel that their concerns for children and 

young people aren’t being addressed.  To help staff resolve professional 

differences, the CHSCP has issued a Dispute Resolution Policy.

P
age 177

https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/07/7.-CHSCP-Dispute-Resolution-Policy-FINAL-2024.pdf


THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 104

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

SAFER - The Golden Rules of Safeguarding 

We expect all safeguarding practitioners to be confident and competent in their ability to identify, assess, analyse and manage risk confidently. We want them to 

have an unswerving focus on the basics.  We must get this right - every time.  As a minimum, this means all safeguarding practitioners operating to the CHSCP’s 

Golden Rules of Safeguarding

We should all recognise the importance of good recording.  The ability to maintain records that are focused, accurate and evidence professional judgement is a key skill we 
expect all practitioners to have.  Good recording can help spot themes, patterns and trends in a child’s care (such a neglect).  They are a record for the child and an audit 
trail of your practice.   

Recording

Differences of opinion, concerns and issues can arise for practitioners at work, and it is important they are resolved as effectively and swiftly as possible.  Having different 
professional perspectives within safeguarding practice is a sign of a healthy and well-functioning partnership. Don’t be afraid to voice them.  These differences of opinion 
are usually resolved by discussion and negotiation between the practitioners concerned. It is essential that where differences of opinion arise, they do not adversely affect 
the outcomes for children, young people or adults and are resolved in a constructive and timely manner.

Escalation

Maintaining a focus on the child and hearing their voices is paramount to our local arrangements.  In all our work, we need to listen and think carefully about what children 
are saying and what meaning this has for them.  We need to try and understand their lived experience and what life is like through their eyes.  

Focus on the Child

When safeguarding children, practitioners working in the City of London and Hackney need to know what to look for and what to do if they think they’ve seen it.  This means 
practitioners having a good understanding of the signs and symptoms of abuse and neglect and a working knowledge of the local threshold tool.  It also means practitioners 
knowing where to seek help (for example, from their DSL) and how to report any concerns.  Importantly, practitioners from both children and adult services need to engage 
in our multi-agency arrangements, and when needed, contribute to any multi-agency meetings or processes tasked with helping and protecting children.

Assessing (& Managing) Risk

Good information sharing is vital when professionals are worried about people and want to help them.  Early sharing of information is the key to providing effective early help 
where there are emerging problems. At the other end of the continuum, sharing information can be essential to put in place effective child protection services.  Learning 
from Serious Case Reviews reinforces the fact that both children and adults can suffer significant harm or death when professionals fail to share information or fail to share it 
in a timely way. Good communication and appropriate information sharing between professionals is therefore a critical element of effective safeguarding practice.

Sharing Information

P
age 178



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

105THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW104

Reviews of Practice

Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews are undertaken on ‘serious child safeguarding cases’ to learn lessons 

and improve the way in which local professionals and organisations work together to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children. These reviews were previously known as Serious Case Reviews (SCRs) and were transitioned 

to this alternative model in July 2019.  As set out in statutory guidance: ‘Reviews should seek to prevent or reduce 

the risk of recurrence of similar incidents. They are not conducted to hold individuals, organisations or agencies 

to account, as there are other processes for that purpose, including through employment law and disciplinary 

procedures, professional regulation and, in exceptional cases, criminal proceedings.’   

EVIDENCE

•	 During 2024/25, two Serious Incident Notifications were made to the Child Safeguarding Practice 

Review Panel, both of which were subject to a Rapid Review by the CHSCP. From the notified cases,  

no Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews (LCSPRs) were commissioned.

•	 No Serious Incident Notifications were made relating to cases in the City of London.

•	 Three other Hackney cases (not meeting the criteria for notification) were also considered by the Case 

Review Sub-Group. 

•	 Two of these cases resulted in a Rapid Review and one LCSPR was instigated.

•	 In line with revisions made to Working Together to Safeguard Children 2023, one notification was made 

following the death of a Care Leaver.  Whilst a Rapid Review was held this did not result in a LCSPR.

•	 Two LCSPRs (Case A and Child V) were published during the reporting period.

•	 Full details of all the reviews published by the CHSCP are available HERE. 

  

PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

P
age 179

https://www.chscp.org.uk/case-reviews/


THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 106

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

Rapid Reviews

Following notification of a serious incident to the Panel, the CHSCP will always initiate a Rapid Review.  The aim of a Rapid Review is to: 

•	 gather the facts about the case, as far as they can be readily established at the time.

•	 discuss whether there is any immediate action needed to ensure children’s safety and share any learning appropriately.

•	 consider the potential for identifying improvements to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.

•	 decide what steps they should take next, including whether or not to undertake a child safeguarding practice review.

Once complete, the outcome of a Rapid Review and the CHSCP’s decision about whether a review is appropriate is shared with the Panel.  

The CHSCP’s analysis will include whether it thinks the case raises issues which are complex or of national importance such that a national 

review may be appropriate. Where an incident has not been notified and does not meet the criteria for notification, there is no requirement 

to send a Rapid Review to the Panel.  For all Rapid Reviews, whilst reports of these are not generally published, any actions arising from 

them will be developed and tracked by the Case review Sub Group.

IMPACT

For the first Rapid Review undertaken in 2024/25, TUSK briefings and video guidance previously produced by the CHSCP 

were disseminated focussing on information sharing, the DfE’s updated guidance and the issue of consent.  An action to 

reintroduce “Difficult Conversations” training is being taken forward by the TLD Sub Group. A themed session to discuss the 

threshold for triggering an LCSPR was placed on the agenda of the Case Review Sub Group.

P
age 180



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

107THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW106

IMPACT 

Following the second Rapid Review, to enhance practitioner awareness, 

the CHSCP developed a Partnership Briefing on child protection enquiries, 

detailing what they involve and differentiating between single and joint 

agency investigations under section 47 Children Act 1989. Additionally, 

CHSCP material on strategy discussions has been relaunched to clarify their 

purpose, attendees, and information sharing standards.

A key focus has been integrating anti-racism into practice, with the strategy 

discussion template having been reviewed and amended to strengthen its 

section on anti-racist practice and considerations. To improve understanding 

of neurodiversity and its impact on children and parents, the CHSCP has 

explored options for including relevant training courses within its program.

The CHSCP has also committed to identifying and supporting young carers 

by promoting awareness of Young Carers and relevant policies, procedures, 

and guidance via its website and TUSK briefings (newsletter). Finally, to 

ensure practitioners operate within their legal authority, available guidance 

issued under Working Together to Safeguard Children 2023, the London 

procedures, and local guidance has been reviewed to confirm sufficient 

description of respective duties and powers.

Alongside these multi-agency recommendations, individual agencies have 

also progressed a range of learning.  For example, Homerton Healthcare 

NHS Foundation Trust has focused on enhancing awareness and teaching 

on caring for neurodiverse clients by sharing further learning and resources. 

They also aim to embed a trauma-informed approach in service delivery, 

which involves working with staff to provide trauma-informed care, 

considering specialist teaching sessions, and holding webinars on Trauma-

Informed Care (TIC).

Furthermore, the Trust is improving awareness of police 

escalation pathways. This has involved establishing regular 

meetings with the police, developing tips for health and 

police staff on information sharing in safeguarding cases, 

and holding a learning event in September 2024. They have 

also been working to improve understanding of the purpose 

of Strategy Meetings and the roles and responsibilities of 

multidisciplinary teams (MDTs), including the impact of 

information sharing and language used by different agencies, 

through developing scenarios for simulation exercises.

IMPACT 

For the third Rapid Review, a short briefing note about the 

change in policy and process for reporting care leaver 

deaths was produced and sent as a letter from the ISCC 

to partner agencies.  An action covering how care leaver 

information can be integrated into the CPIS system is being 

pursued.

EVIDENCE 

The fourth Rapid Review process involved the concerns 

raised about Mossbourne Victoria Park Academy.  The 

LCSPR into this case remains ongoing at the time of writing.  

The review’s terms of reference and statements issued by 

the ISCC can be found HERE.

P
age 181

https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/05/Partnership-briefing-S47s.pdf
https://chscp.org.uk/young-carers/
https://www.chscp.org.uk/case-reviews/


THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 108

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

Local Child Safeguarding 
Practice Reviews 

One Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review was 

triggered in 2024/25 involving Mossbourne Victoria Park 

Academy.  Two LCSPRs were published (Child A and 

Child V).  Two others were ongoing (Child F and Child W).  

Published reviews are available on the CHSCP website 

HERE.  

With regards to the Child W review, a final report has 

been completed by the independent author, and this 

has been shared with the Child Safeguarding Practice 

Review Panel.  The CHSCP has determined this report 

shouldn’t be published and discussions continue with 

the Panel on this issue.  Our intention remains to release 

a summary of this case.  A final draft of the Child F 

has also been completed by the independent author, 

and this will be published shortly.  Whilst Case A was 

referenced in the 2023/24 report, it is included again in 

this year’s report.  

CASE A
In 2023, Mr A pleaded guilty to over 30 sexual offences involving both children and 

adults. He was given a custodial sentence, made subject to notification requirements 

and issued with a court-imposed Sexual Harm Prevention Order. His crimes included 

sexual assault, engaging in sexual activity in the presence of a child, making indecent 

photographs of a child, voyeurism, exposure and up-skirting. Without question, the 

nature and scale of Mr A’s offences are both shocking and deeply disturbing. However, 

they weren’t his first. In 2014, Mr A was found guilty of possessing indecent images 

of children and given a suspended sentence. At the time, notification requirements 

were put into place alongside a five-year Sexual Offences Prevention Order. Mr A 

participated in an internet sex offender programme, unpaid work and was monitored 

by a local Jigsaw team from the Metropolitan Police Service. Whilst subject to this 

supervision, Mr A became the father of two children. However, there was no record of 

him telling the police or the Probation service about their births. Furthermore, despite 

ongoing monitoring and there being intelligence that Mr A had a child, it was not until 

late 2018 that a referral was made to children’s social care. By this time, the eldest 

child was two and a half years old, and the youngest, five months. A statutory social 

work assessment was subsequently triggered by children’s social care, although this 

resulted in no further action and the case was closed. Supervision of Mr A remained 

with the police until the ending of his notification requirements in 2021. 

The LCSPR into this case was commissioned to examine how local agencies managed 

and mitigated the risks posed by Mr A to his children, other family members and the 

wider public. It was undertaken by the CHSCP’s ISCC (Jim Gamble QPM) and its Senior 

Professional Advisor (Rory McCallum). It makes five findings and five recommendations 

for improving practice.  

The full report can be read HERE.  

A Short Audio Briefing is available HERE.

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

P
age 182

https://www.chscp.org.uk/case-reviews/
https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/07/FINAL-LCSPR-Case-A-Published-July-2024.pdf
https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/07/Case-A-Audio.mp3


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

109THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW108

LEARNING

Finding 1:  The management of Mr A via the Level 1 MAPPA 

arrangements was insufficiently robust in terms of professional 

curiosity, rigour and authority.  Ineffective investigation resulted in 

missed opportunities to identify risk and intervention lacked any 

clear focus on the paramountcy of the child.

Finding 2:  Practitioners in children’s social care were too 

optimistic when engaging the family.  There was little evidence of 

thoroughness, reflection or an understanding about the risks posed 

by child sex offenders, and too much emphasis was placed on the 

police assessment of risk.  Opportunities were missed to bring the 

partnership together to develop clear safety planning and to ensure 

that everyone was sighted on this family’s circumstances.

Finding 3:  There was evidence of good practice by the health visitor 

and nursery manager.  Both showed initiative through the health 

visitor working directly with Ms R on strategies for safety and the 

nursery manager seeking out further information.

Finding 4:  Practitioners responsible for Level 1 MAPPA cases 

are potential single points of failure.  The absence of the need 

for formal multi-agency meetings, the reliance on professional 

judgement and the operational pressures on both the police and 

probation, means it is sensible to consider widening the cohort of 

practitioners who are automatically alerted to RSOs (i.e. beyond 

those agencies with access to ViSOR).  Whilst not advocating for 

unfettered information sharing, engaging key partners could help 

with monitoring and the identification of risk.

Finding 5:  Practitioners need to be mindful of the range of 

research findings about viewers of indecent images of children.  

Overreliance on messages about low recidivism rates or 

offending trajectory can lead to superficial conclusions, risk being 

misinterpreted and false reassurance.  In all circumstances, 

individualised assessments are required that engage those with 

sufficient expertise in this field of work.

P
age 183



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 110

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

IMPROVEMENT

Recommendation 1:  In all cases where known child sex offenders are having contact with children, the 

MPS (specifically MASH police officers (or equivalent)) should ensure that referrals are always made to 

children’s social care.  

Recommendation 2:  Both the MPS and the London Safeguarding Children Partnership should review 

their guidance on the risk management of known offenders and as required, strengthen the clarity 

on triggering a Section 47 enquiry when known child sex offenders are believed to be in contact with 

children.  

Recommendation 3:  The MPS should consider the sufficiency of its arrangements covering the disclosure 

of an offender’s details to third parties.  Where necessary, guidance should be updated to specify who 

is responsible for making third-party disclosures and who is expected to attend relevant multi-agency 

meetings where disclosures might need to be considered (such as strategy discussions).  The MPS should 

seek reassurance that its processes neither delay nor inhibit its duty to protect children from potential 

harm.   

Recommendation 4:  As part of its national review into Child Sexual Abuse in the family, the Child 

Safeguarding Practice Review should form a view on the potential for the secure and routine information 

sharing of Level 1 MAPPA Offenders with other key agencies, particularly General Practitioners.  

Recommendation 5:  The CHSCP should commission context specific training on child sex offenders and 

include this as part of its annual programme open to all practitioners within the City and Hackney.  

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

110THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

P
age 184



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

111THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW110110

IMPACT

The CHSCP Multi-Agency Action Plan for LCSPR Case A has made 

progress across several recommendations, which are rated using a 

RAG (Red, Amber, Green) system.  Learning on this case has been 

disseminated via the CHSCP’s TUSK briefing.

With regards to Recommendation 1, which requires the MPS to ensure 

that referrals are always made to children’s social care in cases where 

known child sex offenders have contact with children, the status is 

“GREEN - Complete”. Reassurance has been sought from the CE BCU in 

this respect and followed up through communication from the ISCC.   

Regarding Recommendations 2 and 3, which involve the MPS and 

the London Safeguarding Children Partnership (SCP) reviewing 

their guidance on the risk management of known offenders and the 

arrangements for disclosure, both are marked “AMBER – In progress”. 

Letters were sent to both organisations by the ISCC.  The London SCP 

has acknowledged the proposals and is considering them through its 

editorial board. 

With regard to Recommendation 4, which asks the Child Safeguarding 

Practice Review Panel to consider the potential for routine information 

sharing of Level 1 MAPPA Offenders with other agencies, this is rated as 

“GREEN – Complete”. At a meeting between the ISCC, the SPA, 

the Chair of the national Child Safeguarding Practice Review 

Panel and a Panel member, a briefing was given on a national 

review being published, with reassurance provided that the 

focus on information sharing and the functions of MAPPA would 

be considered within this piece of work.

For Recommendation 5, which tasked the CHSCP with 

commissioning context-specific training on child sex offenders, 

the status is “GREEN - Complete & Ongoing”.  The CHSCP 

commissioned a specialist provider to deliver bespoke training 

to social workers and police officers, alongside a more general 

course.  More training is being commissioned in 2025/26.

Finally, regarding the dissemination of learning, the CHSCP has 

completed several actions, including publishing the LCSPR 

report on its website, highlighting the learning in a “Things You 

Should Know” briefing, disseminating learning to the CHSCP 

Training, Learning and Development Sub-Group, and adding the 

report to the NSPCC repository. These actions were all listed as 

“Complete” as of July 2024.

P
age 185



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 112

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

CHILD V
Child V, a White female child, died in January 2023 at 

the age of seven.  She had a range of complex health 

needs and multiple diagnoses.  In the years preceding 

Child V’s death, there had been significant contact with 

practitioners from health and children’s social care 

due long-standing concerns about neglect and Child 

V’s health and wellbeing.  The review was authored by 

Sophie Humphreys OBE. It made five findings and four 

recommendations for improving practice.  

The full report can be read HERE.  

A Short Audio Briefing is available HERE.

LEARNING

Finding 1:  An insufficient focus on the cumulative harm 

that Child V was being exposed to meant that risk was 

never fully understood or agreed across the multi-

agency network.  This resulted in practice lacking both 

the authority and timeliness to ensure that Child V was 

effectively helped and protected.     

Finding 2: Insufficient management grip, knowledge deficits and the significant 

number of services involved with Child V meant there was an ambiguity about 

risk, case ownership, roles, responsibilities and communication.  The multi-agency 

processes in place to help practitioners coordinate intervention were largely 

ineffective in this complex case.   

Finding 3:  The main inhibitor to effective engagement in this case was Child V’s 

father.  Despite substantial efforts by the many practitioners involved, his entrenched 

views on the treatment and care for Child V meant that cooperation and change 

was unlikely.  Given the implications for Child V, this should have prompted a more 

robust response to ensure Child V’s needs were met and risk mitigated. 

Finding 4: Notwithstanding the significant efforts of many practitioners, the priority 

afforded to Child V’s needs was diluted by repeated attempts to influence a change 

in parental behaviours.  This approach continued even when the evidence showed 

this was unlikely to be successful.  Whilst safeguarding practice should always be 

characterised by empathy and a sensitivity, the safety and welfare of children must 

always be the primary drivers of decision making and action.

Finding 5: Notwithstanding the complexity of this case, care proceedings were 

neither timely nor effective in bringing about a material change for Child V. 

P
age 186

https://www.chscp.org.uk/case-reviews/
https://chscp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/07/Child-V-Audio.mp3


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

113THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW112

IMPROVEMENT

Recommendation 1:  Safeguarding partners should seek to strengthen their 

arrangements for how neglect is understood, identified, assessed and planned 

for across the partnership.  Alongside ensuring that practitioners are alert to the 

cumulative impact and wide-ranging sources of neglect, there should be a specific 

focus on children with disabilities and complex health needs as part of this work. 

Recommendation 2:  The Local Authority and NEL NHS ICB should review the 

effectiveness of its arrangements governing multi-agency practice with children 

with disabilities and complex health needs.  Reassurance should be sought that 

these arrangements are explicit about roles and responsibilities as they relate to 

the assessment, planning and review of risk.  The frequency and focus of multi-

agency meetings that bring the network together should be sufficiently robust to 

ensure drift and delay in casework is avoided. 

Recommendation 3:  The CHSCP should issue practice 

guidance and review its offer on delivering local multi-

agency training aimed at working with parents / carers 

where their engagement is reluctant or sporadic.   

Recommendation 4:  The Local Authority should review 

the existing arrangements for how independent expert 

reports are commissioned.  Whether commissioned as 

part of ongoing proceedings or in other circumstances, 

the Local Authority should seek reassurance that these 

arrangements are sufficiently robust to ensure these 

reports are properly scrutinised and challenged. 

P
age 187



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 114

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

IMPACT

The CHSCP Multi-Agency Action Plan for LCSPR Child V has made 

progress across several recommendations, which are rated using a 

RAG (Red, Amber, Green) system.  Learning on this case has been 

disseminated via the CHSCP’s TUSK briefing and included in a podcast 

from RISE.

With regards to Recommendation 1, the status is “GREEN - COMPLETE”. 

The CHSCP already has guidance in place, a range of tools available 

for practitioners and a rolling training program on neglect continues. 

The team plans to engage with the London Safeguarding Children 

Partnership’s neglect workstream (this is a London priority for 25/26) to 

see if any further earning or initiatives can be accrued.

Regarding Recommendation 2, this action is rated as “GREEN - action 

closed”. Significantly, clarity around the roles and responsibilities of 

practitioners helping and supporting families will be addressed as part 

of the wider reforms being implemented through the Families First 

Partnership Programme.

In terms of Recommendation 3, concerning the development 

of practice guidance and training for working with families 

where engagement is reluctant or sporadic, this is also 

“GREEN - COMPLETE”. A specific Partnership Briefing has 

been developed and communicated, and the TLD Sub-

Group is actively planning to reintroduce training on “Difficult 

conversations”.

With regard to Recommendation 4, the Local Authority has 

clear arrangements in place for commissioning independent 

expert reports.  Furthermore, the learning from this review has 

been cascaded, with a focus on ensuring ongoing professional 

curiosity and challenge takes place where such reports do not 

align with the plans of the LA.  Whilst ‘expert’ reports are often 

requested by the LA itself or instructed (at Court), they should 

never be judged as ‘superior’ to the expertise held internally or 

accepted automatically where there are differences of opinion. 

P
age 188



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

115THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW114

CHILD Q
The CHSCP’s multi-agency action plan in response to the Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review and the Update Report for Child Q was last updated in 

August 2025.  As with other action plans, this is being overseen by the CHSCP’s Case review Sub Group.  By way of summary, several key recommendations 

remain in progress / awaiting updates.

PACE Code Revisions: Several recommendations depend on the outcome 

of a statutory consultation on revisions to the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 

1984 (PACE) Code of Practice. These include updating police guidance on the 

engagement of appropriate adults and defining the safeguarding needs of 

children during strip searches. The consultation response to the Home Office 

was drafted in June 2024, but the actions remain in progress pending the 

outcome of this consultation.

CHSCP Surveys and Engagement: The CHSCP was tasked with launching 

borough-wide, age-appropriate surveys to gather children’s views on 

safeguarding, with a focus on themes from the Child Q review, such as feeling 

safe in school. Whilst some of this activity is being reflected in the LCSPR 

involving Mossbourne Victoria Park Academy, work will be taken forward in 

2025/26.  Progress has been hampered by capacity limitations within the 

CHSCP team.

DfE Guidance on Strip Searching: The Department for Education 

(DfE) previously confirmed with the CHSCP it was reviewing 

its guidance on strip searching in schools following a request 

by the CHSCP that it better emphasises the "very exceptional 

circumstances" in which such an action would be appropriate. This 

work was reported as being considered alongside the Home Office 

and is still in progress.

BCU Commander Recruitment: This recommendation was 

for the MPS to develop mechanisms for local representatives to 

be included in the recruitment processes for BCU Commanders 

across London. This recommendation is aimed at strengthening 

accountability and improving community relationships. As of August 

2025, there has been no further update on this action.

P
age 189



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 116

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

Auditing

CHILD SAFEGUARDING STATEMENTS 
Developed from a model in operation in Ireland, Child Safeguarding Statements 

are intended to enhance an organisation’s ability to identify potential risks, 

develop policies and procedures and review whether adequate precautions 

have been taken to eliminate or reduce these risks. They require sign off 

from Chief Executives / the most senior person within an organisation.  This 

reinforces the need for these key roles to be directly engaged in and sighted 

on their organisation’s strengths and weaknesses. Following a successful pilot 

and reflecting on feedback from participating agencies, a wider programme 

engaging all Relevant Agencies and Named Organisations in City and Hackney 

was agreed and in progress across 2024/25.  Capacity issues in the CHSCP 

Team have meant this initiative has been temporarily paused.

Full details of the Child Safeguarding Statement programme can be found 

within the Learning and Improvement section of the CHSCP website. This 

webpage contains a live index of organisations and their completed Child 

Safeguarding Statements.  Whilst not an official accreditation, this will provide 

a public directory of agencies that have cooperated with the CHSCP’s written 

safeguarding arrangements.

MULTI-AGENCY CASE AUDITS
The Multi-Agency Case Auditing programme has been developed to 

focus on specific areas of the safeguarding system. This has allowed 

multi-agency partners to adapt rapidly to local or national intelligence.  

This auditing methodology has received excellent feedback from 

partners and lessons identified have led to tangible improvements.  All 

audits result in an outcome-focussed action plan that the CHSCP uses 

to track and evidence improvements in front-line practice. Learning is 

also disseminated to front line staff via the Things You Should Know 

(TUSK) monthly briefings. 

In 2024, the CHSCP undertook a multi-agency case audit of cases 

involving ‘Tier 3.5’ cases of children with mental health needs.  The 

cohort included children with ASD.  The following provides a summary 

of the audit’s findings.  By way of context, the audits identified known 

demand pressures and the impact on aspects such as timeliness and 

waiting lists.  These pressures fully recognised by our local system, 

with children’s mental health remaining on the CHSCP’s risk register.  

That said, a good range of mitigations are in place and there is ongoing 

focus, effort and innovation across the partnership.

P
age 190

https://chscp.org.uk/childsafeguardingstatements/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

117THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW116

EVIDENCE 

Practitioners are generally alive to issues 

of risk and need and use internal pathways 

to escalate and report concerns.  There is 

a focus on identifying and addressing the 

lack of appropriate educational provision 

for vulnerable children.   Efforts continue 

to be made to understand the challenges 

of exclusions and the work of the REU.   

The audit also highlighted thoughtful 

approaches by practitioners in capturing 

the voice of children and young people 

and integrating it into plans.   There is 

a focus on engaging the wider family 

and family network in planning.   Good 

practice was seen in giving children and 

young people the space to be seen by 

themselves and picking up on nonverbal 

signs of communication. Schools continue 

to provide substantial in-and-out-of-school 

support for children.  Agencies are actively 

trying to make a difference and support 

children.   

EVIDENCE 

Mental health issues in children can often be misunderstood or minimised, leading 

to delayed identification and intervention.  There can also be the added complexity 

involving stigma – that can discourage some families from seeking help or 

acknowledging their child’s needs.  Early signs of mental health issues may also be 

misinterpreted as behavioural issues or dismissed as developmental phases – and 

responded to as such.  This results in need being unmet, ineffective support and 

ultimately, poorer outcomes for children.

Positively, in the context of the cases audited by the CHSCP, there was good evidence 

that staff were alive to the issues and risk and need which present for children 

requiring mental health support. There was also evidence of internal and external 

pathways being used effectively by staff to report concerns and access support for 

children and families.  Notwithstanding ongoing challenges, local support via the 

CAMHS Alliance and initiatives such as the Wellbeing and Mental Health Service in 

Schools initiative are making a difference.

The CAMHS Alliance facilitates better partnership working between different 

organisations and services, and ensures we deliver integrated pathways that can 

effectively reach more children, young people, families, schools and the wider 

community. The Alliance is formed by different services and partners that work across 

City & Hackney and deal with a range of issues, of levels of need and with specific 

groups of population.  In this directory you can find a description of each of the 

services that are part of the Alliance, what they do and who is eligible to access them, 

as well as how to refer a young person who might need their services.

P
age 191

https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/hackney/fsd/files/camhs-directory-updated-2023.pdf


THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 118

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE 

The audits showed good practice with two ‘pilot’ schools engaging multi-disciplinary 

teams (MDTs). These schools are identifying challenges for children early, putting in 

school interventions, with the pathways to the MDTs resulting in wrap around provision 

for children and families. Screening at the front-door of children’s services is also 

focusing on mental health needs in the context of early help.  

The Hackney Child Wellbeing Framework and the City of London Threshold of 

Needs tool continue to help guide practitioners on the most appropriate response 

for presenting levels of need.  Needs relating to the emotional health, wellbeing and 

behaviour of children are explicitly articulated.

EVIDENCE 

The audits evidenced that practitioners from key agencies, including schools, were 

attending regular multi-agency meetings for these children. More broadly, there is 

evidence of ongoing scrutiny on issues relating to attendance that continue to help 

shape policy and support for children. That said, there is a need to better understand 

the challenges that children face in this context and the sufficiency and efficacy of 

interventions. 

EVIDENCE 

The audits demonstrated a thoughtful 

approach to gathering the voice of children 

and young people and ensuring these 

were being integrated into any plans. Older 

young people had been given the space 

to be seen by themselves or with a parent 

/ carer if they were particularly anxious. 

There was also evidence that the wider 

family network was engaged during the 

planning process.  A training package is 

being developed by Homerton Healthcare 

to support professionals in documenting the 

voice of the child and really understanding 

what this means and looks like. The training 

is intended to be open access and could be 

further developed with a multi-agency focus 

in future. 

P
age 192



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

119THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW118

EVIDENCE 

Effective support requires collaboration among multiple agencies and 

stakeholders, including parents, teachers, healthcare providers, and 

children’s social care. Poor communication and fragmented systems make 

coordination challenging.  Children in foster care or those experiencing 

family instability face unique difficulties due to frequent transitions between 

caregivers and providers. Whilst noting the ongoing challenges around 

waiting lists, provision and demand, the audits demonstrated that good 

support is being made available, including that within schools.  There was 

good evidence of the commitment of agencies trying to make a difference 

and support individual children with mental health needs. 

Hackney’s Re-Engagement Unit (the REU) is a service that supports families 

and schools if a child is finding engaging in school difficult. The aim of the 

service is to enable all children to be happy and to achieve.  The REU is 

made up of workers from many different professional backgrounds: teachers; 

learning mentors; family support workers amongst others. The REU is also 

supported by a clinician from the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service 

(CAMHS). Find out more information here.

EVIDENCE 

The audits identified recent changes in the template 

for strategy discussions are helping ensure anti-racist 

practice is better considered as part of this process.

EVIDENCE 

Transition periods are known for being a risky period 

with escalating issues. The audits highlighted the 

importance of persistent practitioners who keep a 

focus on the child and can professionally challenge 

colleagues and the system to advocate for the needs 

of the child. From a health perspective - as the holders 

of central health records, GPs were noted as being 

very important in the transition process.  Of note, 

one of the audits reviewed demonstrated excellent 

practice in expediting a child’s assessment for ADHD 

during a period of transition. 

P
age 193

https://education.hackney.gov.uk/content/re-engagement-unit


THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 120

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

LEARNING AND IMPROVEMENT 

Information sharing was identified as 

an issue in several areas, with concerns 

about timeliness, clarity of consent, 

and lack of follow-up.   There can be 

confusion or anxiety among frontline 

professionals about expectations around 

information sharing.   Issues were also 

raised about timeliness and waiting lists 

for access to services, particularly for 

appropriate residential and educational 

provision.   There is a need for better joint 

working and a more integrated approach, 

especially for children who do not neatly 

fall into CP, LAC, or CIN categories.   

The audit highlighted a lack of clarity 

around the remit and responsibilities of 

each agency, particularly concerning 

exclusion processes and pathways. 

LEARNING AND IMPROVEMENT 

Practice issues were identified about the regularity of reviews and meetings, and agencies 

being kept in the loop.    The audit identified a gap in the system for children with complex 

needs and families who struggle, with a lack of structure for routine and regular multi-

agency working.   There is a need for greater consideration of child and family identity, 

including ethnicity, sexuality, and gender.   While some agencies have grasped this well, 

others have not, highlighting a need for greater awareness and training.   Transitions, such 

as moving from primary to secondary school or changes in social workers, were identified as 

risky times with potential for escalating problems.   The audit highlighted a need for greater 

attention to transitions and ensuring continuity of support during these times.   

LEARNING AND IMPROVEMENT 

Ongoing challenges with language barriers and accessing interpreters with the right dialect 

were identified.   This can impact the timeliness of meetings and the ability to engage parents 

effectively.   Overall, there is a need for greater understanding and awareness of the health 

architecture and system among partners.   The audit highlighted a need for a more robust and 

comfortable system for professionals working with children and families.   There is a lack of 

awareness on what is happening in the space of attendance issues and their link to other risks.    

P
age 194



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

121THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW120

LEARNING AND IMPROVEMENT 

Identification and Assessment or Risk and Need:  The audits 

evidenced increased confidence is needed at an individual 

and agency level around the sharing of information. They 

noted improvements can be made where agencies are 

being asked for information by statutory agencies – such as 

children’s social care.  On occasions, agencies are not being 

advised of the outcome of a referral, and this is not being 

followed up by them. Previous audit rounds have also noted 

that agencies had sometimes not been provided the context 

of concerns when being asked to share information.  This 

meant they were unable to make a rational judgement on 

exactly what information should be shared. 

The Department for Education has released updated 

guidance which is much sharper at emphasising the lawful 

basis for sharing information when there are safeguarding 

concerns. 

The audits practitioners need for practitioners to remain alert 

to the different agencies involved with a child / family and 

who else might need to be engaged in the assessment of 

need and planning for support.

The audits also found that there can be variability in practice as it relates 

to the identification of lead professionals and how activity is coordinated 

for children within this cohort – particularly where support is not part of 

any statutory intervention.  In these circumstances (i.e. early help), cases 

can become more reliant on individual capacity and judgment as opposed 

to systems and processes.  There can also be a lack of understanding and 

assumptions made about which agency is ‘leading’ and has ‘responsibility’ 

for a case. The issues relating to lead professionals have featured in 

previous reviews undertaken by the CHSCP and are subject to ongoing 

consideration both locally and nationally. 

The audits evidenced a need to further consider exclusions in the context 

of children who might not be able to access services rapidly and who 

go on to exhibit challenging behaviours in school. Due to the nexus of 

exclusion with missing children and the escalation of risk, this is an aspect 

that requires ongoing scrutiny via the CHSCP’s arrangements.

The importance of using interpreters was recognised in the audits, 

although it was noted that a lack of translators who both have the right 

dialect and also understand mental health, vulnerability and additional 

needs, could inhibit the ability to practice as well or as timely as needed. 

P
age 195



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 122

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

SINGLE AGENCY AUDITING
Partner agencies of the CHSCP have continued to operate a variety of single agency quality assurance frameworks to maintain oversight on safeguarding 

and promoting the welfare of children and young people. Examples of audits undertaken are below:

EVIDENCE AND LEARNING 

In April, the City of London Corporation’s 

Quality Assurance template, process and 

review quality was scrutinised by the 

East London Peer Audit Group. The group 

review the most recent round of 14 reviews 

completed within the Practice Assurance 

Review and commented on the strengths 

and areas for development in relation to the 

tools used and process. This was a helpful 

exercise which has led to an updating of 

the practice review template and questions, 

is informing a more consistent and robust 

moderation process, and supported the 

updating of the QA framework.   The monthly 

Quality Assurance Recommendation 

Tracking and Impact meetings continue 

to ensure that the learning loop is 

complete, and we can be assured that 

recommendations have been completed and 

measure the impact of these on improving 

outcomes for children and families.

EVIDENCE, LEARNING AND IMPROVEMENT 

Across Hackney Children and Families Service, an impressive 85% of learning 

conversations on special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) were rated as 

either Good or Outstanding. This positive trend was also evident in a follow-up review 

by Practice Development Managers, where 58% of files had improved to a Good rating, 

and two cases specifically moved from Requires Improvement to Good, demonstrating 

that audit actions are effectively driving change for children.

Positive practice was seen in several other areas as well. The Multi-Agency 

Safeguarding Hub (MASH) received strong ratings for its feedback to referrers, with 

39% of dip samples rated Outstanding and 43% rated as Good. Practice with Children in 

Need was rated 88% Good or Outstanding, while practice for Looked After children was 

rated 100% Good. Furthermore, audits of DAIS (Domestic Abuse Intervention Service) 

practice were 100% Good, highlighting that client history and vulnerabilities were 

consistently being considered.

A collaborative audit with the Children and Families Division also yielded positive 

results. The audit of Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) found that 

93% of assessments clearly identified and captured children’s needs. Similarly, audits 

of Young Hackney highlighted the clarity of pathways and access to services as a 

particular strength. However, within Youth Justice audits, while family engagement, 

the child’s voice, and identity were identified as strengths, there is a clear need for 

improvement in the areas of planning and reviewing.

P
age 196



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

123THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW122

EVIDENCE, LEARNING AND IMPROVEMENT 

During the 2024-25 period, the safeguarding team at the East London 

NHS Foundation Trust (ELFT) carried out a series of multi-agency 

and Trust-wide audits. These audits were prompted by key learnings 

from both local and national case reviews. The findings, insights, and 

recommendations were shared with individual staff, managers, and 

the Trust Safeguarding Committee. The primary goal was to provide 

assurance and ensure that valuable lessons were disseminated 

throughout all directorates to improve practice. The audits focused on 

several key areas, including a “Think Family” approach, the “Voice of the 

Child” in adult services, domestic abuse practice and reporting, and child 

neglect. Across all these audits, several key themes emerged. There was 

a strong emphasis on training and supervision to improve safeguarding 

skills and compliance throughout the Trust. To enhance the accuracy and 

clarity of data, new reporting and audit tools were introduced, focusing 

on data quality. A significant finding was the need for a renewed focus 

on child-centred practice, specifically ensuring that the voice and lived 

experiences of children are captured effectively. Furthermore, the Trust’s 

safeguarding policies were updated to better align with the “Think 

Family” and domestic abuse guidance. Finally, the use of repeat audits, 

supervision, and newsletters was identified as a continuous learning 

strategy to drive ongoing quality improvement.

EVIDENCE, LEARNING AND IMPROVEMENT 

The Metropolitan Police conducted an audit of ten cases 

focusing on children who were witnesses to or involved in 

domestic abuse (DA) offences. The audit identified key lessons 

and has led to several changes aimed at improving practice.

One major finding was the delay in actioning tasks from Multi-

Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARAC) when children 

were involved. To address this, any actions set at MARAC will 

now be sent via email not only to the Officer in Charge (OIC) 

and their supervisor but also to the Children’s Advice and 

Information Team (CAIT) referral mailbox. The Connect system 

will also be updated. This new process aims to prevent delays 

caused by staff absence or leave. A second issue identified 

was that Connect triage cards were not consistently being 

completed with full information, which hindered Children’s 

Social Care (CSC) from taking appropriate action. In response, 

all frontline officers will now receive training on how to 

complete these cards correctly and on the importance of 

professional curiosity in their work. Additionally, training 

on how to refer cases to MARAC has been provided to all 

frontline officers, with presentation slides being circulated to 

ensure the information is widely accessible.

P
age 197



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 124

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE, LEARNING AND IMPROVEMENT 

An audit was conducted by Homerton Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 

on initial health assessments (IHA) in City and Hackney, reviewing five 

reports from the City and ten from Hackney. The audit’s recommendations 

focus on improving the IHA process, from referrals and documentation 

to the assessments themselves.  To ensure ongoing quality, the audit 

recommends a re-audit in 18 months and the continuation of the current 

caseload approach. Several recommendations address the referral and 

administrative processes, including the ongoing use of existing escalation 

processes for delayed IHA referrals from the Local Authority (LA). It is 

also advised that the consent process is clarified with the LA to ensure 

consistency and that documentation of key dates for IHA bookings is made 

more consistent by liaising with Looked After Children (LAC) administrative 

staff.  The recommendations also focus on improving the quality of the 

assessments. It is a priority to hold face-to-face health assessments and 

to liaise with the LA to ensure relevant background information is shared 

before appointments. The audit also stressed the importance of having 

the named social worker, or a colleague, present at all IHAs. Finally, it was 

recommended that the named General Practitioner (GP) prioritises the 

sharing of GP and immunisation records, and that part C of the assessment 

form be adapted to reflect whether children and young people (CYP) and 

their carers were offered the opportunity to be seen alone and whether 

consent was taken for those over 16 years of age during the appointment.

EVIDENCE, LEARNING AND IMPROVEMENT 

Probation continues to prioritise 

safeguarding through ongoing review 

and monitoring of safeguarding training 

across the region, case dip-sampling 

to ensure concerns are identified and 

addressed in line with statutory duties and 

a continued focus on accurate recording 

of safeguarding checks and responses 

across the PDU.  These measures are 

essential to ensure we can evidence the 

safeguarding work being undertaken, 

maintain compliance, and uphold the safety 

of children and vulnerable adults.

P
age 198



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

125THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW124

The Voice of the Child, Family & Community

Throughout the year, agencies have demonstrated their ongoing commitment to capturing the voices of children, families, and the community 

as part of casework and wider engagement activity.  Listening and responding to the diverse voices of the community helps to create a more 

supportive and responsive environment for children and families.  Whilst impossible to set out all this activity within the CHSCP’s annual report, this 

aspect was scrutinised by the Quality Assurance Sub Group early in the year.  Some examples of activity are set out below:

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

A key initiative was the establishment of the City of London Children and Families Team’s 

Children in Care Council supper club, which began at the beginning of the year. Born from 

feedback about isolation among care leavers, these monthly gatherings provide a relaxed, 

informal setting for young people to connect, build friendships, and support one another. 

The positive impact is already evident, with a consistent core group of 8-10 attendees who 

are developing strong peer networks. This sense of community has boosted their confidence, 

encouraging new members to join subsequent events and reducing anxiety by sharing 

experiences and hearing consistent messages from professionals.

The supper clubs also revealed a need for more specific support, leading to the creation of 

monthly online information sessions. These sessions, facilitated by a participation worker 

and attended by senior staff and subject matter experts, address topics like bus passes and 

housing processes. This direct access to personalised information has been well received, 

giving young people a reliable space to get answers to their questions and feel more 

informed about their entitlements. In addition, we facilitated a theatre trip for our young 

people to see “For Black Boys Who Have Considered Suicide When The Hue Gets Too Heavy,” 

which sparked important conversations about mental health and well-being, allowing them 

to share coping strategies with each other.

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

The WAMHS conference provided a 

platform for educators and mental 

health workers to hear from young 

people directly, with a standout 

performance from Haggerston School 

drama students and a poignant 

speech from a young person on the 

autism spectrum. This highlighted the 

importance of compassion-focused 

approaches in schooling. 

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

Hackney Education actively consulted 

with fathers and male carers to inform 

the development of Children and 

Family Hubs. 

P
age 199



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 126

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

In March 2025, the City of London Corporation completed its 10th independent 

Annual Survey. This involves individually contacting all children, parents and carers, 

children in care, and care leavers, who have received services from Children’s 

Social Care and Early Help. A tailored survey of questions is asked to each person, 

dependant on the type of service they have accessed. The exercise ensures that an 

impartial view of service user experience is collated and demonstrates to children, 

parents and carers, children in care, and care leavers that their experiences matter, 

and services can and will adapt in response to their feedback.

This year there was a 51.2% completion rate. There remained consistently positive 

feedback about the work of Early Help and Children’s Social Care services within 

the survey. Although it was noted by a small number of families that they would 

welcome more support around housing and managing /supporting additional 

needs of their children.  100% of children in care responded to the survey. All are 

happy with where they are living and gave positive feedback about support and 

accessibility of social workers. All children felt that they had safe people in their 

lives to speak to.

Themes of loss and isolation continue, not surprisingly, to prevail within the care 

leaver cohort, given the majority are former unaccompanied asylum-seeking 

children. However, this year callers had been provided with a range of support 

services to signpost young people too. Where young people described unhappiness 

with their home, this was in main due to wanting a permanent tenancy. There were 

strong positive feelings towards social work support seen. 

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

126THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

P
age 200



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

127THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW126126

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

This case study explores the engagement strategies 

adopted by the City of London Corporatiopn’s Education 

Welfare Manager, in supporting a secondary school 

student with significant health challenges. The student 

has been experiencing recurrent health issues, leading 

to chronic fatigue and significant absences from 

school. The Education Welfare Manager conducted a 

home visit to understand the young person’s health 

challenges and gather detailed information from his 

family. A follow-up letter was sent to parent outlining 

what was discussed during the home visit and noted 

actions agreed during the visit. Consent forms were 

also agreed for the education welfare manager to make 

contact with health professionals to ensure transparent 

sharing of information and implementation of prompt 

and appropriate support. Regular communication was 

then maintained with the family. This included offering 

tuition during the summer holidays and exploring 

flexible schooling arrangements to accommodate the 

young person’s health needs. To ensure the effective 

implementation of support, the education welfare 

manager worked closely with the young person’s school, 

to ensure they were aware of his health challenges 

and could provide appropriate support, including the 

creation of an Individual Education Plan (IEP). Community 

resources were explored to ensure comprehensive 

support for the young person. The education welfare 

manager actively collaborated with health professionals 

to ensure a comprehensive understanding of the young 

person’s medical condition and to coordinate support. 

Regular communication took place with the Head of Year 

and Safeguarding Lead on several occasions and has 

extended to the broader community, including liaising 

with external tutoring providers to arrange educational 

support for the young person. The education welfare 

manager has also explored support options from 

community organisations, such as Young Carers, to 

provide additional resources for the young person and his 

family. There is now a more comprehensive plan in place 

to support this young person as we move into the new 

academic year.

P
age 201



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 128

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

Clinical Service 2024 Focus Groups: In 2024, the Hackney CFS Clinical Service engaged 

with children and families who had previously received support from the Surge team. 

The Surge team has since discontinued but previously offered support for young 

people presenting in mental health crises and those at risk of Tier 4 (specialised day 

and inpatient units) admission. Focus groups and telephone discussions were held to 

understand their experiences of seeking support for their child’s mental health and what 

improvements could be made. The feedback has contributed to the ongoing informing 

and improving children and families services.

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

Children’s Rights Service SHOUT survey: In November 2024, Hackney CFS asked 

children and young people who are currently looked after or are care experienced, to tell 

us about their recent experience of receiving support from their Children’s Rights Officers 

(CROs). An online, child-focused survey was used and 16 responses were received. The 

responses highlighted positive experiences with Children’s Rights Officers (CROs), who 

are seen as supportive, accessible, and effective in helping young people understand 

their rights and have their voices heard. Responders appreciated the CRO’s ability to 

listen, provide guidance, and ensure they felt supported during important processes. 

There were suggestions for improvement, such as quicker responses and better 

communication. The feedback emphasised the importance of CRO’s building trusting 

relationships, creating a safe environment, and avoiding judgment.

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

Special Guardian Support Group Questionnaire: 

Between January 2025 and February 2025 a 

questionnaire was sent to Hackney’s Special 

Guardians mailing list to understand the 

challenges Special Guardian’s face in their 

roles, areas of advice and support they may 

most benefit from and the structure and 

content of the regular Special Guardian 

Support Groups. 31 responses to the 

questionnaire were received, which is 23% of 

the total mailing list. Those who responded 

identified some of the main challenges they 

currently face include dealing with educational 

challenges for their child, finances, supporting 

the emotional wellbeing and mental health 

of their child and managing their child’s 

behaviour. Responders also suggested 

improvements to the support, information and 

guidance they are offered. The survey results 

will be used to inform the support provided for 

special guardians going forward.

P
age 202



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

129THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW128

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

Compliment about Hackney CFS from a parent or carer: “I wanted to 

express how deeply appreciative I am of [Social Worker]’s support. [Social 

Worker]’s ability to understand and motivate [child] has made a lasting 

difference in their life” 

Compliment about Hackney CFS from a parent / carer: “Thank you so 

much for your work with [Child], it has made a huge difference, and you 

have helped them through a very difficult time and they have come out 

confident and happy the other side”

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

The WAMHS conference provided a platform for educators and mental 

health workers to hear from young people directly, with a standout 

performance from Haggerston School drama students and a poignant 

speech from a young person on the autism spectrum. This highlighted 

the importance of compassion-focused approaches in schooling. 

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

Hackney Education actively consulted with fathers and male 

carers to inform the development of Children and Family Hubs. 

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

Working with local schools and their communities, the Met 

Police further developed the concept of Safer Corridors.  This 

involved the Safer Neighbourhood Teams and schools working 

together to prevent children becoming victims of crime on their 

way home from school. The overall aim has been to provide 

‘safe routes’ using crime data and feedback from children 

around where they feel less safe. Patrols are on foot and on 

pedal bikes whilst engaging with schoolchildren. Collaboration 

with one secondary school (Haggerston) resulted in a change in 

how detentions were issued (from after school to lunch time) to 

make it less likely children would become victims of crime on 

their way home.

P
age 203



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 130

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

In 2024, Hackney Council and City and Hackney Safeguarding 

Children Partnership held a series of meetings with AFRUCA 

Safeguarding Children to discuss the over-representation of 

African and Caribbean families in the child protection system 

as a result of physical chastisement. The local authority was 

aware that parenting of children in most of these families is 

good and the incidents of physical chastisement relate more to 

parenting understanding of what is acceptable or not in terms 

of chastisement, as opposed to there being any underlying 

abusive intent. Hackney and AFRUCA agreed to collaborate 

to deliver a series of three safeguarding training events for 

faith leaders and workers in Black faith organisations so they 

can better understand the law and expectations surrounding 

physical chastisement and how to talk to parents about keeping 

their children safe.  65 participants from 30 churches attended 

three events facilitated by AFRUCA. The participants contained 

a mix of Pastors and leaders in the church. These were the 

right people who could go back and make a difference to 

safeguarding decisions in their organisations.

130LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

P
age 204



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

131THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW130130

Front-Line Intelligence

The CHSCP did not issue a staff survey in 2024/25 as planned, 

primarily because of capacity issues within the CHSCP team.  

The ongoing focus on the CHSCP’s priority on the Health and 

Wellbeing of the workforce facilitated ongoing insight into 

the views of front-line practitioners, as did the engagement of 

some within the CHSCP’s reviewing and auditing processes.

131THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

Performance Data

Whilst the CHSCP maintained two area-based datasets 

which captured a range of safeguarding metrics across 

the local partnership, with the loss of personnel, the 

increased use of AI and a focus on avoiding duplication, 

new arrangements are being introduced to collate and 

interpret multi-agency safeguarding data for 2025/26.  

These new arrangements will enhance the focus on any 

key data shifts, and importantly, what the data might be 

telling us about performance and the quality of practice.

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT

P
age 205



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 132

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

External Learning

The CHSCP is a learning organisation and is 

constantly looking outwards to identify relevant 

learning opportunities that may help assist in its role 

of coordinating and ensuring the effectiveness of 

the safeguarding systems across the City of London 

and Hackney.  Where relevant, national reviews and 

inspection reports are considered by the CHSCP.   

Links to NSPCC thematic briefings and wider learning 

from other local areas continued to be disseminated to 

front-line staff via CHSCP training and TUSK briefings.

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

P
age 206

https://chscp.org.uk/chscb-briefings/


THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

133THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW132

Focus on CSA and CSE 

In March 2025, the Home Secretary wrote to Local Authority Chief 

Executives, outlining the Government’s commitment to doing all it 

can to tackle the horrific crimes of child sexual abuse (CSA) and child 

sexual exploitation (CSE).  As part of this letter, the Home Secretary 

expressed an interest in receiving an update on how local areas were 

prioritising their response child sexual abuse and exploitation, and 

the specific actions being taken to tackle this issue.  The following 

sets out the basis of this response from the CHSCP Executive 

covering both the City of London and Hackney:

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

The CHSCP has undertaken a wide range of actions and 

activities in both Hackney and the City of London to combat 

Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) and Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE). 

Our efforts are consistently guided by our “Safeguarding First” 

approach and our commitment to ensuring children are seen, 

heard, and helped. Our approach has been multifaceted, 

encompassing prevention, early intervention, disruption of 

offending, and victim support, as detailed in our annual reports 

for 2020/21, 2021/22, 2022/23, and 2023/24.

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 133

P
age 207



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 134

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

Auditing and Quality Assurance: The CHSCP implements multi-

agency case auditing programmes focusing on specific areas 

such as intra-familial CSA. these audits lead to outcome-focused 

action plans and inform briefings for frontline professionals.

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

Staff Training and Development: The CHSCP provides 

a comprehensive training programme covering various 

safeguarding topics, including child sexual abuse, exploitation, 

and online safety. Training content incorporates learning from 

local and national case reviews. For instance, specialist training 

has been commissioned to increase understanding of child sex 

offenders, all City social workers are now ABE trained and there is 

ongoing focus on broadening the cohort of trained social workers 

in Hackney.  The CHSCP routinely seeks assurance and evidence 

from healthcare providers and other agencies that CSE/CSA is 

included in mandatory training.

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

Learning from Reviews: The CHSCP appropriately conducts Local 

Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews (LCSPRs) to learn lessons 

from serious child safeguarding cases and improve multi-agency 

working. In terms of CSA, the recent CSPR on Case A examined 

how local agencies managed and mitigated risks posed by a 

known child sex offender, identifying a lack of robust professional 

curiosity and insufficient focus on the child’s paramountcy. 

Recommendations from this review aim to improve referrals to 

children’s social care, strengthen guidance on risk management 

of offenders, and enhance information sharing with key agencies. 

One recommendation arising from this review links to Multi-

Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) and we have 

been engaged with the Child Safeguarding Practice Review 

Panel on how best to progress improvements at a national level. 

Another relevant LCSPR (Child W) has recently been finalised. 

A defined CSA task group has been set up to collate and drive 

the recommendations arising from this review, Case A, and the 

national panel’s review on CSA.

P
age 208



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

135THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW134

EVIDENCE, IMPROVEMENT AND IMPACT 

The City of London - Identification and Response:

The City of London experiences a low number of cases, with most contacts related to 

non-residents. Relevant crimes recorded by City Police included rape, sexual activity, and 

possession of indecent images, as well as grooming via the internet/social media. The 

City Multi-Agency Sexual Exploitation (MASE) panel was changed to the Multi-Agency 

Child Exploitation (MACE) panel to encompass all forms of child exploitation and abuse 

that adolescents are at increased risk of. 

The City of London’s location as a major transport hub is significant for intelligence 

sharing among partner agencies. The City maintains an “it could happen here” stance 

despite relatively lower risks compared to neighbouring Local Authorities.

The City Police lead on all children missing from home or care, with a coordinated 

response involving the City Children and Families team. Numbers of missing children 

in the City of London are very low. Coram Voice conducts independent return home 

interviews within 72 hours, with therapeutic support offered based on outcomes to 

address risk-taking behaviour. These interviews are reviewed by the partnership to inform 

strategy and service delivery. Workers use a range of tools, which they regularly update 

when children’s circumstances change, including risk of exploitation and going missing.

The City of London’s MACE panel uses quarterly 

data and intelligence to understand and identify 

risk indicators related to all forms of child 

exploitation. The City of London Police has 

restructured its public protection department 

to have specialist officers available out of office 

hours and seven days a week.

“Operation Makesafe” is ongoing and involves 

plainclothes police officers attempting to book 

hotel rooms with a child not related to them, 

providing feedback and advice to hotels on 

identifying and disrupting CSAE. 

“Operation Reframe” targets the night-time 

economy to create safer environments for 

vulnerable people, including test purchases 

at licensed premises to identify and address 

alcohol sales to children.

P
age 209



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 136

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE, IMPROVEMENT AND IMPACT 

Hackney - Identification and Response:

In Hackney, children at high risk of extra-familial harm benefit from effective 

interventions. Professionals work across service areas and through multi-agency 

panels to robustly explore risks and vulnerabilities for children. Actions are identified 

to help reduce risk, harm and offending, and to increase children’s safety. Children 

are seen within the context of their own needs as well as within their family, 

community, and peers. Progress is evident for some children; risks have reduced 

through successful interventions and the trusting relationships built with key 

practitioners. If risks increase, children’s cases are appropriately escalated through 

child protection processes to coordinate the multi-agency response.

Analytical research has highlighted three broad CSE profiles: peer-on-peer abuse 

(sexual offences/exploitation in a group setting), adult perpetrator exploitation 

(young person believing they are in a relationship with an adult through vulnerable 

friends or online contact), and exploitation via social media (inciting explicit image 

sharing).

In Hackney, contacts identifying Child Sexual Exploitation as a potential concern 

were received for 37 children during 2023/24. There were 1,301 missing episodes 

reported over the same time period, involving 265 children. The most prominent 

reason for children going missing was “difficulties at home or school,” with 

overcrowding also noted. Mental health, emotional wellbeing, and learning needs 

were also precipitating factors. Contacts for 167 children identified Criminal 

Exploitation (CE) as a potential concern, and 145 children had statutory social work 

assessments where CE was a factor. 

Most CE referrals related to male children from Black 

and Global Majority backgrounds. Contacts for 185 

children identified Serious Youth Violence and Weapons 

as a potential concern. 

The Youth Justice Service reported a 19% decrease in 

first-time entrants to the youth justice system in 2022/23, 

with 91% of triaged young people successfully diverted. 

An Extra-Familial Risk Panel continues to oversee and 

plan for cases where young people are at risk of harmful 

behaviours outside the home, with strong multi-agency 

attendance from Police, Education, Health, Youth 

Offending Team, Young Hackney, and the Community 

Gangs Team.

The Metropolitan Police Service’s handling of sexual 

and criminal exploitation of children has improved. 

The force’s children’s strategy now sets out the 

commissioner’s ambition to adopt a ‘child first’ approach. 

This aims to make sure officers and staff recognise that 

children are different from adults and should be treated 

differently because they have different needs and 

vulnerabilities. 

Continued overleaf

P
age 210



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

137THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW136

Through a renewed focus on child exploitation, its links 

to missing children and the language the force’s officers 

and staff use, the force has made positive progress. 

The changes the force has implemented are also now 

providing better outcomes for children in London. 

The Metropolitan Police Service’s Safer Schools 

and Youth Engagement Teams regularly deliver 

presentations on various safeguarding issues, including 

youth-produced sexual imagery (YPSI), exploitation, 

and gangs.

In terms of managing offenders, Probation and Jigsaw 

staff in Hackney are co-located which has been 

reported to assist in better collaboration locally. There 

is now greater emphasis on joint working, home visits, 

risk assessment, and information sharing.

Children’s social care in Hackney has taken significant 

steps to strengthen its practice in response to child 

sexual abuse. Alongside identifying dedicated practice 

leads to develop expertise and be available for 

consultation, practitioners have access to much clearer 

guidance and there are defined processes in place 

such as the following:

•	 To ensure leadership focus, service managers are informed about any disclosures 

of child sexual abuse.

•	 Multi-agency strategy meetings under Section 47 of the Children Act 1989 are 

convened to discuss risk, develop safety plans, and determine the approach to 

investigation. There is an expectation that a safety plan is coproduced with the 

protective care giver, recorded on the case management system, and shared with 

the family and professionals.

•	 Importantly, there is defined guidance covering how to issue instructions for 

specialist risk assessments. This includes the following narrative about how Jigsaw 

risk assessments should be considered: ‘Risk judgement offered by the Jigsaw 

team engaged with convicted sexual offenders - This judgement of risk is given 

based on a number of factors present or absent at a specific point in time. This 

risk judgement should always be reviewed in light of changing context (e.g., living 

circumstances for the alleged perpetrator), which could cause the assessed risk 

level to either increase or decrease. We should not base our decisions about child 

safety on this risk judgement alone.’

•	 Revised guidance is also much more explicit about the need for direct work with 

children and how to engage them and protective carers. Within this guidance, 

there are clear examples about the practical work that can be undertaken.

•	 Defined pathways are in place at Homerton Hospital covering the management 

of suspected CSA. Routine awareness raising continues and best practice is 

promoted via the Centre of Expertise on CSA.

.

EVIDENCE, IMPROVEMENT AND IMPACT continued

P
age 211



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 138

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE AND IMPACT 

Support for Victims and Vulnerable Children:

The expansion of the right to review for all child sexual abuse and exploitation cases, regardless 

of when they took place, is being promoted to ensure victims can refer cases to the independent 

Child Sexual Abuse Review Panel.

Redthread, a charity embedded in Homerton Hospital’s Emergency Department, supports young 

people affected by or at risk of violence and exploitation, providing wrap-around support and 

diverting them from offending.

The Sunrise (previously NEL CSA Hub) at Royal London provides a child sexual abuse hub, 

collaborating with Barnardo’s to address both medical and emotional wellbeing needs.  This 

setting was visited by the Children’s Commissioner in April 2025.  For added context, the hub is 

facing increasing demands as the number of referrals are increasing plus children are presenting 

with increasing complexity and vulnerability. The impact is most acute in the emotional wellbeing 

and support service with pressures arising in terms of volume and waiting lists. Mitigations have 

been implemented, but the waiting list is now 12 months. 

LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 138

P
age 212



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

139THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW138138

Training & 
Development

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 139

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

P
age 213



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 140

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

Summary

The training opportunities offered by the CHSCP are designed to meet the diverse needs 

of staff at different levels within the wide range of organisations that work with children, 

young people, or adult family members. Sessions range from those that raise awareness 

about safeguarding and child protection to specialist topics aimed at more experienced 

staff.  The training programme focuses on areas of practice prioritised by the CHSCP, with 

learning from local and national case reviews integrated into the training material.  

EVIDENCE 

•	 77 training sessions were held in 2024/25  

(An increase from 60 in 2023/24, 56 in 2022/23 and 47 in 2021/22).

•	 43 safeguarding topics were covered. 

•	 17 new courses were introduced to the programme

•	 Most courses continued to be delivered virtually, with two face-to-face sessions held. 

EVIDENCE 

•	 Of the 1945 booked places (1834 in 2023/24), 1042 practitioners attended (and increase 

of 4% from 2023/24).  422 cancelled their training booking (a decrease of 9.1% from 

2023/24).  481 did not attend the course (an increase of 30% from 2023/24). 

•	 67% of attended bookings were by practitioners working in Hackney, 16% in the City of 

London, and 17% by those working across both areas.

Attendance Status 
2023/24 vs 2024/25

1000
1042

370

481 464
422

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

Cancelle
d

Did not atte
nd

Atte
nded

23/24 Attendance 

24/25 Attendance 

P
age 214



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

141THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW140

Voluntary and Com... 
26.0%

Police 
1.2%

Other 
4.9%

Local Authority 
30.4%

Housing 
1.4%

Health 
12.6%

Education 
23.3%

Business 
0.2%

Attendance by Sector

Voluntary and Com... 
26.5%

Police 
0.9%

Other 
5.5%

Local Authority 
21.1%

Housing 
1.4%

Health 
17.5%

Education 
25.4%

Business 
1.7%

Cancellations by Sector

P
age 215



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 142

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

EVIDENCE 

In August 2025, the ISCC wrote to all partner agencies about 

the increase ‘non-attendance’ numbers.  

In the current financial climate, we are all facing significant 

budgetary pressures. The costs associated with these no-

shows are no longer sustainable. We rely on the goodwill of 

our knowledgeable colleagues to lead these sessions, and our 

budget, which supplements external training, is being wasted.  

Ultimately, this trend negatively impacts our ability to offer 

places to delegates on waiting lists, directly hindering our 

collective mission to provide high-quality training and support 

across the partnership.

We ask for your support in reinforcing the importance of this 

issue with your staff. Please remind them of their responsibility 

to prioritise and attend all pre-booked training. If a delegate 

cannot attend, they must follow the established cancellation 

process to free up the place for someone else.

If this trend of non-attendance continues, we will have no 

choice but to implement financial penalties to offset the wasted 

resources.  We value your partnership and your commitment to 

ensuring our staff have the skills and knowledge they need to 

succeed. Your cooperation in addressing this matter is greatly 

appreciated.

Voluntary and Com... 
22.0%

Police 
1.2%

Other 
7.3%

Local Authority 
36.2%

Housing 
2.7%

Health 
10.6%

Education 
19.8%

Business 
0.2%

Non-Attendance by Sector

P
age 216



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

143THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW142

EVIDENCE 

An Introduction to Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) in the Context of Exploitation 8

An Introduction to Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) 2

An Introduction to Intra-Familial Child Sexual Abuse 6

Child Criminal Exploitation and County Lines 34

Child Protection and Safeguarding Training for Faith Leaders 65

Child Sexual Abuse Education 11

Children's Wellbeing & Mental Health 28

Cultural Awareness - Gypsy Roma Traveller Cultural Competency Training 21

Cultural Awareness - Working with the Orthodox Jewish Community 49

Designated Safeguarding Lead’ courses (Level 3) 180

Early Help Pathway, Request for Support Form and Assessment 12

Hear my Voice: Obtaining the Views and Opinions of Children with Communication Difficulties 33

How to Engage and Work with Fathers and other Male Caregivers 17

iCAN Dads: Working with Primary Male Caregivers 1

Identifying and Exploring Child & Adolescent to Parent Violence & Abuse 18

Impact of Neglect and Emotional Abuse on the Development of Children and Young People 30

Improving Professional Participation in Child Protection Conferences 11

LADO: Allegations Against Staff and Volunteers 7

LADO: Allegations against Staff and Volunteers Training for Faith Group Leaders 1

LADO: Completing Employment-Based Risk Assessments 10

LADO: Completing Internal Employment Based Investigations 14

Making Sense of Autism 26

Modern Day Slavery/Trafficking 7

Course Title
Delegates 
Trained 24-25

Continued overleaf.

P
age 217



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 144

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2022/23 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT

EVIDENCE CONTINUED

Non-Recent Child Sexual Abuse 14

Oral Health Care 5

Parental Mental Illness: Impact on Parents, Parenting Capacity and Children’s Development 22

Parenting Together: Improving the Relationship and Communication of Co-Parents 6

Prevent Duty Awareness 53

Private Fostering Workshop 4

Protecting Children and Vulnerable Adults from Abuse Linked to Faith or Belief 8

Recognising the Difference between Domestic Abuse and Parental Conflict 13

Relationship Solutions - The Relationship Toolkit for Working with Parental Conflict 15

Safe Space: Structuring and Conducting Sessions with Families to Create Positive Interactions whilst Tackling CAPVA 7

Safeguarding Children Basic Awareness courses (Level 1) 113

Safeguarding Children with Disabilities 10

Safeguarding in a Digital World 28

Safer Recruitment 9

Safer Sleep 24

The Child Death Overview Process

Understanding Adultification Bias 47

Understanding Adults Who Sexually Abuse Children (Foundation Level) 7

Understanding Adults Who Sexually Abuse Children (Intermediate Level) 25

Understanding Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs), Trauma, and Trauma Informed Practice 37

Working with Cultural & Economic Diversity 4

TOTAL 1042

Course Title
Delegates 
Trained 24-25

P
age 218



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

145THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW144

EVIDENCE 

To curb inconsistencies between courses, particularly relating to the admittance of, 

and recognition of attendance status for late attendees, the CHSCP Training, Learning, 

and Development Subgroup approved two versions of Course Attendance Standards 

for Delegates covering virtual and face-to-face training.  The standards provide a 

comprehensive list of instructions covering before, during, and after the course. The 

content covers pre-evaluation completion, when and how delegates will receive 

joining instructions, how to cancel course registration, downloading course materials, 

the strict registration cut-off point, expectations related to visual and audio use during 

the course, and the evaluation schedule post course.

EVIDENCE 

The PHEW learning management system continues to be a great addition to the 

training element of the CHSCP.  It has helped to reduce admin time in terms of not 

having to download registration data and evaluation data from multiple sources and 

the training coordinator not having to produce individual certificates for delegates. In 

addition, the system sends calendar invites for each course, booking confirmations 

and reminder emails to delegates. Delegates are now able to download pre-course 

materials up to one week prior to their training session, and post course materials 

following their attendance being recorded online. Delegates are also able to print 

their own certificates after completion of the evaluation form for the relevant course.  

During 2024/25, the CHSCP’s Training Coordinator utilised the information on PHEW 

to create 41 separate evaluation reports.

145LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

P
age 219



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 146

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

Evaluation

Supported by its Training Evaluation and Analysis Framework, the CHSCP 

continues to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of its core training 

programme. The evaluation schedule involves post-course feedback and 

follow-up engagement with delegates and their line managers, seeking 

evidence of how training has influenced practice.  This has enabled the 

CHSCP to gain important insight into the difference its training programme 

is making towards improving outcomes for children and young people. 

EVIDENCE 

97.6% of delegates stated that the trainers’ facilitation skills, teaching 

style and knowledge were GOOD (10.2%) VERY GOOD (37.5%) or 

EXCELLENT (49.9%). This feedback is a testament to the skill and 

expertise of our internal & commissioned trainers. 

IMPACT

97.7% stated what they had learned would help them safeguard 

children & young people more effectively. 

95.6% said the course met their expectations.

 
IMPACT

It’s a lot to pack into one day and is full on and 

exhausting.  It’s quite hard to take in all the data. 

However, there was no part of the day I found not useful. 

An Introduction to Intra-Familial Child Sexual Abuse - 

Post Course Evaluation. 

 

Being able to discuss the case study with other people 

and hearing others’ ideas really helped me to consider 

things that I may not have thought about before.  

LADO: Completing Internal Employment-Based 

Investigations, Post Course Evaluation. 

 

It was quite rushed at the end when arguably covering 

the most important part. 

Cultural Awareness: Working with the Orthodox 

Jewish Community - Post Course Evaluation. 

Continued overleaf

P
age 220



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

147THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW146

IMPACT Continued 

Training was hugely informative. There was plenty of time 

for discussion with others, enabling a multidisciplinary 

approach to analysing this bias. 

Marcia was very open to questions and perspectives being 

shared which fostered a positive environment to learn in. 

Understanding Adultification Bias, Post Course 

Evaluation. 

 

[It was most useful] learning about real life situations 

including reviews and what can be learnt from them to 

improve the chance of a better outcome. 

Safeguarding Children: Basic Awareness - Post Course 

Evaluation. 

 

I have used some of the communication skills discussed in 

the training which has allowed me to capture the voice of 

non-verbal young children more effectively.  

Designated Safeguarding Leads, Level 2 Evaluation.

 

I have explained to colleagues in a clinical supervision 

situation that what they were describing when discussing 

a family situation was not domestic abuse, but a conflict 

situation that they could help the parents to resolve.  

Recognising the Difference between Domestic Abuse and 

Parental Conflict, Level 2 Evaluation.

The knowledge I received during the training has enabled me to become 

culturally sensitive and this has had a positive impact on my health assessment 

of children and young people. 

Gypsy Roma Traveller Cultural Competency Training - Basic Awareness, Level 

2 Evaluation. 

 

[The employee] has not been directly involved in safeguarding issues and has 

not come across a situation where she has had to raise a safeguard in the last 

6 months.  However, we have discussed the training in supervision and the big 

takeaway from the training was that supporting the individual’s communication 

needs is not classified as ‘leading questions’. 

Hear my Voice: Obtaining the Views and Opinions of Children with 

Communication Difficulties, Level 2 Evaluation. 

 

[The staff member is] more confident to deal with issues as they arise and able 

and willing to engage in discussions at a management level.  

Designated Safeguarding Leads, Line Manager Feedback. 

 

[The member of staff now] understands drug related issues that affect young 

people.  

Child Criminal Exploitation and County Lines, Line Manager Feedback. 

 

No differences noted in practice. Staff members noted that they did not think the 

content of the training was useful and that the delivery was a little disorganised.  

Working with Economic and Cultural Diversity to Safeguard Children, Line 

Manager Feedback.

 

P
age 221



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 148

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

Priorities & 
Pledge

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 148

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

PR

IORITY 1

P
age 222



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

149THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW148148

CHSCP Priorities 2024/25
PR

IORITY 1

The Health &
Stability of the 
Safeguarding 

Workforce

Outcome
Safeguarding partners, relevant 
agencies and named organisations 
attract, retain, develop, and support 
their workforce.  A healthy and stable 
workforce contributes to high quality 
safeguarding practice that improves 
outcomes for children and young 
people.

PR

IORITY 2

Active  
Anti-Racist 

Practice

Outcome
The partnership’s approach to 
safeguarding children is characterised 
by active anti-racism and aligns with 
the CHSCP’s Anti-Racist Charter.  
Practice that disproportionately 
and negatively impacts on Black 
and Global Majority children 
(and their outcomes) is identified 
and reduced.  Children and their 
families are confident in challenging 
their experiences of racism, have 
mechanisms in place to escalate their 
concerns and tell us that they can see 
change.  Practitioners are confident in 
challenging racism, and this happens.  

PR

IORITY 3
The Voice of 

Children 

Outcome 
Multi-agency safeguarding practice 
reflects the lived experience of 
children.  The voices of children are 
central to all aspects of the child’s 
journey and are used to influence 
service design, develop practice and 
improve outcomes.

P
age 223



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 150

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

PR
IORITY 4 PR

IORITY 6
Maintaining and 
Building on the 
Foundations of 
Good Practice 

Outcome 
Multi-agency safeguarding practice 
demonstrates a strong foundation, 
continuous improvement and 
alignment with the national standards 
for child protection.  Children and 
families are effectively supported by 
early, robust, timely and coordinated 
multi-agency help and protection.

PR

IORITY 5

Strategic 
Vulnerabilities 
& Pathways to 

Harm

Outcome
The CHSCP identifies and develops 
action in response to identified 
strategic vulnerabilities and the 
pathways to harm facing children.  
For 2025/26, local priorities centre 
on Child Sexual Abuse, Safeguarding 
Adolescents, Neglect and 
Unregistered Educational Settings.	

The Appetite to 
Learn

Outcome
Children and young people 
are effectively safeguarded by 
professionals being actively 
engaged with the CHSCP’s learning 
& improvement framework.  Leaders 
encourage independent scrutiny, 
challenge performance, and embed 
lessons for practice improvement 
across their respective organisations.  	

NEW

NEW

P
age 224



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

151THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW150

Our Pledge

THE HEALTH & STABILITY OF THE SAFEGUARDING WORKFORCE
Without a healthy and engaged workforce, no agency can fully participate in and support the work of the partnership.  

The CHSCP will therefore seek to develop a better understanding of the pressures that staff and volunteers face and 

the steps that can be taken to mitigate them.  This work will be undertaken in the context of what we know about the 

current conditions – organisational change, reduced resourcing levels and increased demand.  It will include evaluation of 

workforce stability, its capacity, and the support available to help deliver high-quality practice. 

ACTIVE ANTI-RACIST PRACTICE
Through our collective leadership, we will model our values and promote a way of working that puts active anti-racism front 

and centre.  This will be seen in the strategies we develop, the decisions we take and the people we employ.  Critically, 

active anti-racist practice will be evidenced in the behaviours of our staff and volunteers.  Through a relentless focus on 

improvement and challenge, Black and Global Majority children and families will see, hear and feel the difference when 

engaged by those responsible for their help and protection.  

THE VOICE OF CHILDREN
We will support and enable a culture of working that routinely seeks out and reflects the voices of children.  The lived 

experience of local children and their voices will be evident in the policies we create, the practice we review and the 

communication channels that our wider partnership creates.  Importantly, it will be evident in our casework and our 

intervention to improve outcomes for children and their families.

P
age 225



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 152

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

MAINTAINING AND BUILDING ON THE FOUNDATIONS OF GOOD PRACTICE
The CHSCP recognises that good practice is built upon solid foundations, and we are committed to maintaining and 

continuously building upon these. We will maintain focus on ensuring these fundamental aspects are embedded in our 

work, covering the journey of the child through the safeguarding system. This includes our approaches to family help, child 

protection, looked after children, and care leavers.

STRATEGIC VULNERABILITIES & PATHWAYS TO HARM
We will proactively respond to local strategic vulnerabilities and identified pathways to harm through robust and focused 

multi-agency arrangements.  We will commit to developing our understanding of these issues and work together to 

implement solutions that directly support practice, improve outcomes and help tackle the root causes of harm to children.

THE APPPETITE TO LEARN
We are committed to maintaining our improvement journey and to that end, we will actively seek out and embrace 

opportunities to learn.  Our quality assurance activity remains structured on our learning and improvement framework.  We 

will routinely revisit the action plans to ensure that identified improvements are reflected in contemporary practice.  Critically, 

we will respect the independent scrutiny role of the Independent Safeguarding Children Commissioner, the right to ‘roam’, 

the right to ask difficult questions and the right respectfully challenge.  Whenever required, safeguarding partners, relevant 

agencies and named organisations will provide whatever information they can to address a relevant enquiry or concern. 

NEW

NEWP
age 226



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

153THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW152

What You Need 
to Know

153153

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

city & hackney
safeguarding
children 
partnership

THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

P
age 227



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 154

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

154THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2022/23 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

•	 Nothing is more important than making sure you are safe 

and well cared for.

•	 As adults, sometimes we think we always know best. We 

don’t, and that’s why your voice is so important.

•	 This is about you, and we want to know more about 

how you think children and young people can be better 

protected.

•	 We want to talk to you more often and we want you to 

help us find the best way to do this.

•	 If you are worried about your own safety or that of a 

friend, speak to a professional you trust or speak to 

Childline on 0800 1111.

Children and  
Young People

P
age 228



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

155THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW154154

•	 Public agencies are there to support you and prevent any 
problems you are having from getting worse. Don’t be afraid to 
ask for help.

•	 It’s important to tell us what works for you and what doesn’t so 
that professionals can help you in the best way possible.

•	 Make sure you know about the best way to protect your child 
and take time to understand some of the risks they can face.

•	 You’ll never get ahead of your child when it comes to 
understanding social media and IT – but make yourself aware 
of the risks that children and young people can face.

Parents and Carers

•	 You are in the best place to look out for children and young people 
and to raise the alarm if something is going wrong for them.

•	 We all share responsibility for protecting children. Don’t turn a blind 
eye. If you see something, say something.

•	 If you live in Hackney, call the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH) on 0208 356 5500.

•	 If you live in the City, call the Children & Families Team  
on 0207332 3621.

•	 You can also call the NSPCC Child Protection helpline  
on 0808 800 5000.

The Community

P
age 229



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 156

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

•	 Make sure children and young people are seen, heard and 
helped. SAFEGUARDING FIRST, CONTEXT, CURIOSITY & 
CHALLENGE

•	 Your professional judgement is what ultimately makes 
a difference, and you must invest in developing the 
knowledge, skills and experiences needed to effectively 
safeguard children and young people. Attend all training 
required for your role.

•	 Be familiar with, and use, when necessary, the Hackney 
Child Wellbeing Framework and/or The City of London 
Thresholds of Need tool to ensure an appropriate 
response to safeguarding children and young people.

•	 Understand the importance of talking with colleagues 

and don’t be afraid to share information. If in doubt, speak 
to your manager. 

•	 Escalate your concerns if you do not believe a child or 
young person is being safeguarded. This is non-negotiable.

•	 Use your representative on the CHSCP to make sure that 
your voice and that of the children and young people you 
work with are heard.

•	 If your work is mainly with adults, make sure you consider 
the needs of any children if those adults are parents.

Practitioners

P
age 230



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

157THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW156

•	 You are leaders in your local area. Do not underestimate 
the importance of your role in advocating for the most 
vulnerable children and making sure everyone takes their 
safeguarding responsibilities seriously.

•	 Deputy Mayor Anntoinette Bramble (Hackney) and Ruby 
Sayed (The City of London) are the lead members for 
Children’s Services and have a key role in children’s 
safeguarding – so does every other councillor.

•	 You can be the eyes and ears of vulnerable children and 
families... Keep the protection of children at the front of 
your mind. 

Local Politicians

•	 You set the tone for the culture of your organisation. When you 
talk, people listen. Talk about children and young people. Talk 
about SAFEGUARDING FIRST.

•	 Your leadership is vital if children and young people are to be 
safeguarded.

•	 Understand the capability and capacity of your front-line 
services to protect children and young people - make sure both 
are robust.

•	 Ensure your workforce attend relevant CHSCP training courses 
and learning events.

•	 Ensure your agency contributes to the work of CHSCP and give 
this the highest priority. Be compliant with minimum standards 
for safeguarding.

•	 Advise the CHSCP of any organisational restructures and how 
these might affect your capacity to safeguard children and 
young people.

Leaders

P
age 231



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 158

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

•	 Robustly pursue offenders and disrupt their attempts to 
abuse children.

•	 Ensure officers and police staff have the opportunity to train 
with their colleagues in partner agencies.

•	 Ensure that the voices of all child victims are heard, 
particularly in relation to listening to evidence where 
children disclose abuse.

•	 Ensure a strong focus on MAPPA and MARAC arrangements.

The Police

•	 Ensure that your school / academy/ educational establishment 

is compliant with statutory guidance KCSIE. 

•	 You see children more than any other profession and develop 

some of the most meaningful relationships with them.

•	 Keep engaged with the safeguarding process and continue to 

identify children who need early help and protection.

•	 Make sure your DSLs and Deputy DSLs have access to good 

quality supervision, support and training.

Head Teachers and  
Governors of Schools

P
age 232



THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

159THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW158

•	 The ICB has a key role in scrutinising the governance 
and planning across a range of health organisations. 

•	 Discharge your safeguarding duties effectively and 
ensure that services are commissioned for the most 
vulnerable children. 

Integrated 
Commissioning 
Boards

•	 Safeguarding children and young people is a tough job.

•	 Communicating the message that safeguarding is everyone’s 
responsibility is crucial - you can help do this positively.

•	 Hundreds of children and young people are 
effectively safeguarded every year across the  
City and Hackney.

•	 This is news.

The Local Media

P
age 233



THE CHSCP PROGRESS 2024/25 LEARNING & IMPROVEMENT TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT PRIORITIES & PLEDGE WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW 160

THE CITY & HACKNEY SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25

SEEN  |  HEARD  |  HELPED

www.chscp.org.uk

An INEQE Safeguarding Group Ltd CSR Publication 2025

© CHSCP 2025

Website: 	 www.chscp.org.uk

Email:		  chscp@hackney.gov.uk

Phone: 	 0208 356 4183

Twitter: 	 @lscp_chscp

p. 30.09.25 v.1.0.1

P
age 234

https://www.chscp.org.uk/
mailto:chscp%40hackney.gov.uk?subject=
https://twitter.com/lscp_chscp


Document is Restricted

Page 235

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 239

Agenda Item 16



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 243

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 253

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 257

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 261

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 263

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 299

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 301

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 307

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 313

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 317

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 319

Agenda Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 325

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 331

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 333

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 335

Agenda Item 20
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 339

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Public Outstanding Actions
	5 York Way Estate Lift, Lift Lobby and Stairwell Refurbishment and Upgrade Works
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	6 Corporate Parenting Strategy 2025-2028
	Appendix 1- Draft CPS 2025-2028
	Appendix 2 - Young Person Friendly CPS
	Appendix 3 - 24/25 Corporate Parenting Annual Report

	7 Allocated Members to the various Housing Estates
	8 Golden Lane Leisure Centre - Update
	9 City & Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership (CHSCP) Annual Report 2024-2025
	Appendix 1 - CHSCP Annual Report
	About the Annual Report
	The CHSCP
	Summary
	Purpose
	Vision
	Principles
	The CHSCP’s Active Anti-Racist Charter
	Statutory Safegurding Partners
	Lead Safeguarding Partners

	The CHSCP Team
	Other Organisations 
	Schools, Colleges, Educational and 
Early Years Settings 
	Relevant Agencies
	The Independent Safeguarding Children Commissioner
	Partnership Chair
	Delegated Safeguarding Partners
	Independent Scrutiny
	CHSCP Structure 2024-2025
	Safeguarding Assurance Groups
	The CHSCP Executive
	Safeguarding Children Partnership Boards
	Attendance

	Financial Arrangements
	Communication
	Designated and Named Professionals 

	Progress 2024/25
	The CHSCP’s Priorities
	City of London 
Safeguarding Snapshot 2024/25
	Hackney
Safeguarding Snapshot
2023/24
	Safeguarding Partners & Relevant Agencies 
	The City of London Corporation - 
Children’s Social Care and Early Help
	The City of London Corporation - 
Education and Early Years
	The City of London Police
	Hackney Council - Children & Families Services
	Hackney Education
	Young Hackney
	Hackney Youth Justice Service
	Hackney Housing
	The Metropolitan Police Service
	NHS North East London Integrated Care Board
	Homerton Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 
	East London NHS Foundation Trust
	City & Hackney Public Health
	CAFCASS
	Probation

	Safer Workforce
	The City of London
	Hackney

	Learning & Improvement
	Key Messages for Practice
	SAFER - The Golden Rules of Safeguarding 
	Reviews of Practice
	Rapid Reviews
	Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews

	Case A
	Child V
	Child Q

	Auditing
	The Voice of the Child, Family & Community
	Performance Data
	Front-Line Intelligence
	External Learning
	Focus on CSA and CSE


	Training &
Development
	Summary
	Evaluation

	Priorities & Pledge
	CHSCP Priorities 2024/25
	Our Pledge

	What You Need to Know


	15 Non-Public Minutes
	16 Non-Public Outstanding Actions
	17 Golden Lane Investment Programme (Phase 1: Crescent House)
	Appendix 1 - Project Coversheet
	Appendix 2 - Risk Register
	Appendix 3 -  COST PLAN
	Appendix 4 - Expert condition Survey
	Appendix 5

	18 Golden Lane Investment Programme (Phase 2: All Blocks Excluding Crescent House and Great Arthur House)
	Appendix 1- Cover Sheet
	Appendix 2  - Risk Register
	Appendix 3 - High-level programme

	19 Great Arthur House Fire Safety and Investment Works
	Appendix 1 - Great Arthur House - Cover Sheet
	Appendix 2 - Great Arthur House - Risk Register
	Appendix 3 - Great Arthur House Programme - High-Level

	20 George Elliston and Eric Wilkins Houses Refurbishment
	Appendix 1


